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To Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present to
you the annual results of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

Facing strong global demand, rare earth materials have been
designated as key resources for development under China’s
Twelfth Five-Year Plan, and have received strong support from the
Chinese Government. During the year under review, the Chinese
Government has implemented various stringent measures, which
including stiffer penalties for illegal mining, bolstering R&D in rare
earth extraction, processing and applications, increasing tax on
rare earth resources and strengthening environmental protection
inspection. These measures are aimed at a structural adjustment
while achieving the healthy growth of the rare earth industry. In
2011, the price of rare earths experienced an unprecedented surge
in the first half of the year. Since then, prices have gradually receded
during the second half of the year. Turnover of the Group's rare
earth business also recorded satisfactory growth in large measure

due to the increase in the overall prices of rare earth products over

the whole year.
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For the Group’s refractory materials business, the slowing growth
in the property market in China has dampened the demand of
refractory materials by the glass and steel industries. The continuous
appreciation of the Renminbi has also adversely affected the
competitiveness of refractory materials for export. However, the
commencement of operation of the Group’s high purity magnesium
grain production line in the year has expanded the Group's income
stream, offsetting the impact on revenue caused by the reduction in

production of high temperature ceramics starting in mid-2010.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
has disposed of its entire interest in Jianghua Yao Nationality
Autonomous County Xinghua Rare Earth Company Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group, and, in turn, has caused the rare earth
salts business within the rare earth sector to be a discontinued
operation. During the year under review, the Group's turnover from
continuing operations reached approximately HK$2,213,354,000,
a jump of 98% when compared with that of HK$1,116,755,000
in 2010. The turnover from rare earth products increased by more
than 150% to approximately HK$1,765,808,000 compared to that
of HK$693,702,000 in 2010, accounting for about 80% of the
Group's total turnover. The refractory materials business brought
in approximately HK$447,546,000, at a similar level compared to
HK$423,053,000 in 2010 and accounting for about 20% of the
Group's total. The overall gross profit margin substantially increased
from around 23% last year to around 48%, attributable to the
outstanding performance of the rare earth sector. The discontinued
operation, the rare earth salts business, contributed a profit of
HK$15,661,000 for the year, less than the profit of HK$23,668,000
recorded in 2010.

Net profit for the year under review amounted to approximately
HK$555,459,000, nearly a four-fold surge compared to last year's
HK$139,041,000. Earnings per share for this year were about
HK31.30 cents (2010: HK8.48 cents).
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shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register of

members as at the close of business on 14 June 2012.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND RECORD
DATE

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
2012 AGM

The Company’s register of members will be closed from 5 June 2012
to 8 June 2012, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered. To ensure that shareholders are entitled
to attend and vote at the 2012 AGM, shareholders must deliver
their duly stamped instruments of transfer, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, to the Company’s branch share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, no later than

4:30 p.m. on 4 June 2012 for registration of the relevant transfer.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final
dividend

The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of
shareholders at the 2012 AGM. For determining the entitlement
to the proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2011, the record date is fixed on 14 June 2012. Shareholders must
deliver their duly stamped instruments of transfer, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates, to the Company’s branch registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, no later than

4:30 p.m. on 14 June 2012 for registration of the relevant transfer.

BUSINESS REVIEW
\ Rare Earth Business

\ The turnover of the Group’s
continuing operations of rare

& earth business increased by over
150% from HK$693,702,000

last year to HK$1,765,808,000

while gross profit margin also

increased to more than 50%.
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Rare earths are becoming increasingly important in the wide range
of industrial applications, and their role in the global economy has
become more widely appreciated around the world. These trends,
together with Chinese Government’s protective policies, especially
the “National Guideline to Support the Sustainable and Healthy
Development of Rare Earth Industry from the State Council”, have
driven the strong domestic and overseas demand for rare earths
and led to an unprecedented surge in rare earth prices in the first
half of 2011. Prices of some of the rare earth elements have seen
growth in multiples of up to five to seven times during the first half
of 2011. Although the prices of rare earth products have started
to reduce from their peak last July to August due to the reduction
of inventory by traders and deferred procurement by customers,
prices still registered substantial hikes in annualised terms.
Domestically, the average selling prices of most rare earth
products were several times higher than in 2010. The prices
of praseodymium oxide and neodymium oxide tripled while
those of dysprosium oxide, terbium oxide and yttrium-
europium co-precipitates were four-to-five times higher.
Prices of samarium oxide, gadolinium oxide and cerium
oxide soared more than six-fold. Facing stricter export
quota limits, export prices have been significantly higher
than domestic sales prices. The average export prices of
erbium oxide, gadolinium oxide and holmium oxide have been nearly
doubled those of domestic prices during the year under review,
while those of samarium oxide, yttrium oxide and neodymium oxide

were more than three times higher.

During the year under review, various responsible authorities in
China conducted large scale environmental protection inspections
on all the rare earth enterprises in the country. Enterprises
which failed to meet the relevant standards would be forced to
suspend operations. These requirements and their subsequent
enforcement show the determination of the Government to protect
the environment of the nation and all the rare earth enterprises
attached importance to this move. The Group has constantly
promoted environmental protection and has already complied
with environmental protection standards. However, as a leading
enterprise in China's rare earth industry, it has devoted more
resources in upgrading its production facilities and sacrificed part of
the production time to continually conduct self-evaluation exercises

on its environmentally-friendly production. Despite of the decrease
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in production volume during the year under review,
the Group’s achievement in environmental protection
has gained recognition from responsible Government
authorities. Apart from the drop in production volume, the
gradual decline in the average selling price of domestic
rare earth materials in China in the second half of the year
and the intervention of the China’s customs on the export
price of rare earth products have also affected the export
market. In response to the rising price trend, some of the
overseas customers have decided to take a wait-and-see

4

attitude and reduced their inventory. As a result, most of

the rare earth enterprises in the country did not fully utilise their
export quotas in 2011. Nevertheless, the Group has used all of its
allocated export quota through its Hong Kong arm. During the year
under review, the Group sold approximately 2,000 tonnes of rare
earth oxides, down by more than 30% compared to last year.

As for downstream products, Wuxi Xinwei Fluorescent Materials
Company Limited, one of the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
completely suspended production of fluorescent materials in the
second half of 2011. Alternatively, Phase | of the production
facility of OSRAM (China) Fluorescent Materials Co., Ltd., which
was jointly invested by the Group and OSRAM GmbH, commenced
trial production in July 2011, with some output placed on the
market. As some of the equipment requires a longer time for the
production team to complete testing for full operation, the factory
has not commenced mass production and is expected to generate
notable profit contribution for the Group after it ramps up for
full production later in 2012. This facility, deploying some of the
world’s most advanced equipment, will ensure that its operation and

procedures are executed in an environmentally-friendly manner.

For rare earth metals, since rare earth oxides are a key raw material
of rare earth metals yet the price rises of rare earth metals lagged
behind that of rare earth oxides, hence the Group concentrated its
effort to boost the sales of rare earth oxides which enjoys higher
gross profit margins. This shift caused a drop in sales of rare earth
metals of approximately 80% to less than 100 tonnes for the
Group's subsidiary — Heping County Dongye Rare Earth Company
Limited. Nevertheless, as the average selling price of its products
was more than tripled when compared to last year, the turnover
decreased by only about 30%.
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Geographically, as the export prices were far higher than domestic
prices, the proportion of turnover generated by the export market
increased from 18% on average to around 37%, with Europe, Japan
and the US occupying 20%, 9% and 7% respectively, and the PRC

market accounting for the remaining 63%.

As for upstream rare earth salts business, the Chinese Central
Government has stepped up efforts to implement stronger
restrictions on the mining of rare earth resources, leading to the
dominance of state-owned large enterprises in the market. This
policy has adversely affected the Group’s supply of raw materials at
its rare earth salts production lines in Hunan. From January to July
2011, Jianghua Yao Nationality Autonomous County Xinghua Rare
Earth Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, has produced
less than 1,500 tonnes of rare earth salts products. In view of the
Chinese Government'’s tighter controls in the extraction of rare earth
mines, the Group adjusted its development strategy to match the
national policy by disposing of its entire interest in the subsidiary at
a consideration of RMB257,000,000 in August 2011, an increase
of RMB47,000,000 over the acquisition price of RMB210,000,000
in 2008. This move led such business to become discontinued
operation. After factoring in the appreciation of Renminbi in the
past few years, such discontinued operation presented a profit of
HK$15,661,000 in the financial statements of the year, less than
the profit of selling 5,200 tons of rare earth salts products last year.
After disposal, the Group has managed to restructure its business by

focusing more on the development of its middle and downstream

businesses.

Refractory Materials Business

Total turnover of the Group's refractory materials
business rose slightly by around 6% from
HK$423,053,000 in 2010 to HK$447,546,000 and

the gross profit margin was about 21%.

During the year under review, the demand from
the glass and steel industries has slowed down

and therefore the demand for refractory materials
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has lagged behind that of other businesses. In 2011, the average
selling price of the Group's ordinary refractory materials increased
slightly when compared with last year. For example, the price of
alumina-graphite bricks rose by about 10% against last year while
the price of magnesia-alumina spinel bricks and fused magnesium-
chrome bricks grew by less than 20%. Total sales volume decreased
by around 10% to about 40,000 tonnes over last year. The drop of
sales volume has pushed up the average cost of the products and
the gross profit margin of refractory materials for export to Japan
has also declined. As a result, overall gross profit margin of the

ordinary refractory materials has shrunk to about 17%.

As for high temperature ceramics, after several production
lines were shut down in mid-2010, only the workshop for the
Sialon product series remained in operation in the whole year of
2011. During the year under review, the Group sold a total of
approximately 4,500 tonnes of products, a drop of approximately
60% when compared with last year. The average selling price
remained at a level similar to last year’s, fluctuating within a 10%

range and the gross profit margin was about 20%.

Regarding the magnesium grain business, the sales volume of the
Group’s fused magnesium grain slightly increased by about 5%

over last year to 16,000 tonnes, with the average selling
price remaining at a similar level to that of 2010.
The gross profit margin was about 16%. The
Group's high purity magnesium grain project
commenced production in late 2010. It has sold
approximately 43,000 tonnes in the year, with
sales amount exceeding HK$60,000,000 and a

gross profit margin of around 24%.

In June 2011, the Group set up another joint venture, Yixing AGC
Ceramics Co., Ltd., with Asahi Glass Ceramics Co., Ltd. from Japan
to construct a plant to produce shaped and sintered refractory
materials for the cement industry. Introducing advanced Japanese
technologies to China, the major part of the factory, including a
high temperature tunnel kiln, is to be completed soon. A trial run
is scheduled in April 2012. Its annual production target is 34,000
tonnes and the total investment cost is US$29,800,000.
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By market segment, the total turnover of the refractory materials
business was similar to that of the previous year, with 78% for the

domestic market in China and 22% for export.

PROSPECTS

Rare earths are strategically important industrial resources that

can be widely used in high-tech applications such as electronics,

communication, energy saving technologies and super conductivity.

The hydrogen storage materials, also made from rare earth, widely

used in emerging industries such as alternative energy vehicles,
represents a market segment with huge potential for

expansion. According to market data, 62% of the total

., consumption of rare earths are used in new materials

including permanent magnet, illumination, hydrogen

‘- storage and catalysts in 2010, a rise of nearly 34% when

compared with 2009.

The domestic market for rare earths has in fact
gradually slowed down during the first quarter of 2012,
in particularly the selling price of rare earth oxides.
However, after the Chinese Government further imposed regulatory
controls over the rare earth industry and supported the emerging
industries, the supply in upstream operations became tight and
the downstream demand began to increase. It is believed that
the performance in 2012 may be weaker compared with the
strong growth for the year under review, but we remain prudently

optimistic about the future development of the rare earth market.

In late 2011, the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC announced
the 2012 first batch of export quotas totalling 10,546 tonnes
of rare earths. As one of the eleven companies that passed the
environmental protection examination conducted by the Ministry of
Environmental Protection of the PRC, we have secured our share of
export quota and have become an exemplary enterprise within the
industry. The quota was granted as a result of the environmental

protection examination. In addition, the introduction of “Emission

13

Annual Report

2011 4



14

Annual Report
2011 3

DITRREE

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

RIB——FHdH EREFAENNEABLITE
FRFRNERMAAREE  TEEELEE £
MEIITENHREBREE -

S—hmE - BER(PE) BB ARRREE
RS MBHERETREB N E R RMEL - T %
RAIZHERER @ BB S M R R 15
Relbsh BEREBHEFIEXEMEFRAAR T
—ERIRERTESE-IUASAEEFNN
BNERH MAZRRNSEMELERKT
REERIERNTE  REREBRESEFNERE
EHNEPIEESRENE BHRREBEE
MR ARREREE - T BB HATHHOHEE -

RBEERVBEER
AEE-—MGFEENARRY  —HERBEAR
WESHEF - RZZ—F+=ZA=+—-H" ' &
SEBAR® RRITERSIELLL,634,847,000
ST HR B $E 784,900,000t AR 215
FHEFTHERNRTAERANME QA ES
80,000,000t A REW B HEITER - RF R
W REBRRENE EFFAR3,232,649,000/8
T BEBEHEEENL RERNL9% o

RAFER  REEN2EHB AR E B AR
MAMBRAERAB M —FEETIRETETOE
ER FAEEBEEL9.9%NA L DL (h
B) #AMBBRARESZRITNERRE -
RAFERB - BRIEA (RE) XM EERA A F
FAZERMZIRITIRE T $£40,000,0007T A R B

s
Hp e

Standard for Pollutants from Rare Earth Production” has also
highlighted the importance of environmental protection to this
industry. Besides, there is the possibility that a special value-added
tax invoice for the rare earth sector may be launched in 2012. This
is expected to eliminate the SMEs and unqualified enterprises in the
rare earth industry, and to suppress unsupervised production, so

ultimately the supply in the industry would be better regulated.

On the other hand, the fluorescent materials produced by OSRAM
(China) Fluorescent Materials Co., Ltd. are important elements
for the manufacturing of energy-saving lighting, so its business is
expected to rapidly grow under those favourable policies once full
production ramps up. Yixing AGC Ceramics Co., Ltd. should also
turn into a significant new profit contributor after it is completed
and starts production in 2012. The adjusted high temperature
ceramics production line is to focus on the research & development
of the Sialon product series. Samples provided to overseas customers
have received positive feedback, and the high temperature ceramics

line is expected to increase the Group’s export sales.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has continued to maintain prudent capital arrangements,
and has sufficient cash on hand. As at 31 December 2011,
the Group had cash and bank deposits of approximately
HK$1,634,847,000, of which RMB84,900,000 was pledged to
a domestic bank to secure a RMB80,000,000 short-term loan
for its subsidiaries in the PRC. As at the end of 2011, the Group
had a balance of net current assets valued at approximately
HK$3,232,649,000, with the total liabilities to total assets ratio at

around 9%.

During the year, Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refractory Materials Co.,
Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, provided certain
corporate guarantee to a bank in the PRC to facilitate OSRAM
(China) Fluorescent Materials Co., Ltd., a 49.9% owned joint
venture of the Group, to obtain loan financing from the bank. As at
the end of the year, OSRAM (China) Fluorescent Materials Co., Ltd.
had drawn loans of RMB40,000,000 in total from the bank with the

guarantee.
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Except for the deposits pledged as aforesaid, the Group had no
other charge on assets. Except for the guarantee as stated above,
there was no other material contingent liability. The Group did not
hold any financial derivative products. Except for the interest rate
differential in bank deposits with the aforementioned bank loans,
it was not exposed to material risk from interest rate fluctuations.
Regarding foreign exchange, most of the Group's assets, liabilities
and transactions are denominated in Renminbi, and the rest are in
US dollars or Hong Kong dollars. During the year, the Group was not
exposed to material foreign exchange risks caused by appreciation
of the Renminbi. The exchange rate of the US dollar and Hong Kong

dollar was stable.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION
As at 31 December 2011, the Group had a workforce of
approximately 1,100 including new recruits among university
graduates as well as experienced professionals. The Group
provided a comprehensive staff remuneration and welfare system,
including a share option scheme, to motivate staff to contribute
their best efforts. During the year, the Group spent approximately
HK$55,796,000 on staff costs including directors’ emoluments. It
has also provided regular on-the-job training to employees to help
them maintain professional standards. In 2011, the Group has
engaged external professionals to explain the importance of internal

control to the staff at our Yixing headquarters.

APPRECIATION

Our excellent performance this year was a result of the unwavering
support and trust of our shareholders, investors, customers,
suppliers and business partners, as well as the dedicated efforts of
the entire staff. On behalf of the Board and the management, | wish

to express my heartfelt gratitude to all of you.

Jiang Quanlong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 March 2012
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Jiang Quanlong, aged 59, is a founding member and the
chairman of the Group. Mr Jiang is responsible for the formulation
of the Group’s overall business development policies. Mr Jiang is
recognized as a senior economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel
Department. Mr Jiang has over 30 years of experience in the rare
earth and refractory materials industries. Prior to the founding of
the Group, Mr Jiang had been a factory manager of a refractory
materials production plant and a sales manager of a glass and
ceramics manufacturing company. Besides, Mr Jiang is also the
chairman and an executive director of Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and the sole director of YY
Holding Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr Jiang
is the husband of Ms Qian Yuanying, the deputy chairman of the
Group.

Ms Qian Yuanying, aged 52, is a founding member and the deputy
chairman of the Group. Ms Qian is also the chief executive officer
of the Group. Ms Qian is responsible for the overall management
of the Group and has particular responsibility for the marketing
aspect of the Group's business. Ms Qian is recognized as a senior
economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel Department, and she
is also qualified as a Chinese Career Manager. Ms Qian has over
20 years of experience in the rare earth and refractory materials
industries. Prior to the founding of the Group, Ms Qian was a high
school teacher. Ms Qian is the wife of Mr Jiang Quanlong, the

chairman of the Group.

Mr Jiang Cainan, aged 53, joined the Group in 1986 and was
appointed as an executive director in 2005. Mr Jiang is also the
general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refractory Materials
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation and sales
of refractory materials business. Mr Jiang has over 30 years of

experience in the refractory materials industry.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Liu Yujiu, aged 78, joined the Group in 1999 as an independent
non-executive director of the Company. Mr Liu was the head
of the Rare-Earth Experts Group, Applications and Development
Section under the State Planning Commission. Currently Mr Liu is
an honorary executive of China Rare Earth Science Society and a
member of the editorial committee of China Rare Earth Journal.
Mr Liu was appointed as chief engineer of China Rare Earth
Development Corporation for the period from December 1992 to
December 1997.

Mr Huang Chunhua, aged 47, joined the Group in 2001 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr Huang
obtained a Ph.D degree in Marketing and an MBA degree from
University of Strathclyde and a Bachelor degree in Economics from
Wuhan University. Currently Mr Huang is the deputy chairman and
an executive director of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited, the shares of
which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. For
the period from May 2007 to April 2009, Mr Huang was a director
and China equity market strategist of BNP Paribas Securities (Asia)
Limited. Prior to that he was the deputy chairman of Hybrid Kinetic
Group Limited between November 2002 and October 2007 and an
analyst of various securities companies. Mr Huang has extensive

knowledge and experience in financial market.

Mr Jin Zhong, aged 60, joined the Group in 2004 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr Jin
graduated from the Faculty of Material Engineering of Wuhan Steel
College, specializing in refractory studies. Mr Jin was previously the
deputy chief engineer of the head factory of Guiyang City Refractory

Materials Factory.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Law Lap Tak, aged 42, joined the Group in 1999. Mr Law is
the financial controller and company secretary of the Company. Mr
Law graduated in Hong Kong with a degree of bachelor of business
administration. Mr Law is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Law was an

audit manager in an international accounting firm in Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Yu Zhengming, aged 76, joined the Group in 1999. Mr Yu
is the chief engineer and technical consultant of Yixing Xinwei
Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr Yu was the factory general manager and chief engineer of a
renowned rare earth factory. Mr Yu is an expert in rare earth and

non-ferrous metals industries.

Mr Xu Jianwen, aged 43, joined the Group in 1988. Mr Xu is the
general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company
Limited and is responsible for the operation of rare earth business.
Mr Xu has over 20 years of experience in production management in

the rare earth industry.

Mr Wang Jianping, aged 50, joined the Group in 2004. Mr Wang
is the general manager of Wuxi Xinwei High Temperature Ceramics
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of the high
temperature ceramics business. Mr Wang has over 15 years of

experience in administrative management and sales.

Mr Zhang Huilin, aged 59, joined the Group in 1988. Mr Zhang
is the general manager of Haicheng City Suhai Magnesium Ore
Company Limited and Hai Cheng Xinwei Leeshing Magnesium
Resources Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of
magnesium grains business. Mr Zhang has extensive management

experience in raw material supply and sales of refractory materials.

Mr Zhao Jianwen, aged 45, joined the Group in 1987. Mr Zhao is
the head of technology department of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare
Earth Company Limited. Mr Zhao has over 20 years of experience in

the rare earth industry.



WEEREBHS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERER
ARBHARRBIRFZEEERATRRER °
ARFERBERRARIMERARFS LT
RATEMRAD M+ AEZERERER
SR (TREERERTAL A& ZRA KT
AGXRMEARG 2 RERTH - REE-T
——H+-_A=1+—-RBLFERN ARFA-EHEE
ST b 7 AR A B % A 7O e 2 ST RIS

ESETREERS
ARFCHEZETESR R H R —EGRKER
RETER LA RS+ FAEREER 25
Al ARBINMEL B EERARERMBEERE
E-E 5+ _A=T-RHILFEAN—HET
ST FT s 2 35 7E 22 B o

EEg4AN

AABHEFEHRE ESTLTEEHERER
KRB ER WEBAEE XK AEREK
R-BERELZREBABNTERARRARE
- BEEGBRRE-URTESR=(IBLFRT
EEMT

BITES  BRELAE(ER) BLRZL (8
TRFOTBAEE) RETREL -

BIUFRNTESR: ARAELE FHREXRLERE
Bk

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Company has adopted
its own code of corporate governance based on the principles and
code provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the "CG Code"”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Throughout the year ended
31 December 2011, the Company has complied with the code

provisions set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiry, the Company confirms that all directors
have complied with the required standards as stated in the code

throughout the year ended 31 December 2011.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Company is governed by a Board of directors which is
responsible for directing and supervising its affairs and oversight
of the Group’s businesses, strategic decision and performance.
Execution of the Board’'s decisions and daily operations are
delegated to the management. The Board comprises three executive

directors and three independent non-executive directors as follows:

Executive directors: Mr Jiang Quanlong (Chairman), Ms Qian
Yuanying (Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) and Mr
Jiang Cainan.

Independent non-executive directors: Mr Liu Yujiu, Mr Huang
Chunhua and Mr Jin Zhong.
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BOARD COMPOSITION (Continued)
The Board held seven meetings during the year. Details of the

attendance were as follows:

Director Attendance
Jiang Quanlong 7/7
Qian Yuanying 717
Jiang Cainan 7/7
Liu Yujiu 717
Huang Chunhua 717
Jin Zhong 717

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director will receive comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing

Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to directors whenever

necessary.

PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS
Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at
least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee

meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company
and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and
each director also have separate and independent access to the

senior management whenever necessary.
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PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS (Continued)
The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping

minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for

directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a
director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly

convened Board meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Although Mr Jiang Quanlong, the Chairman of the Board, is the
husband of Ms Qian Yuanying, the Chief Executive Officer, their
roles and responsibilities are separated. The Chairman is responsible
for the formulation of the Group’s overall business development
policies while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the

overall management of the Group's business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors of the Company are highly
skilled professionals with expertise and experience in the field of
financial management and businesses related to the Group. They
advise the Company on strategy development and enable the
Board to maintain high standards of compliance of financial and
other mandatory reporting requirements and provide adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and the Company as a whole. Each of the independent non-
executive directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of two years. The Company has received
written confirmations from all independent non-executive directors
concerning their independence. The Board considers that all of them

are independent.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive
directors of the Company, namely, Mr Liu Yujiu, Mr Huang Chunhua
and Mr Jin Zhong. The committee is chaired by Mr Liu Yujiu. The
Audit Committee has held regular meetings during the year and it
has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Company and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the interim and annual

results of the Company for the year.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, which are in
compliance with the CG Code are published on the Company’s

website.

During the year, there were two Audit Committee meetings.

Attendance of the directors were as follows:

Director Attendance
Liu Yujiu 2/2
Huang Chunhua 172
Jin Zhong 2/2

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee, as at 31 December 2011, comprised
Mr Jiang Quanlong, the Chairman of the Board, and all independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely, Mr Liu Yujiu, Mr
Huang Chunhua and Mr Jin Zhong. The committee was chaired by
Mr Jiang Quanlong. The Company has changed the members of the
Remuneration Committee on 23 March 2012 since which Mr Huang
Chunhua, an existing member of the Remuneration Committee
and independent non-executive director, has been appointed as
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee in place of Mr Jiang
Quanlong who also ceased to be a member of the Remuneration

Committee on the same date.

The principal function of the Remuneration Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board of directors on the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of directors and senior

management, and to review their specific remuneration package.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which are

in compliance with the CG Code are published on the Company’s

website.

During the year, there was one Remuneration Committee meeting.

Attendance of the directors were as follows:

Director Attendance
Jiang Quanlong 171
Liu Yujiu il
Huang Chunhua 171
Jin Zhong 1/1

During the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration policy and recommended the remuneration packages

of directors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2011, the Company did not have a nomination
committee as according to the Articles of Association of the
Company, the Board of directors has the power to appoint any
person as a director either to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition
to the Board. The nomination should be taken into consideration
of the nominee’s qualifications, ability and potential contributions
to the Company. The Board considers that the current Board
composition is appropriate. The Company, however, has established
its Nomination Committee on 23 March 2012, which comprises
Mr Liu Yujiu, Mr Huang Chunhua and Mr Jin Zhong, each being
an independent non-executive director of the Company and Mr Jin

Zhong is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, which are
in compliance with the CG Code are published on the Company’s

website.
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ROTATION OF DIRECTORS
The Company’s Articles of Association specify that every director

should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Mr Jiang Cainan

and Mr Huang Chunhua will retire by rotation.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION
During the year, the remuneration in respect of statutory audit

services (including interim review) provided by the auditors of the
Company was HK$3,445,000. There was no other non-audit service

provided by the auditors.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

It is the directors’ responsibility for the preparation of financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and the results and cash flows for each financial period.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors have to ensure
that appropriate accounting policies are adopted. The financial

statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate
system of internal controls of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Board has delegated to the management the
implementation and evaluation of the system of internal controls.
With the assistance of an external advisor, the Group has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
control and reported the key findings to the audit committee. The
review covers major and material controls in areas of financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management

functions.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their
absence, their duly appointed delegates are available to answer
questions at the shareholders’ meetings. Separate resolutions are
proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual directors. Notice of the annual
general meeting together with related papers are sent to the
shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the meeting,
setting out details of each proposed resolution, voting procedures
and other relevant information. All votes of shareholders at the
general meeting will be decided by poll. The Chairman will demand
that all resolutions put to the vote at the annual general meeting
will be taken by poll and will explain such rights and procedures
during the annual general meeting before voting on the resolutions.
An independent scrutineer will be appointed to count the votes and
the poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited after the annual general

meeting.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintain regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to
keep them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from

investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company also maintains
a website at www.creh.com.hk, where extensive information and
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,

financial information and other information are posted.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report and the
audited financial statements of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and sales of rare

earth products and refractory products.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 21 to

the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Details of segmental information of the Group are set out in Note 16

to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 39 of the

annual report.

No interim dividend was declared and paid to the shareholders
during the year. The directors recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK2 cents per share for the year ended 31 December
2011 to the shareholders on the register of members on 14 June
2012.

Details of other appropriations are set out in Note 32 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's reserves available for distribution comprise the share
premium account and accumulated profits. As at 31 December
2011, the reserves of the Company available for distribution to
shareholders amounted to HK$1,832,830,000.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results of the Group for the past five financial

years is set out on page 176 of the annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
construction in progress of the Group during the year are set out in

Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the authorized and issued share capital of the Company

as at 31 December 2011 are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated

financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Details of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2011 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES
Details of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in Note

11 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

this report are:

Executive directors
Mr. Jiang Quanlong (Chairman)
Ms. Qian Yuanying (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Jiang Cainan

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Liu Yujiu

Mr. Huang Chunhua

Mr. Jin Zhong
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In accordance with Articles 108(A) and (B) of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Jiang Cainan and Mr. Huang Chunhua will
retire by rotation from the Board at the forthcoming annual general

meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

As at 31 December 2011, none of the directors has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other

than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company and their associates
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations as recorded in the register kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO") or as otherwise notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

of Listed Issuers were as follows:

1. REATARGESR 1. Interests in shares of the Company

EARDE S BT

Bx ERtE 5% R E RENBE

Number of % to the issued share

Director Nature of interest/Capacity Shares capital of the Company

BRE FB2 g/ ZEDR 2 595,492,000 35.60%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of spouse/Interest of

controlled corporation
iz EFEZRLA 595,492,000 35.60%

Qian Yuanying

ZEMRD THEBYY Holdings Limitedis A - £ 25
EBATIRAAYY Trustf) Z5EAYYT (PTC) Limited
e MERARBRELENLEBEITREL
TREFZZERBHAR  LEFLHE KA
EXVEZEBRETRZLTAYY TrusthI KA © ¥
R BESLA AYY Holdings Limited#)iff —E ¥ -

Founder of a trust

Note:

These shares are held through YY Holdings Limited, the entire issued
share capital of which is held by YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY
Trust, the discretionary object of which is a company wholly owned
by Ms. Qian Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, and her
children. Ms. Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within the
meaning under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Jiang Quanlong is the sole
director of YY Holdings Limited.
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2. REBATREG  HEROIRASEDS 2.
(@) WMHEREFR A

(b)

Interests in shares, underlying shares or equity interests in
associated corporations

(a) Microtech Resources Limited

EZDTEB/IT

RAFZRG

BE BRtE 54 ERTROEANREAE HRMESL
% in the class of

shares in the issued

Nature of interest/ Number and share capital

Director Capacity class of issued shares of the Company
R EmEAA BRZRREL1H7,000,000% 70%

Jiang Quanlong

BT
Qian Yuanying

Beneficial owner

EZBAA

Beneficial owner

EEE KL B R A

7,000,000 non-voting

deferred shares
I ERERIEAR 193,000,0008% 30%
3,000,000 non-voting

deferred shares

(b)  Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited

B BEME 55 BRAEZBE DL
Director Nature of interest/Capacity % equity interest
R RERAZ S 5%

Jiang Quanlong

pit -

Interest of controlled corporation

ZERBDEBERNBEEARA R
B ZPECERRRELEREBIONE
& BTMI0%ESHETRHA - BELER

RHCEREERERA -

Note:

The equity interest is held by Yixing Xinwei Group Co., Ltd., a
PRC domestic enterprise 90% owned by Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
with the remaining 10% owned by his son. Mr. Jiang is also the
legal representative of the enterprise.
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(c) YY Holdings Limited

= BENE S0

(c) YY Holdings Limited
EZDATERIT
LN )
ERITROENREE HAWBEDE
% in the class of

shares in the issued

Nature of interest/ Number and share capital
Director Capacity class of issued shares of the Company
BITHE EFEZPILA BB 1K 100%
Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 1 ordinary share
TR (P4 AVUN 18 5E % 1525,0004% 100%
Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 25,000 preference shares
e LSNP TR 1K 100%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation 1 ordinary share
FBoREe RERA R 1B 5 0% 15 25,000/% 100%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation 25,000 preference shares
BiiE - Note:

YY Holdings Limited®) 2 5 2 31 TAIRAAYY
Trust®) 2 5EAYYT (PTC) LimitedFi#E -
HEZHZAABBRELAENEBEIELLTR
HFL2EHANRT - BEFRBEES
BXVEZ EEE TR L AYY TrusthI L
A o BREELREAYYT (PTC) Limited#) M —
Exo

B EdlREN R T——F+ - A=+—
B REIESRBEEN]FE35216MEFE
ZBRMAMSE  HEARREERITHAE
B HBH A TR R R R E R A R 2 R
0~ MR REFF ARG /T E IR

ERSE -

The entire issued share capital of YY Holdings Limited is held
by YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY Trust, the discretionary
object of which is a company wholly owned by Ms. Qian
Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, and her children.
Ms. Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within the meaning
under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Jiang Quanlong is the sole director
of YYT (PTC) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of
the directors or chief executive of the Company and their
associates had or was deemed to have any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register kept under Section 352 of the SFO.
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4. B2EELZHHAIEETAT_EABEAT
BETZROHBETTRBBARREERE
BITRAZ1% °

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 4 June 2004, the shareholders of the Company approved the
termination of the share option scheme adopted on 14 October
1999 (the “Old Scheme”) and the adoption of a new scheme (the
“New Scheme"”) for the purpose of coping with the amendments
introduced to Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). Upon the
termination of the Old Scheme, no further options would be offered
pursuant to the Old Scheme but the Old Scheme would in all other
respects remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of the outstanding options granted under it prior to
its termination, and such outstanding options will continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with the provisions of the Old

Scheme.

The major terms of the New Scheme are as follows:

1. The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or

rewards for their contribution to the Group.

2. The eligible participants included any employee (whether full-
time or part-time, including any executive director), any non-
executive director, any shareholder, any supplier and any
customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest, and any party having contribution to the development

and growth of the Group.

3. Under the New Scheme, the total number of shares available
for issue is 98,695,305 which represents approximately 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of

adoption of the New Scheme.

4. The maximum entitlement of each participant under the New
Scheme in any 12-month period should not exceed 1% of the

issued share capital of the Company for the time being.
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5. The exercisable period of an option granted may be
determined by the directors and which should not end later
than 10 years after the date of offer.

6. Any offer for the grant of an option may be accepted by
the participant within 21 days from the date of offer with a
consideration of HK$1 paid.

7. The exercise price may be determined by the directors provided
that it should not be less than the highest of:

the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet
on the date of offer;

the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and

the nominal value of a share of the Company.

8.  The New Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years

from 18 June 2004, the date on which the New Scheme was

adopted.

During the year, no option was granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the New Scheme.

Details of options which have been granted under the Old Scheme

B ARITE 2 AR BT ¢ and remained outstanding as at 31 December 2011 are as follows:
BREHAE
Number of options
R=B——F R-Z——%
BEA REHBEH TR —-A—B%F RERTE +=A=+-B%KF
Exercised
Exercise Held at during Held at
Grantee Date of grant price 1 January 2011 the year 31 December 2011
BT
Employees
A&t —2F=F-A-1=H 11087 700,000 700,000 -
In aggregate 23 January 2003 HK$1.10
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1. Z2IMEBT/RAAYYT (PTO) Limited T A
B2 AYY Holdings Limited A EZ A A&
M HE A AR AR 595,492,0000%  £915 &
NAIBEITRMEI35.60% °

2. YYT (PTC) Limited# 2 BFE EFHEE =3
BT AHIYY Holdings Limited 55 &9
A A A% 17 595,492,0008) %5 o

R ERBWEN R _FE——F+_A=1+—RH"
RIEESLPREDFE3B6GMFEZELM
NAE - BRARRES RITHAZNASN - HEHR
i AMEBFAR R B R AR B Z A0 SRR B 45
BEMESERIAR -
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EREERMSHRERAE - FA - SZFHEY
PR ey s 2 RS & $£49636,000/8 7T °

The options granted are exercisable between 27 January 2003 to 26
January 2013, provided that 50% of the options granted shall not
be exercised prior to 27 January 2004.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement,
which enable any of the directors or chief executive of the Company
or their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS

So far as is known to the directors, as at 31 December 2011,
the interests and short positions of shareholders, other than the
directors or chief executive of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:

1. YY Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which
is held by YYT (PTC) Limited, was holding 595,492,000 shares
of the Company, representing approximately 35.60% of the

issued share capital of the Company as beneficial owner.

2. YYT (PTC) Limited was deemed to be interested in 595,492,000
shares of the Company held by YY Holdings Limited the entire
issued share capital of which is held by YYT (PTC) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other party, other than the directors or
chief executive of the Company, had notified the Company that he
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register kept under Section 336
of the SFO as at 31 December 2011.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
During the year, the Group leased two office premises from Mr.

Jiang Quanlong for use as its sales and marketing office. During the
year, the total operating lease rentals paid in respect of these leases

amounted to approximately HK$636,000.
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During the year, the Group paid approximately HK$64,000 as
a compensation to Wuxi Pan-Asia Environmental Protection
Technologies Limited (“Wuxi Pan-Asia”), a related company in which
Ms. Qian Yuanying and Mr. Jiang Quanlong were deemed to have

beneficial interests, for the use as office premises.

During the year, one of the jointly controlled entities of the Group
received approximately HK$23,000 as rental income from Wuxi Pan-

Asia for sharing portion of land use rights.

During the year, one of the jointly controlled entities of the Group
acquired certain properties and prepaid lease payments on land
under operating leases from Wuxi Pan-Asia at a total consideration
of approximately HK$20,186,000.

Save as disclosed above and in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, no director had a beneficial interest, either direct or
indirect, in any contract of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party at the year-end date or at any

time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was

entered into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
There has been no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the

Company’s listed securities by the Group during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to

the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
- the largest customer 1%
— five largest customers combined 38%
Purchases
— the largest supplier 23%
— five largest suppliers combined 49%

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders which
to the knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital has any interest in the share capital

of any of the five largest customers or suppliers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Memorandum and Articles of Association and the Cayman Islands
Companies Law in relation to the issue of new shares by the

Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the

year.

AUDITORS
CCIF CPA Limited retires and, being eligible, offers itself for re-

appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Quanlong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA RARE EARTH HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 39 to 175, which comprise
the consolidated and Company statements of financial position as
at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at 31 December 2011, and of the Group's profit and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

CCIF CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2012

Ho Chun Shing
Practising Certificate Number P04396



Wi e W& R
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

BE-Z2——$+=H=+—HBL1LFE For the year ended 31 December 2011

—E——fF —E-TF
2011 2010
B & FER FAET
Note HK$' 000 HK$" 000
(BFrEM)
(restated)
FERE K Continuing operations
BER Turnover 5 2,213,354 1,116,755
$HE B A Cost of sales (1,159,922) (863,718)
EH Gross profit 1,053,432 253,037
H w2 Other revenue 6 7,008 4,849
HERDHEER Selling and distribution expenses (214,900) (49,600)
EREH Administrative expenses (122,892) (59,482)
HiAFE Other income, net 11,377 6,663
48  HE 1m F) Profits from operations 734,025 155,467
B 7% A AR Finance costs 7(a) (5,698) (8,438)
ERZEHEREE 2 # Share of losses of jointly controlled
entities (12,244) (832)
B 7 A A Profit before taxation 7 716,083 146,197
PiSH Income tax 8 (176,285) (30,824)
REEHBELEER RN Profit for the year from continuing
operations 539,798 115,373
BRI EER Discontinued operation
REFDRIEELEREF  Profit for the year from discontinued
operation 12 15,661 23,668
NEE 5 F Profit for the year 555,459 139,041
FEfh : Attributable to:
RARER A Owners of the Company 13
—REBBELEER — From continuing operations 508,598 110,874
—REBRIFREEETR — From discontinued operation 14,878 22,485
523,476 133,359
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

BZE-ZF——F+=-A=1+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2011

—E——F =T —F4F
2011 2010
i3 THERT FAT
Note HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(&)
(restated)
FEPE R M = Non-controlling interests
—REFELEEED — From continuing operations 31,200 4,499
—REERIEEEET — From discontinued operation 783 1,183
31,983 5,682
NEE 5 T Profit for the year 555,459 139,041
AL A
HK cents HK cents
FRRAEH Earnings per share 15
YN Basic
RERFELLED From continuing operations 30.41 7.05
ERIEREER From discontinued operation 0.89 1.43
31.30 8.48
e Diluted
REFECEER From continuing operations 30.41 7.05
BRIEREREE From discontinued operation 0.89 1.43
31.30 8.48

E50BE1758 2 MBI BmERE+R —3H -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE-Z2——$+=H=+—HBL1LFE For the year ended 31 December 2011

—E-—fF —T-ZF
Note 2011 2010
B & FTER FHT
HK$’'000 HK$' 000
(BF &)
(restated)
REF s A Profit for the year 555,459 139,041
FEEHMZEKE Other comprehensive income for
(MEr#E) the year (net of tax)
BREBINEBTBRE Exchange differences on translation of
ZEHRER financial statements of foreign
operations 168,481 93,121
HRAEHEEEM Share of other comprehensive income of
ZEHBHZHE jointly controlled entities 4,659 3,861
RIEERBFZEM Surplus on revaluation of buildings held
AR for own use 18(a)(ii) - 19,063
HEERBFZER Deferred tax on revaluation of
ERETRIE buildings held for own use 31(b) - (4,055)
HEEE 2 REHIA Deferred tax arising on change in tax rate  31(b) - 1,537
A EERES Fair value loss on available-for-sale
NEEEE equity securities 23 (7,520) (15,760)
BRI HHERERES Reclassification adjustments relating to
REBEDENEE impairment loss on available-for-sale
Wik A EFTHEAZE equity securities included in the
consolidated income statement 23 23,280 -
EERAEHENB AR Release of translation reserve relating to
ZERFEEL disposal of a subsidiary during the year (21,063) =
rEERXHEKELE Total comprehensive income for the year 723,296 236,808
FE{S : Attributable to:
RAREEE A Owners of the Company 689,773 229,545
FEERER Non-controlling interests 33,523 7,263
rEEZHKRREE Total comprehensive income for the year 723,296 236,808
v NUNCTE: 2= DN 3 Total comprehensive income attributable
2HEKEEE: to owners of the Company arises from:
—RELEER - Continuing operations 674,895 207,060
—ERIEEREER — Discontinued operation 14,878 22,485
689,773 229,545
FE50E R 1758 2 M sHE R sk Ep —2F15 - The notes on pages 50 to 175 form part of these financial 41

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R=2——F+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2011

—E——fF —E-ZF
2011 2010
i3 THERT FAT
Note HKS$' 000 HK$" 000
(EF &)
(restated)
FRBEE Non-current assets
RS Goodwill 17 21,776 88,971
ME - BE&RE Property, plant and equipment 18(a) 469,568 601,165
KEMOTEN I HES Prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases 19 205,885 260,094
BILAE Intangible assets 20 88,198 329,921
HEZEGI B 2w Interest in jointly controlled entities 22 110,940 72,026
At ERRES Available-for-sale equity securities 23 6,720 14,240
BHEARITER Pledged bank deposits 27 52,547 99,777
BEBIREE Deferred tax assets 31(b) 8,223 23,876
963,857 1,490,070
REBEE Current assets
KEMOTEN I HES Prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases 19 4,874 5,956
FE Inventories 24 1,296,256 606,013
JFEE AT B % e L A FE MR Trade and other receivables 25 603,405 369,972
BNRELRES Prepayments and deposits 25 101,961 89,751
A Y e 3518 Tax recoverable 31(a) 1,450 8,586
BRI R Pledged bank deposits 27 52,177 =
X PRl 8RR 17 45 Restricted bank balances 27 = 2,868
ReERkBLEFEEEB Cash and cash equivalents 28 1,530,123 1,192,774
3,590,246 2,275,920
hEAE Current liabilities
& BR R Trade payables 29 94,964 80,723
TEIRE A R H M EA R Accruals and other payables 29 106,713 39,920
e EEHRIE Amounts due to directors 26 519 270
R—FEREENRITER Bank borrowings due within one year 30 98,680 99,389
e IR Tax payable 31(a) 56,721 9,793
357,597 230,095
42 RBEEFE Net current assets 3,232,649 2,045,825

Annual Report
2011 3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MR=-ZF——F+=-HA=+—H As at 31 December 2011

= —F-FF

2011 2010

B E THExT FHET

Note HK$’000 HK$' 000

(BEFrEM)

(restated)

EEHERABER Total assets less current liabilities 4,196,506 3,535,895

FRBEE Non-current liabilities

BELEHIBAEE Deferred tax liabilities 31(b) 31,505 94,960

EEFE NET ASSETS 4,165,001 3,440,935
EXR#EE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

N Share capital 32(b) 167,264 167,194

& Reserves 3,927,652 3,237,179
ZN/NEIEZ SN X Total Equity attributable to

B E owners of the Company 4,094,916 3,404,373

e IR = Non-controlling interests 70,085 36,562

EREE TOTAL EQUITY 4,165,001 3,440,935

EEeN _E——F=-A=+HHULERERET)E Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
30 March 2012.

BRE fi Jiang Quanlong Qian Yuanying
EE EZE Director Director

BS0EE 1758 2 MR BHREER—5 - The notes on pages 50 to 175 form part of these financial

statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R=2——F+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2011

—E——fF —E-ZF
2011 2010
i3 THERT FAT
Note HKS$' 000 HK$" 000
ERBEE Non-current assets
ME - BE&RE Property, plant and equipment 18(b) 18 25
REB AR ZKRE Investments in subsidiaries 21 151,707 151,707
A EERES Available-for-sale equity securities 23 6,720 14,240
158,445 165,972
RBEE Current assets
JFEE W32 B R % L A 8 K K Trade and other receivables 25 - 29
BRNFERES Prepayments and deposits 25 774 850
& o B /B8 1% B IR Amounts due from subsidiaries 26 1,828,746 1,719,734
BekBEeEEHEE Cash and cash equivalents 28 16,860 138,617
1,846,380 1,859,230
REEE Current liabilities
AR E A K& H fth & 3K Accruals and other payables 29 4,471 4,747
TP B 2 B3R 0B Amounts due to subsidiaries 26 = 264
JEfEEHKIE Amounts due to directors 26 260 270
4,731 5,281
REBEEZRE Net current assets 1,841,649 1,853,949
HEEFE NET ASSETS 2,000,094 2,019,921
EXRf#EE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
L& Share capital 32(b) 167,264 167,194
85 Reserves 32(a) 1,832,830 1,852,727
EHEE TOTAL EQUITY 2,000,094 2,019,921

BEERN T _FoA=THBUEREETIE -

BRE
EZF

FES50BE 1758 2 MR g mR E R —ab ) -

30 March 2012.

EBTH Jiang Quanlong
1 Director

statements.

Qian Yuanying
Director

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

The notes on pages 50 to 175 form part of these financial
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

KhARAARLER
Attributable to owners of the Company
B RtER BAgR  BTERER EERE Eifif  LTERR REEA BF  FERER 1
Buildings Non-
Share Share Capital ~ revaluation Statutory Translation Fair value Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve eserves reserve reserve profits Total interests Total
TEn TEn Tin TAn Thn Thn Thn Tan Tin Tin TEn
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK§' 000 HKS 000
(EF %) (EF &) (BFzi)
[restated) [restated) [restated)
W-5-34-7-1 At 1 January 2010 155,114 1355412 20388 7,014 148,602 182,388 - 757,88 2,718,820 2929 2,748,119
BENE Comprehensive income
REREH Profitforthe year - - - - - - - 133,359 133,35 568 139041
Ah2EbE Other comprehensive income
BEENZRIRAR Bxchange differences on tianlation
ENER o firancial staements of
foreign operations - - - - - 91,9% - - 91998 113 9311
LRKIEE Share of other comprehensive
Eh2ENE A% income of & joint-contrlled entty - - - - - 3861 - - 3,861 - 3861
HiFERRT 2 EfER Surpus on revluation of buildings
(FsE18(ai) eld for own use (note 18(ai) - - - 18,602 - - - - 18,602 41 19,063
HEERBT EER Defrred tax on revaluation of
BB (HE0) buidings held for own use
(note 31(0)) - - - (3.975) - - - - (3.975) (80) (4,055)
HERBELL Defered tar arsing on change
BRI (1) intax rate note 31(0) - - - 1460 - - - - 1460 Ui 1537
THHEEERSL Fair value loss on avalable-forsale
AVEER equity secuites - - - - - - (15,760) - (15,760) = (15,760)
2EhEEE Total comprehensive income - - - 16,087 - 9,859 (15,760) 133,359 29545 1263 236,808
FRROREZ RN Iste of new shares by share
placement 12,000 462,000 = = = = = o 474,000 ° 474,000
BEBRETHEARE Sharesisued under share option
(Riik34) scheme (note 34) 80 800 = = = = = = 880 - 880
LR OPRTIES Transaction cost airbutable o ssue
of new shares - (18872) - - - - - (18872) - (18872)
AREERER Approprations o statutory eserves - - - - 9002 - - 9,002 - - -
heERET BN Transfer to retaned profits n respect
BRERAEH of deprecition on revaluzaton of
buildings held for own use - - - (2962) - - - 2962 S o o
RZT-ZEF2AZT-B At31 December 2010
R=3-——%--8 and 1 January 2011 167,194 1,769,400 038 0,139 157,604 378,41 (15,760) 885,201 3404313 36,56 3,440,935
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

EVEEEIN 3 6
Attributable to owners of the Company
B RtR BAGR  BTERER HERR EXRf ATPERR REEA 88 FERER 4
Buildings Non-
Share Share Capital revaluation Statutory Translation Fair value Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve Teserves reserve reserve profits Total interests Total
Tin Thn TEn TEn Thn Thn TEn Thn Thn Tin TAn

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

WZF-FETZA=F-A  At3! December 2010

Rk=3--%-A-A and 1 January 2011 167,194 1769400 038 40,139 157,604 378,241 (15,760) 885,201 3404373 36,562 3,440,935
2ENE Comprehensive income
HERET Proft for the year - - - - - - - 513476 53476 31983 555,459
Eh2EYE Other comprehensive income
BEEERIRRR Bxchange diffrences on transation
2BRER of financi satements of
foreign operations - - - - - 165,888 - - 165,888 259 168,481
AREHEE Share of other comprehensive
Eh2ENE A% income of jontl-controlled enites - - - - - 4659 - - 4,659 - 4659
THHEREESL Fair value loss on avlable-for<cle
ATEER equity securiies - - - - - - (1.520) - (1.520) - (1,520
AltERRESL mpairment oss on avaiable-for-sale
HEEE equity secutes - - - - - - pERL) - B0 - B30
ERYENBRAZ Relezse of ransletion reserve elating
354 1o disposal of & subsidiary
during the year - - - - - (20,010) - - (20,010) (1,083) (21,083)
SEREEE Total comprehensive income - - - - - 150,537 15,760 513476 689,773 BB 73,%

BRERE HEARA Shares issued under share option

(Hiz34) scheme (note 34) 10 70 - - - - - - L - mm
AREETRR Appropriations to statutory eserves - - - - 17681 - - (17681) - - -
KEERRT ERRE Transfr to retaned profits in espect

BRERDEH of depreciation on revaluation of

buildings held for own use - - - 3111 - - - 3m - - -
hERIEER BREAT Transfer to retaned profis i respect

REEH MHE of disposa of buidings held for own

use, et of tax - - - (5,114) - - - 5114 - - -
HENBAT GEEY Release of reserves in respect o

disposal of a subsidiary - - - (980) (7.038) - o 8018 S o o
RZE--F+Zf=1-R At 31 December 2011 167,264 1,770,100 0348 30,934 168,247 528784 - 140739 4,094916 70,085 4,165,001

ES0EE175E 2 MEBR T BHREREH—50 - The notes on pages 50 to 175 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

-5  -3-%%
2011 2010
M3 TERT FATT
Note HK$' 000 HK$" 000
(E=F &)
(restated)
RETH Operating activities
FEEZEEB 2 Profit before income tax from
B B4 AT 4 continuing operations 716,083 146,197
BRIEEEEBZ Profit before income tax from
W 25 Al A discontinued operation 25,255 31,801
741,338 177,998
ARIER - Adjustments for:
B 7 A AR Finance costs 7(a) 5,698 8,409
FEWA Interest income 6 (7,008) (4,851)
mE - BEREEINE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 7(c) 87,057 90,653
KEROTEN LI Amortisation of prepaid lease
He 2 #H payments on land under
operating leases 7(c) 5,806 5,854
mREEHE Amortisation of intangible assets 7(c) 24,555 30,913
JRE ST AR R % Lt LT R Impairment loss on trade and
ZBEREE other receivables 7(c) 12,898 10,970
JREE iz B % R L A UK R Write back of impairment loss
R EEEREE on trade and other receivables 7(c) (5,813) (4,996)
HEWME  KERRZRE Net gain on disposal of property,
2 W FE plant and equipment 7(c) (705) (23)
HELEROTEN Net gain on disposal of prepaid
THAe 2 WEFE lease payments on land under
operating leases 7(c) (8,389) -
FE MR Write down of inventories 24(b) 91,073 16,059
7 &5 B 5 o] Reversal of write down of inventories  24(b) (37,944) (23,371)
HEK B ARz W Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 12 (20,823) =
AEHEERESFZ Impairment loss on available-for-sale
BB 18 equity securities 7(c) 23,280 =
HEZEHERESR Share of losses of jointly controlled
20 entities 12,244 832
2 BR W 2 Bad debt written off 7(c) 441 258
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE-2——%+=A=+—HBLFE For the year ended 31 December 2011

—2——-fF —E-%F
2011 2010
i3 FTHET FAT
Note HK$’ 000 HK$" 000
(EF &)
(restated)
EEESRBANKE Operating cash flows before
RERE changes in working capital 923,708 308,705
FE LN Increase in inventories (754,141) (365,696)
JRE LT B 50 % L A E KR (Increase)/decrease in trade and
(&) m A other receivables (343,241) 90,414
BNRIBRIEESIEG M Increase in prepayments and deposits (63,894) (21,232)
JRE A< BR BRI AN Increase in trade payables 19,619 4,098
TEIRE R KA M E Increase/(decrease) in accruals
SR (&) /b and other payables 232,323 (13,739)
[EfNEHHKIE Increase/(decrease) in amounts
a0 (R due to directors 249 (439)
KREFMBHNES Cash generated from operations 14,623 2,111
SRR E Tax paid
BB ERER PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid 31 (138,927) (50,152)
RETERFERAN Net cash used in
ReFE operating activities (124,304) (48,041)
RETE Investing activities
BEME BERRE Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (27,785) (16,398)
HEWE  KERRE Proceeds from disposal of property,
FT15 38 plant and equipment 59,296 23
PELERYTREM Proceeds from disposal of prepaid
T & 2 P FRIE lease payments on land under
operating leases 42,070 -
TELRESEES Capital contributions to
jointly controlled entities (46,500) (68,998)
BEAMHHERER Payment for purchase of
BEHAH available-for-sale equity securities - (30,000)
B RITE R R Z R Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank
RITEESR A, (E ) deposits and restricted bank balances 2,868 (70,573)
B FE Interest received 6 7,008 4,851
HE KB AR Z TS 5KIA Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary 33 313,125 -




XEORERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

—E——-F —E-ZF
2011 2010
M3 TERT FATT
Note HK$' 000 HK$" 000
(Efhzi)
(restated)
REZTEHRE (ER) W Net cash generated from/(used in)
BE&FE investing activities 350,082 (181,095)
RMEED Financing activities
Bl & ¥ AR 19 2 P15 518 Net proceeds from placement
FE of new shares - 455,128
BERETER Repayment of bank borrowings (149,939) (288,681)
MERITERMBERIE Proceeds from new bank borrowings 144,439 142,437
BERITERFE Interest paid on bank borrowings 7(a) (5,698) (8,409)
RIR AR T B E TR Proceeds from shares issued under
Z 1S /IA share option scheme 770 880
MEEH (ER) Net cash (used in)/generated from
FEMESEE financing activities (10,428) 301,355
HekESEEER Net increase in cash and cash
12 0 FE equivalents 215,350 72,219
FPREeRASLEEER Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 1,192,774 1,065,124
HIEERBEIHE Effect of changes in exchange rate 121,999 55,431
FRBEERREEHEHER Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year 28 1,530,123 1,192,774

FES50BZ 1758 2 MBI B RERE+F —2H - The notes on pages 50 to 175 form part of these financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

—mE

REBLERERAR ((AAE])RHES
HEEMA IR —BEHRENBEREELD
Al HROREBBERXSAAR AR ([H
RFTD) £ ARRIEMPERREEEE
255 Bl ACricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands &2 2 Bl /L #5 & B S AJfE

RRABZEEHRARFEERALRYY
Holdings Limited ([YY Holdings]) = 3% 2 A
REBEZES ML  YY Holdingst #&
REAIERRALER 2B RE

AARIRAEMBAR (GEAIAEE])#
EREEREBERHEER TER (BIEX
KEmM) KAER(BERREEEDNE
) o

AEBEZETEXBRHPEARKME ([F
BT - AR P BHRRAEBT (DET))
SR BIARAB 2 G - P B
RIMBLRBEZNEEERARE TAR
B -EEZERR BEGIRERAEEES
KB B A K [MYY Holdings (X1 ae &
RETL)REME - WETLITES TR
REARRBH-

GENERAL

China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
addresses of the Company’s registered office and principal
place of business are Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and Dapu

Town, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC, respectively.

The immediate parent and the ultimate controlling party of
the Company is YY Holdings Limited (“YY Holdings"”), which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. YY Holdings does not

produce financial statements available for public use.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) are engaged in investment holding and
manufacturing and sales of rare earth products (including
fluorescent products) and refractory products (including high

temperature ceramics products and magnesium grains).

The principal operations of the Group are conducted in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"),
which is the functional currency of the Company, while the
functional currency of the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC
is Renminbi (“RMB”). The directors consider that presenting
consolidated financial statements in HK$ is preferable when
controlling and monitoring the performance and financial
position of the Group and in reporting to YY Holdings whose

functional currency is HKS$.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a)

b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“"HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange. A summary of the significant accounting

policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods

reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2011 comprise the financial statements of
the Group and the Group's interest in jointly controlled

entities.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis, except
those disclosed otherwise in the accounting policies

below.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
to HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making judgements about the carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material
adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 4.

Change in accounting policies for jointly controlled
entities

In prior year, the Group accounted for its interest in a
jointly controlled entity using proportionate consolidation.
During the year, the Group has further invested in 40%
equity interest in another jointly controlled entity as set
out in note 22. The management adopted a new basis
to prepare budget, perform operation analysis and make
administrative decision and accounted for the interest in
this new jointly controlled entity by using equity method.
To maintain a consistent accounting policy with the new
jointly controlled entity, the Group changed its accounting
policy on accounting for its jointly controlled entities by
using equity method this year. The directors consider
that applying such new accounting policy could provide
reliable and more relevant information on the Group's
financial position and financial performance. This change
in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively,
and the comparative information has been restated as if
this new accounting policy had always been applied. The
change in accounting policy has no impact on the Group’s
net profit and net assets in the consolidated financial
statements for each period presented.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
c) HEEHNEREARREZEE (&) ¢) Change in accounting policies for jointly controlled

=

entities (Continued)

The effect of change in accounting policy for jointly
controlled entities on the Group’s financial position and
results for 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

—E——F —ZT -2
2011 2010
FEx FAET
HK$'000 HK$' 000
BZ+-A=1+—HILEE Consolidated income statement
ZEAaWE R for the year ended 31 December
EEXb )l Increase in turnover 15,890 5,616
HEHEHIEREEE Increase in the share of losses of
D EEE N jointly controlled entities (12,244) (832)
H b 10 Increase in other expenses (3,864) (5,062)
FrigEUR A Decrease in income tax 218 278
ANEZ F s H & & Change in net profit for the year = =
BREXRZBFE S (FL) Change in basic earnings per share (HK cents) - =
R+t=-—A=+—-B2Z&& Consolidated balance sheet and equity
EEABRRER at 31 December
Fh [R5 1 B 88 2 #E 2 3 A0 Increase in interest in jointly controlled entities 110,940 72,026
ME - BERZERD Decrease in property, plant and equipment (121,277) (12,758)
KERHTENS LA S Decrease in prepaid lease payments
—3ER BB DR A on land under operating leases
— non-current portion (18,143) (10,941)
EEF B EEM D Decrease in deferred tax assets (520) (282)
KERNTEN T HES Decrease in prepaid lease payments
— AR 1R on land under operating leases
— current portion (480) (228)
GFERD Decrease in inventories (18,221) (5,714)
JEURBR N H At FEULEUR > Decrease in trade and other receivables (9,521) (2,018)
B FIBREERHD Decrease in prepayments and deposits (3.391) (4,753)
BeRBEEEERD Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (30,050) (36,154)
JE 151 BR S0 > Decrease in trade payables 434 =
TBIRE R &E@F’éﬁ;”i}ﬁw\ Decrease in accruals and other payables 48,373 822
R—FAEHRETEFUR L Decrease in bank borrowings due
within one year 8,003 -
RITEFR D Decrease in bank borrowings
— e AL 1 — non-current portion 33,853 =
FEERE Change in net assets = =
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are

taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of

impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those

interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between non-controlling interests and the

equity shareholders of the Company.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated

statement of financial position in accordance with notes

2(n), (o) or

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in

relative interests, but no adjustments are made to

goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in consolidated income statement. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 2(g)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial

recognition of an investment in a jointly controlled entity

(see note 2(e)).

In the Company’'s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any

impairment loss (see note 2(k)(ii)), unless the investments

are classified as held for sale.

e) Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates
under a contractual arrangement between the Group
or Company and other parties, where the contractual
arrangement establishes that the Group or Company and

one or more of the other parties share joint control over

the economic activity of the entity.

(s) depending on the nature of the liability.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

e)

Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

An investment in a jointly controlled entity is accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements under the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale). Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess for the Group’s
share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if
any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post
acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee's
net assets and any impairment loss relating to the
investment (see note 2(k)). Any acquisition-date excess
over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated
income statement, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the jointly controlled entity, the Group’s interest
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group's interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method together with the Group’s long-
term interests that in substance form part of the Group's

net investment in the jointly controlled entity.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly controlled entity are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case
they are recognised immediately in consolidated income

statement.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

e)

Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have joint control over a
jointly controlled entity, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in consolidated income
statement. Any interest retained in that former investee
at the date when joint control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on

initial recognition of a financial asset.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that is expected to

benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently whenever there is indication that the unit
may be impaired. If some or all of the goodwill allocated
to a cash-generating unit was acquired in a business
combination during the current annual period, that unit
shall be tested for impairment before the end of the
current annual period. If the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of
the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss in the consolidated income
statement. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is

not revised in subsequent periods.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

f)

9)

Goodwill (Continued)
On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year,
any attributable amount of goodwill is included in the

calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Other investments in equity securities
The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments
in equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries

and jointly controlled entities, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at
fair value, which is their transaction price unless fair
value can be more reliably estimated using valuation
techniques whose variables include only data from
observable markets. Cost includes attributable transaction
costs, except where indicated otherwise below. These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,

depending on their classification:

Investments in equity securities held for trading are
classified as current assets. Any attributable transaction
costs are recognised in consolidated income statement
as incurred. At the end of each reporting period, the fair
value is remeasured with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised in consolidated income statement. The net
gain or loss recognised in consolidated income statement
does not include any dividends or interest earned on

these investments.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

g) Other investments in equity securities (Continued)

Investments in equity securities which do not fall into
any of the above categories are classified as available-
for-sale equity securities. At the end of each reporting
period the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant
gain or loss being recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the fair
value reserve, except foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from changes in the amortised cost of monetary
items. Dividend income from these investments is
recognised in consolidated income statement and, where
these investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in
consolidated income statement in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(t)(ii). When these investments are
derecognised or impaired (see note 2(k)), the cumulative

gain or loss is reclassified from equity to consolidated

income statement.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the

Group commits to purchase/sell the investments or they

expire.

h)  Property, plant and equipment

Buildings held for own use are stated at their
revalued amount, being their fair value at the date

of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated

depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to
ensure that the carrying amount of these assets does not

differ materially from that which would be determined

using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

Except for buildings held for own use, other property,

plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Changes arising on the revaluation of buildings held for
own use are generally dealt with in other comprehensive
income and are accumulated separately in equity in the
building revaluation reserve. The only exceptions are as
follows:

- when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be
charged to the income statement to the extent
that it exceeds the amount held in the reserve in
respect of that same asset immediately prior to the

revaluation; and

— when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be
credited to the income statement to the extent that
a deficit on revaluation in respect of that same asset

had previously been charged to income statement.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour,
the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site
on which they are located, and an appropriate proportion
of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note

2(v)).

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have

been transferred to the Group.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a

straight-line basis.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may
also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases

of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in income
statement during the financial period in which they are

incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount of the asset’s carrying amount

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net proceeds on disposal
and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in the income statement on the date of retirement or
disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred
from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not

reclassified to income statement.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment, less
their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-

line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Buildings held for own use 20 years
- Machinery and equipment 10 years
- Office equipment and fixtures 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful
life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed

annually.

Construction-in-progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of construction
of buildings, the costs of machinery and equipment
and interest charges arising from borrowings used to
finance the acquisition of these assets during the period
of construction or installation and testing. No provision
for depreciation is made on construction in progress
until such time as the relevant assets are completed and
are available for their intended use. When the assets
concerned are brought into use, the costs are transferred
to other property, plant and equipment and depreciated

in accordance with the policy as stated above.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs, where applicable (see note 2(v)). Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortistation and impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).
Other development expenditure is recognised as an

expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

i)

)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses
(see note 2(k)(ii)). Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the

period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following
intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are available for use and their

estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Exclusive right to purchase rare 16 years
earth minerals

- Technical know-how for preliminary 10 years
separation of rare earth minerals

-  Technical know-how for rare earth 10 years

metal products

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed

annually.

Lease assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use
a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time
in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such
a determination is made based on an evaluation of
the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of

whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Lease assets (Continued)

i)

ii)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
being held under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified as operating

leases.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to the income statement in equal
instalments over the accounting periods covered by
the lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits to
be derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives
received are recognised in the income statement as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to the income
statement in the accounting period in which they

are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the

period of the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

k) Impairment of assets

i)

Impairment of investment in equity securities and
other receivables

Investments in equity securities and other current
and non-current receivables that are carried at cost
or amortised cost or are classified as available-
for-sale securities are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Group about one

or more of the following loss events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or

delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that

have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment in an equity security

below its cost.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

k)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of investment in equity securities and
other receivables (Continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is

determined and recognised as follows:

For investment in jointly controlled entities
(including those recognised using the equity
method (see note 2(e))), the impairment loss
is measured by comparing the recoverable
amount of the investment with its carrying
amount in accordance with note 2(k)(ii).
The impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount in

accordance with note 2(k)(ii).

For trade receivables and other financial assets
carried at amortised cost, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting
is material. This assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at amortised cost
share similar risk characteristics, such as similar
past due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk

characteristics similar to the collective group.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

k)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of investment in equity securities and

other receivables (Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised,
the impairment loss is reversed through the
income statement. A reversal of an impairment
loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying
amount exceeding that which would have
been determined had no impairment loss been

recognised in prior years.

For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative
loss that has been recognised in the fair value
reserve is reclassified to the income statement.
The amount of the cumulative loss that is
recognised in the income statement is the
difference between the acquisition cost (net of
any principal repayment and amortisation) and
current fair value, less any impairment loss on
the asset previously recognised in the income

statement.

Impairment losses recognised in the income
statement in respect of available-for-sale
equity securities are not reversed through the
income statement. Any subsequent increase in
the fair value of such assets is recognised in

other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses in respect of available-
for-sale debt securities are reversed if the
subsequent increase in fair value can be
objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised. Reversals
of impairment losses in such circumstances are

recognised in the income statement.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

k)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

i)

Impairment of investment in equity securities and
other receivables (Continued)
Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except
for impairment losses recognised in respect
of trade debtors, bills receivables and other
receivables included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the
impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable is written
off against trade debtors, bills receivables and
other receivables directly and any amounts
held in the allowance account relating to that
debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance
account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in

the income statement.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer

exists or may have decreased:

- goodwill;

- property, plant and equipment (other than
buildings carried at revalued amounts);

- prepaid lease payments;

- intangible assets; and

- investments in subsidiaries.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

k)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable

amount is estimated.

In addition, for goodwill,

intangible assets that are not yet available for

use and intangible assets that have indefinite

useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated

annually whether or not there is any indication of

impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows

independently (i.e., a cash-generating unit).
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

k)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in the income
statement whenever the carrying amount of
an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
a cash-generating unit are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group
of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair values less

costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to the
consolidated income statement in the year in

which the reversals are recognised.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

k)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

fii)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(see notes 2(k)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period
in respect of goodwill and available-for-sale equity
securities are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year

to which the interim period relates.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost

formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of

conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the

ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1)

n)

o)

Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the

reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(k)(i)), except
where the receivables are interest-free loans made to
related parties without any fixed repayment terms or
the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such
cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for

impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(k)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption value
being recognised in the income statement over the period
of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees

payable, using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case

they are stated at cost.



2 Bt 85 1R % Bt &

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

2.

FTEERBE G

p)

a)

RERBEEEERH
RekReFERABRRITLTE
ZHEE  FHRBRITEEMEREEZ
BHES UAERBARZIHAR
ZEAAAZ AR ZERSE MBE
ReAEEZEHRAR IR ZEHSR
BURE - BEERERERNE - A
REREENERASERSERE
B-MOLRTES TIRAER
REeFEEB 2AEKED -

EEREF
i) KREREFIRRE RSB MES
&2 13

¢ FERA ENEFER B
FUE SRR B 2 AR RIEE
TN AN E B IR AE R
RS2 FEATRLR MR
BERETCAFEEXN AZFR
BIZERENR -

i) R-FBE-F+—A+HERT
EEIR _—ZFEERF—H—HE
BB ERE
LB EC MY ENLT
EREETE AL IR GR Y
BRI MABAMRHER
REEZXHTIRGEA WERE
o MBIRERITER - Bt
T2 B ity 2 B1E S A8
SNBSS - T B R AT (B R A 4D
E{E 2 Z8H AR MR E - K17
1 B B A0 2R R4 o 8 2 P A
DB HARITEERE 2 ELMS
FIER

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

p)

a)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated

statement of cash flows.

Employee benefits

i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present

values.

i) Share options granted to employee after 7
November 2002 and vested before 1 January 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not
recorded in the consolidated financial statements
until such time as the options are exercised, and
no charge is recognised in the consolidated income
statement in respect of the value of options
granted. Upon the exercise of the share options, the
resulting shares issued are recorded as additional
share capital at the nominal value of the shares,
and the excess of the exercise price per share over
the nominal value of the shares is recorded as share
premium. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior
to their exercise date are deleted from the register

of outstanding options.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

a)

r)

Employee benefits (Continued)
iii) ~ Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of

withdrawal.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in the income statement except to the
extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous

years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax

losses and unused tax credits.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

r)

Income tax (Continued)
Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax

liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary differences or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can
be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which

the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable

that they will reverse in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

r)

Income tax (Continued)
The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based

on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not

discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits

will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the

related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities if, and only if, the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the

following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the

liability simultaneously; or
- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

r)

s)

t)

Income tax (Continued)
- different taxable entities, which, in each

future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle

simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Company or the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue

is recognised in income statement as follows:
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1)

u)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

i) Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the Group has
transferred to the customer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods. Revenue
excludes value added and business taxes, and is
after deduction of any goods returns and trade
discounts.

i) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transaction during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

u)

v)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)
The results of foreign operations are translated into

HK$ at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items, including goodwill
arising on consolidation of foreign operations acquired
on or after 1 January 2005, are translated into HK$ at
the closing foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the translation
reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign
operation acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated
at the foreign exchange rate that applied at the date of

acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to income
statement when the profit or loss on disposal is

recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in

the period which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are

interrupted or complete.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

w) Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's
business, the operations and cash flows of which can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and
which represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is part of a single
co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line

of business or geographical area of operations, or is a

subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon

disposal. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a

single amount is presented on the face of the income

statement, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued

operation; and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the

measurement to fair value less costs to sell,

on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)

constituting the discontinued operation.

X) Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,

is related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

i) has significant influence over the Group; or

iii) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or the Group's parent.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

X)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

ii)  One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the

other entity is a member).

iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same

third party.

iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity.

v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the

Group or an entity related to the Group.

vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by

a person identified in (a).

vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of

a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings

with the entity.

81

Annual Report

2011 4



82

Annual Report
2011 4

2 Bt 1 1R % Bt 5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

2. ETESHEE®B) 2.

y) 2E®|E
RAMBREMEBILEN B RS
NEBEBZHRADR /D EERT A
SETREBRBERIARFHEZEE
BRiRzXEAMERALEEER
EERRARMZVBENPRER -

R BHEME @ ERNERLLDHA

et EOBEARULERHR
EERMREILE  SEBREUE &
FREELER - BIEDHEMmIEH
Rz TEAREERFEEE T E M
BRI - Y AR ERZLE

DR A REO L FEEL  AZEFL

EORAI B A HH BRI -

3. ERHAIREEIEEMBREERN 3.

(TEEMBHRELER])
RAEE AKBEEATIIAEEGH
DGR ZHE RASETEBUFRE LA -

EARBREEAZBTA “3-2EEF2ER
HBREER ok
EASIEAIE MR BEALHE
(ZZSNELET)
EASHEAENRZETE  fR2PE
E5(ERMRREENRE  REASEXZBAZE
ZEE)-REEURZETR
EH(ARMBREEURE NWESIAARSBAR
Z88)-2EZ19%

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

y)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business

and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share

a majority of these criteria.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
In the current year, the Group has applied the following new

and revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA.

Amendments to HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued

in 2010

HKAS 24 (as revised 2009) Related Party Disclosures

Amendments to HKAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues

Amendments to HK(IFRIC) Prepayments of a Minimum
—-Int 14 Funding Requirement

HK(IFRIC) - Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities

with Equity Instruments
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect
on the Group's financial performance and positions for the
current and prior accounting periods and/or on the disclosures
set out in these financial statements.

- HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised in

2009)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has been revised on
the following two aspects: (a) HKAS 24 (as revised in
2009) has changed the definition of a related party
and (b) HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) introduces a
partial exemption from the disclosure requirements for
government-related entities.

The application of the revised definition of related party
set out in HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) does not have any
material impact on the Group’s related party disclosures
in the current and previous year. The Company and its
subsidiaries are not government-related entities. As a
result, this does not impact the Group in the current year.

- Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010

Improvement to HKFRSs issued in 2010 omnibus
standard introduces a number of amendments to the
disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Dislosures. The disclosures about the Group’s and the
Company’s financial instruments in note 37 have been
conformed to the amended disclosure requirements.
These amendments do not have any material impact on
the classification, recognition and measurements of the
amounts recognised in the financial statements in the
current and previous periods.

The application of the new HKFRSs had no material effect
on how the results and financial position for the current or
prior accounting periods have been prepared and presented.
Accordingly, no prior year adjustment is required.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(Continued)
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the

HKICPA has issued the following amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been

issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 7

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 12

Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets'

Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities?

Mandatory Effective Date of
HKFRS 9 and Transition
Disclosures?

Financial Instruments?

Consolidated Financial
Statements?

Joint Arrangements?

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities?

Fair Value Measurement?

Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income®

Deferred Tax — Recovery of

Underlying Assets*
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HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

3. ERAFITRKEITERMBEREER 3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

([BEMBHREER]) (5 FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Continued)
B G EAIZ195% EERAP HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)  Employee Benefits?
(ZE——FE&ET)
B e ERETR BUBBER HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)  Separate Financial Statements?
(ZE——FE&ET)
ARG ERE8% REEDAR HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)  Investments in Associates and
(ZE——F£ET) REREIRE Joint Ventures?
BRGEAENR TR BHERAERGRARS Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®
EE(BRABREENRE BABSEERB A HK (IFRIC) - Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production
ZEE)-RBENN R Phase of a Surface Mine?
d RZZE——F+A—BREERBZFES g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
AR
2 R-ZZE—=F—A—BxEEHABRZEEY 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
DR 2013.
3 RZZE-—RF—A—BHEHERRZFEH 3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
X 2015.
& RZE——F—-—A—BREERBZFES g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
el A 3 2012.
s R-ZZ——FtA—BREEHBZEEY 5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.
DR
s RZZE-—WNFE—-A— B HERRZFEH € Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
X 2014.
REEFNEZEN REBITEBHBR The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
EREAFEHRRERERBRCFE - Z8AI the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs is expected to be
BRIk WAZER RIS R R in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
AR AT RE PN SR B B 48 & 3 18 I I TSR 3 the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on
MERTE - the Group's results of operations and financial position.
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HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

4. BREHHERMEATREZEZER
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies

which are described in note 2, management has made

certain key assumptions concerning the future, and

other key sources of estimated uncertainty at the end of

the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, as

discussed below.

i)

Estimation of impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31 December 2011, the carrying amount of
goodwill is approximately HK$21,776,000 (2010:
HK$88,971,000). Details of the recoverable amount

calculation are disclosed in note 17.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments on land
under operating leases

Management determines the estimated useful lives
and residual values for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments on
land under operating leases in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in note 2(h) and note 2(j)
respectively. The Group will revise the depreciation
charge and the amortisation expense where useful
lives and residual values are different from previous
estimates, or will write off or write down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been

abandoned or sold.
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4. BREHHERMGHTREZEZER

R (&)

a) M FREMZEZERRE)

1if)

YE - BERZE (FFEAHET
Boh) BilEZ 1h &
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

fii)

Estimation of impairment of property, plant and
equipment except buildings held for own use

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the
event previously causing the impairment no longer
exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in
assessing whether an event has occurred that may
affect the asset value or such event affecting the

asset value has not been in existence.

Such assessment was based on certain assumptions,
which are subject to uncertainty and might differ
materially from the actual results. In exercising
judgement, the Group considers information such
as the amounts of the replacement cost of the
property, plant and equipment except buildings held
for own use and deductions to account for the age,
condition, economic or functional obsolescence and
environmental factors existing at the end of each
reporting period. As at 31 December 2011, the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
except buildings held for own use is approximately
HK$265,125,000 (2010: HK$354,616,000).
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HE=
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F——H+=-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2011
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

iv)

v)

Estimation of fair value of buildings held for own use
As described in note 18(a)(ii), the buildings held
for own use were revalued at 31 December 2011
using the depreciable replacement cost approach
by independent professional qualified valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions,
which are subject to uncertainties and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making
the judgement, the Group considers information
such as the amounts of the replacement cost of the
buildings and deductions to account for the age,
condition, economic or functional obsolescence
and environmental factors existing at the end of
each reporting period. As at 31 December 2011,
the carrying amount of buildings held for own
use is approximately HK$204,443,000 (2010:
HK$246,549,000).

Estimation of impairment of intangible assets and
prepaid lease payments on land under operating
leases

The Group performs annual assessments on whether
there has been impairment of intangible assets and
prepaid lease payments on land under operating
leases in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in note 2(k)(ii).
of cash-generating units are determined based

The recoverable amounts

on value in use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates and assumptions
made by management on the future operation
of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and
other assumptions underlying the value in use
calculations. The directors are of opinion that
intangible assets and prepaid lease payments on
land under operating leases are not impaired as at
31 December 2011 and 2010. As at 31 December
2011, the carrying amounts of intangible assets and
prepaid lease payments on land under operating
leases are approximately HK$88,198,000 (2010:
HK$329,921,000) and HK$210,759,000 (2010:
HK$266,050,000) respectively.
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4. BREHHERMGHTREZEZER
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Vi)

vif)

Amortisation of intangible assets

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 2(i).
The determination of the useful lives involves
management’s estimation. The Group re-assesses
the useful life of the intangible assets and, if the
expectation differs from the original estimate, such
a difference may impact the amortisation in the
year and the estimate will be changed in the future

period.

Estimation of impairment of receivables

The policy for recognising impairment on receivables
of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectibility, ageing analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgement. A considerable amount
of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the
current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each customer. If the financial conditions
of customers of the Group were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional impairment may be required.
As at 31 December 2011,
of trade and other receivables is approximately
HK$603,405,000 (2010: HK$369,972,000).
of the impairment of receivables are disclosed in
note 25(c).

the carrying amount

Details
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

a)

b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

viii) Net realisable value of inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is determined
on the basis of the estimated selling price less the
costs necessary to make the sale. The directors
estimate the net realisable value for inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions. As at 31 December 2011,
the directors performed a review on a product-
by-product basis and made a write down of its
inventories of approximately HK$91,073,000 (2010:
HK$16,059,000) and a reversal of write down of
inventories of approximately HK$37,944,000 (2010:
HK$23,371,000).

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group's accounting policies

In determining the carrying amounts of some assets and
liabilities, the Group makes assumptions for the effects of
uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at
the end of the reporting period. These estimates involve
assumptions about such items as cash flows and discount
rates used. The Group's estimates and assumptions
are based on historical experience and expectations of
future events and are reviewed periodically. In addition
to assumptions and estimations of future events,
judgements are also made during the process of applying

the Group’s accounting policies.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the

Group's accounting policies (Continued)

i)

i)

Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income tax in Hong Kong
and various taxes in PRC. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for taxation.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and certain tax losses are recognised
as management considers it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilised. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such differences will
impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and tax in the periods in which such estimate
is changed. In this regard, the Group has
recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities in
the amounts of approximately HK$8,223,000
(2010: HK$23,876,000) and HK$31,505,000
(2010: HK$94,960,000) as at 31 December 2011
respectively.

Withholding taxes arising from the distributions of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue
for withholding taxes arising from the distributions
of dividends from certain subsidiaries according to
the relevant tax jurisdictions is subject to judgement
on the timing of the payment of the dividend.
The Group considered that if the profits will not
be distributed in the foreseeable future, then no
withholding taxes should be provided.
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5. EXE 5.
EXBERETEF EmEERE(TE
BRRERREER)  YMBEAMRERE
M - AFEREXBTRBZIREZE

TURNOVER
Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to
customers which excludes value-added and business taxes, and

is after deduction of any goods returns and trade discounts.

RITERFBIRARL R R FEIABGE S
BBEEMNSRALEE -

FEHANESEOT The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised
in turnover during the year is as follows:
KERERY BRIEEEEK &8
Continuing operations  Discontinued operation Consolidated
“g--f 3% Z%--%f C-T-%F CZ3--f C-Z-%f
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
TER TEL TiER TEL TER TEL
HK$" 000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000
(BHxiL) (B#&it) (BH&iL)
(restated) (restated) (restated)
Wt EmMm Sales of rare earth products
(BIEHRHEM)HE  (induding fluorescent products) 1,765808 693,702 82434 208365 1,848,242 902,067
i N E Sales of refractory products
(BESEMAER  (induding high temperature ceramics
REW)HE products and magnesium
grains) 447,546 423,053 - - 447,546 423,053
2213354 1,116,755 82,434 208,365 2,295,788 1,325,120
6. Htblzs 6. OTHER REVENUE
FERERY BRIEEEERK &8
Continuing operations  Discontinued operation Consolidated
“g--f 3% Z%--%f -T-%F CZ3--f C-Z-%f&
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
TER TEL TR TEL TER TEL
HK$" 000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000
(BHxiL) (B#&it) (BH&iL)
(restated) (restated) (restated)
RATRMBUA () Interest income from bank deposits
(note) 7,008 4,849 - 2 7,008 4,851
M3E Note:

Interest income from bank deposits represents the total interest income
on financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss.
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7. BRBAEF 7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
BREr AR FIB IR (GEA) REIEIE - Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
RESERR BRLEBEER &a
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Consolidated
Z5--§ C-3-%f Z®8--f C-I-%F C®--F CE-%%
201 2010 201 2010 2011 2010
TR iR TR TR TEr i
HKS' 000 HKS$' 000 HK$" 000 HKS$' 000 HK$" 000 HK$' 000
(Ef&i) (B3%i) (Ef&i)
(restated) (restated) (restated)
a  BEARE a)  Finance costs
ARRERTHER Interest expenses on bank
LEMERNE borrowings wholly repayable
within five years 5,698 8,409 - - 5,698 8,409
Hip ERAA Other borrowing costs - 29 - - - 29
UHEATEIIAERL Total interest expense on financial
SRARNEXLEE liabilties not at fair value through
profit or loss 5,698 8,438 - - 5,698 8,438
b)  BIFA(BENIY b)  Staff costs (including directors’

FEzESMHE) emoluments in note 9)
$4RTE Salaries and wages 51,783 37217 512 1,484 52,355 38,701
RINEH A Retirement benefits scheme

(HzE11) contributions (note 11) 3441 2493 - - 3,441 2493

55,224 39,710 572 1,484 55,796 41,19
o HtEH ¢  Otheritems

eI Auditor's remuneration 3,445 3,420 - = 3,445 3,420
FEHA (H24(0) Cost of inventories (note 24(o)) 1,159,922 863,718 76,643 173328 1236565 1,037,046
0z BRRZELNE Depreciation of property, plant

and equipment 85,529 88,204 1,528 2,389 87,057 90,653
BEROTRALH Amortisation of prepaid lease

HedH payments on land under operating

leases 5,456 5278 350 576 5,806 5,854
B AERE Amortisation of intangible assets 12,295 11,799 12,260 19,114 24,555 30,913
S o Bad debt written off 44 258 - - 441 258
B R At Impairment loss on trade and other

Y e receivables 12,898 10,231 - 739 12,898 10,970
RURERSRE R Reversal of impaiment loss on trade

LABEEREE and other receivables (5813) (4,99) - - (5,813) (4,996)
HESERATRA L Net gains on disposal of prepaid

Hezhass lease payments on land under

operating leases (8,389) - - - (8,389) -
HENE - BER&E Net gains on disposal of property,

LW FE plant and equipment (705) 23) - = (705) 23)
EiERTR Net exchange loss 9,600 2,354 - = 9,600 2,354
RENZEERERL Operating lease charges on rented

premises 2,105 1377 39 80 2,144 1,457
ik Research and development
expenditure 2,146 1,542 - - 2,146 1,542 93
AL EERE S Impairment loss on avalable-for-sale
LAAEE equity securities 23,280 = - = 23,280 = SvE] R

2011 4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

8.

FEBBERAZAER
a) HEWBERAZMAEBIE:

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME

STATEMENT

a) Income tax in the consolidated income statement
represents:
RELERH

Continuing operations

BRIESERH &a

Discontinued operation Consolidated

“E--f -T2 ZB--% _Z-TF ZB--§ _—Z-If
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
TEn TR TEn TAL TEn TETL

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000

(EfEi) (EFEi) (EFxi)
(restated) (restated) (restated)

FHBE-vELE
frest ([ HEH)

Income Tax (“EIT")

FERE(WE31) Provision for the year (note 31(a))
BERE Deferred taxation
IR ES Origination and reversal of
B (B EE31(0)) temporary differences (note 31(b))
FER it Income tax charge
i

ARAREREHRSERERSHSEMMK
UREHCEREEAR - Hit - BHRX
NREREMEH -

T —ERBBHEEREBDNR
16.5% (ZZ—ZF :165%) ;18 - HE—
T —FR-F-RET-A=+-RALA

W LA A S AT R -

BiEPEREMFEED ([REMEHE])
EHEED - B -EENF-—A—RE &
SEPBEMERRZHER25% °

AKETHENBARNEERREFS BN
BRARKEBHMBMKFEERERARE
BE TR N\FRIAMFERRPECEM
B BEE =FES0%BIERSE °

AEBTEKBLRBEEFTRFIKT LR
ARRZE—FBE+-A-+-H-EAIN
AREZ [EBHEMEE]  YAIZEEEM
BRIEI5% °

Current tax - PRC Enterprise

179,839 36,957 12,143 12,043 191,982 49,000

(3,554) (6,133) (2,549) (3,910) (6,103) (10,043)

176,285 30,824 9,594 8,133 185,879 38,957

Note:

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Company Law of the Cayman
Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from payment of the Cayman
Islands income tax.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2011 is calculated at
16.5% (2010: 16.5%) for the year. No provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax has been made as the Group had no net assessable profits for the
two years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group, Yixing Wellfire Nonmetal Materials
Co., Ltd. and Hai Cheng Xinwei Leeshing Magnesium Resources Co.,
Ltd. are entitled to the exemptions from PRC EIT for two years starting
from 2008, followed by a 50% tax relief for the next three years.

The PRC subsidiary of the Group, Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth
Company Limited became a foreign invested “encouraged hi-tech
enterprise” with effective from 22 December 2010 and was entitled to
a preferential income tax rate of 15%.
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HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

8. BEWBZRAZME

B () 8.

b) MERIHESHENZHRERAB

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT (Continued)

b) Reconciliation between income tax charge and

RAEZHEROT @ accounting profit at applicable tax rates is as follows:
REREER BALEELE &84
Continuing operations  Discontinued operation Consolidated
“§--f “T-3F -®--Ff "T-%2F =—®--f -T-%f
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
TEn TR TEn TAL TEn TR
HK$" 000 HK$' 000 HKS$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
(EF&it) (Bt (EF&i)
(restated) (restated) (restated)
B ATER Profit before taxation 716,083 146,197 4,432 31,801 720515 177,998
HERBARF L Pre-tax gain on disposal
HaE of a subsidiary - = 20,823 - 20,823 -
716,083 146,197 25,255 31,801 741,338 177,998
BRHALER Notional tax on profit before
BEENLER taxation, calculated at the rates
ERTEHE, applicable to the jurisdictions
REHA concerned 143,885 30,773 4,231 7950 148,116 38,723
FAEMXIL 2 BBFE  Tax effect of non-deductible
expenses 24,062 5,250 5,363 183 29,425 5433
AREHEEEENE  Taxeffect of share of losses of
Wity 7 jointly controlled entities 3,061 208 - - 3,061 208
HERBMAZRBEE  Tax effect of non-taxable income (20) (87) - = (20) 87)
HRARRANBEEL  Taxeffect of utilisation of tax
Eze loss not recognised - (6,485) = = = (6,485)
A ARBIENR Tax effect of tax loss not allowed
RBERz B2 for tax deduction 5,674 1,694 - - 5,674 1,694
HENBLRERRHERE Tax effect of tax exemption
LHBEE granted to a PRC subsidiary (377) (529) - - (377) (529)
iicsan Income tax charge 176,285 30,824 9,594 8,133 185,879 38,957
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

9.

EEME
REFERAGIIFEIVGRENES

a)

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

a) Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161

MemT : of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows:
—E2——-F —E-ZF
2011 2010
FTHERT FiBT
HK$' 000 HK$'000
BITES Executive directors
—¥& KRR — salaries and allowance 2,478 2,484
BUFHTES Independent non-executive directors
—-#e — fees 167 163
2,645 2,647

HE_ZT——FR-FT-FTF+-A
St-BALFE BEREEZEEH

b) Details of directors’ remuneration by individual director

for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 are as

SHBOT : follows:
=2——F
2011
EXFe Rl
BEzne REWNEF Heme
Basic salaries,
Directors’ allowance and Total
fees benefits-in-kind emoluments
TER TERT THET
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
HITES Executive directors
BRE Jiang Quanlong = 1,320 1,320
EIES Qian Yuanying - 1,014 1,014
B Jiang Cainan = 144 144
BYFHTES Independent non-executive
directors
ZIRN Liu Yujiu 52 = 52
BEE Huang Chunhua 72 - 72
2E Jin Zhong 43 - 43
167 2,478 2,645
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

9. EEM= (B 9. DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION (Continued)
by (#&) b)  (Continued)
—T-TF
2010
BERFHS RH
BEEHE REDEM i aE=
Basic salaries,
Directors’ allowance and Total
fees benefits-in-kind emoluments
FHET FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
BiTES Executive directors
BRE Jiang Quanlong - 1,320 1,320
BT R Qian Yuanying = 1,014 1,014
TR () Xu Panfeng (note) - 1 1
B Jiang Cainan - 139 139
BYEBTES Independent non-executive
directors
RN Liu Yujiu 50 = 50
BEE Huang Chunhua 72 = 72
&8 Jin Zhong 41 = 41
163 2,484 2,647

feE: ER-Z-ZTFRA_+/\BEE-

HE-Z——FR-ZT-—ZTF+A="1—
BIEMEEAN  MESERETAHE - &
ET——FRZZE-ZTF+-A=+—H
IEFE A + B T 3 S S A sk A
AR5 B 3 00 A AN 5 B B 2 AR R o B

&

Note:  Resigned on 28 May 2010.

During the two years ended 31 December 2011
and 2010, no directors waived any emoluments. No
inducement payments to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office was paid or payable
to any director for the two years ended 31 December
2011 and 2010.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

10. BEEF AL 10.

BE-_Z——E+-A=+—HIEFE &
SELEESHFALT ER=R(2F—
TEZR)REARAES  EMERHE
ME - EMME (ZE—2F - WE) RS

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2011, out of the five

highest paid individuals in the Group, three (2010: three) are
directors of the Company whose emoluments are disclosed in

note 9. The aggregate emoluments in respect of the remaining

HALZHeRBENT two (2010: two) highest paid individuals are as follows:
= i =t
2011 2010
FHExT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EXFHE - R LKEWEF Basic salaries, allowance and benefits-in-kind 1,157 1,127
RIKTEFIET 83X Retirement benefits scheme contribution 58 56
1,215 1,183

BE-F——F1-A=t-BLEE X
BRE (T4 MA) ERFALZH
SNFRTFHIHE

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the emoluments of the
remaining two (2010: two) highest paid individuals are within

the following band:

S
2011 2010
Z—1,000,0007% 7T Nil = HK$1,000,000 2 2

RAEFERN  AREYERALRSHA
T (BREZREE) XNEAME  FRH
B EL DDA BRI A 7N 5% 0 iy A S N o R R

f&-

No emoluments were paid to the five highest individuals
including directors and employees as inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office in

both years.
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1. EERKEF 11. EMPLOYMENT RETIREMENT BENEFITS
e B A AR BI AR B4R E - AR R AR As stipulated by the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC,
BB AR EREZEESMEZRK:T the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are required to contribute
B (—BARATHKIBRETE) 7 @t to a state-sponsored retirement plan, which is a defined
BRAREEEAFTEMI7%—20% (ZE—F contribution pension scheme, for all of their employees based
F:17%—20%) ° [E BRIN{EH) 4 )F R/, on 17% to 20% (2010: 17% to 20%) of the employee’s basic
HEERAFEBREIN AR TE’UEP salary. The state-sponsored retirement plan is responsible for
MEARREBEHERIIN BAXNER the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees
e NBAAERBNRKERET - @Zi and the PRC subsidiaries of the Company have no further
ZE——F+-A=F+—HILFE  BARKE obligations for the actual pension payments or other post-
BT EEH 453,383,000 T (ZE—T & ¢ retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. For
2,437,000/ 7T) © &t EMEREI R E o the year ended 31 December 2011, the retirement plan

contributions amounted to approximately HK$3,383,000
(2010: HK$2,437,000). Contributions to the plan vest

immediately.

AEEETESALENANA-SET
+-A-ARE2ERELHE ((BHS

A
A
-+

A company in the Group operating in Hong Kong has

mi
ki
E‘l

participated in Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF

gl - ZEt B ATEMHTRAEE - ZA Scheme”), which is a defined contribution pension scheme,
A AREEELRT S5%MZT B since 1 December 2000. The Company makes monthly
HE-Z——F+-A=1+T—HBLEFE &K contributions to the scheme based on 5% of the employees’
& B A58 18 € 51 &1 51 4958,000%8 7T (=& basic salaries. For the year ended 31 December 2011, the
— T4 : 56,0008 T) - BIEE K E EHAK Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme were approximately
SENEENHTR  THEUZEXESK HK$58,000 (2010: HK$56,000). The assets of the fund are
BER - R BIHFTIRKEB o held separately from those of the Group and are managed by

independent professional fund managers. Contributions to the

plan vest progressively.
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HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

12. CRIEREER 12.
R-_E——ENANE AEBKHBELQ T
HEFANRBLERATNEMEBY
E-FTVREERRE  UARSRE
257,000,0007T A R¥EH & T H AT HE R %
BAGRERLFMEBERAT ((HER
TR EER  BERTTEATRARSE
BRI ER T EE  c ZHEER -2 ——
ENA+-ARRK -

ERBARERAZ B ILEEEBE
——%#-A-RE=T——#/\A+=R
R EHmMT

A @

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 8 August 2011, a subsidiary of the Group, Yixing Xinwei
Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited, entered into an equity
transfer agreement with two independent third parties to
dispose of its entire interest in Jianghua Yao Nationality
Autonomous County Xinghua Rare Earth Company Limited
("Xinghua Rare Earth”) at a consideration of RMB257,000,000
for cash. Xinghua Rare Earth is principally engaged in
manufacturing and sales of rare earth salts in the PRC. The
disposal was completed on 12 August 2011.

The results of the discontinued operation for the period from 1
January 2011 to 12 August 2011, which have been included in
the consolidated income statement, are as follows:

—E——fF —E-ZF
2011 2010
B & FER FAT
Note HK$' 000 HK$' 000
LR Turnover 5 82,434 208,365
85 & AR Cost of sales 7(c) (76,643) (173,328)
EF Gross profit 5,791 35,037
Hito 2= Other revenue 6 - 2
EREHR Administrative expenses (1,359) (3,551)
H A FE Other income, net = 313
B 53 A v Profit before taxation 4,432 31,801
FRiS Tt Income tax (1,108) (8,133)
BERIEREELZ Profit for the year of
NFE 5 F discontinued operation 3,324 23,668
HEWNBARZHAT  Pre-tax gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Wz (P 3E33) (note 33) 20,823 =
HEHRBRARZ Income tax on disposal of a subsidiary
FTisfi (8,486) =
HEMB AR ZH%  Post-tax gain on disposal of
Wz a subsidiary 12,337 =
REE R 7 Profit for the year 15,661 23,668
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HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

12.

13.

14.

EBRIEREER (&) 12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)
ERIEEEEER-_E——F—A—HZE= The net cash flows of the discontinued operation for the period
E——FNA+ZAHEZRERFEHT from 1 January 2011 to 12 August 2011 are as follows:
m
—EB——fF T
2011 2010
FTHER FAT
HK$' 000 HK$" 000
RERBAEHNIRSFE Net cash generated from operating activities 432 606
BEZHFEANREFE Net cash used in investing activities (554) (666)
MERBAEHNRSIFE Net cash generated from financing activities - =
Re Rt FE Net cash outflow (122) (60)

ERBRERARERT

ARRHEEAELEERNEEEBERY
36,357,000 L (ZE—Z 4 : 19,016,000
BIL) ' ZECHERNAR R ERR ARG o

B e
BE_Z——FR-F-FTF+-A=+—
ALEREFE EFYTRBALSTIRFHB

=
o

EEpBrNEE-_Z——F+_HA=+—
BIEFEZARERSFRIBIL(ZE—F
F ) 54£433,453,0008 L (ZE—F
F:&) FARBEABRABGEERLR
BRAALE -

13.

14.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company
includes a loss of approximately HK$36,357,000 (2010:
HK$19,016,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

DIVIDENDS

No interim dividend has been proposed or declared by the
directors for the two years ended 31 December 2011 and
2010.

A final dividend of HK2 cents per share (2010: Nil) amounting
to approximately HK$33,453,000 (2010: Nil) was proposed by
the directors for the year ended 31 December 2011 and has
not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting

period.
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HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

15. EREF
a) BRELRF

(1)

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

a) Basic earnings per share

FERE R R LI EZT (i) For continuing and discontinued operations

BREKRBANDBERNRES
AFENE R4 2 4 49523,476,000
B (ZZE—Z 4 : 133,359,000
BI) RAFEB BT BRI
19 $01,672,329,0000% (=& —
Z 4 1 1,572,688,0000%) 5 &

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$523,476,000
(2010: HK$133,359,000) and the weighted average
number of 1,672,329,000 (2010: 1,572,688,000)

ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated

mE as follows:
= i t
2011 2010
T F A%
000 000
R—A—RABEETEER Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 1,671,943 1,551,143
FERRMESEITHRND Effect of issue of new shares
2 (ME32(b)) by share placement (note 32(b)) = 21,370
BIEEIRET 2D 21T Effect of shares issued under
22 (5E32(b)) share option scheme (note 32(b)) 386 175
R+ZA=+—B&BaRk Weighted average number
METFHE of ordinary shares
at 31 December 1,672,329 1,572,688
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15. BREF (%) 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
a) BREXEANE) a) Basic earnings per share (Continued)
(i) KEFFEEEEE (i) From continuing operations
RAREBARIEREFHELE The calculation of basic earnings per share from
(B BRERBFTHRE T continuing operations attributable to owners of the
HRFE Company is based on the following data:
BHNEFFHEMNT Earnings figures are calculated as follows:
= —T%F
2011 2010
TER FAT
HK$'000 HK$' 000
RABIHER AEMN Profit for the year attributable to
REE 5 owners of the Company 523,476 133,359
W ANRAREB AELS Less: Profit for the year from discontinued
REBKRIEEEER operation attributable to
ZARE R s A owners of the Company (14,878) (22,485)

REFEELEBRER Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings

EXRRANME 287 per share from continuing operations 508,598 110,874
RRAFBELCEEBRBEKRIEL The denominators used are the same as those
BEBIA S M FXHE@Q) detailed in note (a)(i) above for continuing and
()FraFitiE MR - discontinued operations.
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HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

15. 8REF (&)
a) SREAERF(E)

(ir)

REERIELEEBERELRR
FAEER0.8IBI(ZF—FF:
1.43%8L) TIIRBER B B KL LK
B 2 AFE R F14,878,000
B (ZZE—F4F : 22,485,000%
TL)ETE o

HRARELLEERBRERER
BEBAA 2D &R XK Q)
()VPrEr it ZE AR -

b) SREFRA

(i)

SAEAT R ORI AE R

HEZET——F+ZA=+—
BLEFEZ2BREZAF IR
BARBIHESE AEIERFAL
523,476,000 L (ZE—ZF :
133,359,000/ 7T.) K & i AR hn#E
19 $01,672,541,0000% (= F —
F 4 1 1,573,349,0000%) 5 &
mF :

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

a) Basic earnings per share (Continued)

(ii)  From discontinued operation

Basic earnings per share for the discontinued
operation is HK0.89 cents (2010: HK1.43 cents)
per share based on the profit for the year from the
discontinued operation of HK$14,878,000 (2010:
HK$22,485,000).

The denominators used are the same as those
detailed in note (a)(i) above for continuing and

discontinued operations.

b) Diluted earnings per share

(i)

For continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for
the year ended 31 December 2011 is based on
the profit attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$523,476,000 (2010:
HK$133,359,000) and the weighted average
number of 1,672,541,000 (2010: 1,573,349,000)

ordinary shares, calculated as follows:

—E——F —E-TF
2011 2010
TR T
‘000 "000
R+=—A=+—8H Weighted average number of
2 EBAR 2 MREF ordinary shares at 31 December 1,672,329 1,572,688
BB A E R T 2 Effect of deemed issue of shares under
RIEAETREHITRG the Company's share option scheme
52 (ff5E34) for nil consideration (note 34) 212 661
R+ZA=+—H2E@I  Weighted average number of ordinary
ZINEFG 8 (#E) shares (diluted) at 31 December 1,672,541 1,573,349
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15. BREF (&) 15.

by EREEERFN(HE)
(i) KEFELERE
ARREAARGEREFELE
B2 BREERNIIRET

EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
b) Diluted earnings per share (Continued)
(i) From continuing operations
The calculation of diluted earnings per share from

continuing operations attributable to owners of the

HETE Company is based on the following data:
BANBFENAT Earnings figures are calculated as follows:
—E-—fF —E-ZF
2011 2010
FEx FHT
HK$’'000 HK$' 000
KABHEA AEL Profit for the year attributable to
REE % F owners of the Company 523,476 133,359
W ARDRERAEMN Less: Profit for the year from discontinued
REERIELEER operation attributable to
ZARFE R owners of the Company (14,878) (22,485)
KERBEKLEKHLEN  Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings
BERAME 2 BF per share from continuing operations 508,598 110,874

ARABELLERBE RO RIER
EEBRA A SR D)
(VFrFF st &R o

(i) KB ERIAE &
%aaﬂﬁ,ﬁé%%iﬂﬁ%ﬁ%E
MAFRO.8IEI (=T —FF :
1.437% L) Th R B 2R E BRIERE
B2 RFEHH14,878,000
BT (ZZE—Z4F : 22,485,000%
TO)ETE o

HREFELEEBRER L
BEBA 28 HE FXXHEDb)
(i) ﬁﬁ'n$ %*EH °

The denominators used are the same as those
detailed in note (b)(i) above for continuing and

discontinued operations.

(iii)  From discontinued operation
Diluted earnings per share for the discontinued
operation is HK0.89 cents (2010: HK1.43 cents)
per share based on the profit for the year from the
discontinued operations of HK$14,878,000 (2010:
HK$22,485,000).

The denominators used are the same as those
detailed in note (b)(i) above for continuing and

discontinued operations.
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HE=

F——H+=-A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2011

/'\ﬁgiﬁd:
AREREBIEES
RMBEAMBREEAFSR LD EHI R
BARER R AR BERRAZITH
REND2BANBERIERKRAFEH2E
=8 A&EE25 THEZHSHMAT :

Bt HERHERIER (BERAE

an)

ik B3 % 8 i N & (
EmEEY)

BRESREE

a) IBEE -EEREE
RBEBBWBEREEAFEST - RERE
MBHRREE LD LER DIRBARE
BITBARRTEIBRRERIED
BEERAEAER —BzARR
Hoptms  AEBTHAZERT
FIREEREE2HDAEIGZFE
EERARE:

NHEERRMAERRENEER
RBEE BETBERADEEMER 2K
D EMEEEE - DA EEREE
NEZRERHE R EE 2 BN
o ARE R REMEMNK - AR
HERERZRITER  BAEER
PEZEEBZEFO B2 EMEREIE -

=

ll
R
7 &8

16. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions,

which

are organised by business lines. On adoption of HKFRS 8,

Operating segments, and in a manner consistent with the

way in which information is reported internally to the Chief

Executive Officer, who has been identified as the Group's

chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource

allocation and performance assessment, the Group has

presented two reportable segments as follows:

Rare earth: The manufacturing and sales of rare earth
products (including fluorescent products)

Refractory: The manufacturing and sales of refractory
products (including high temperature ceramics
products and magnesium grains)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

In accordance with HKFRS 8, segment information
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
has been prepared in a manner consistent with the
information used by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer
for the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments. In this regard,
the Group's Chief Executive Officer monitors the results,
assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable

segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible and intangible
assets and current assets with the exception of other
corporate assets which are unallocated to an individual
reportable segment. Segment liabilities include trade
payables, accruals and other payables attributable to
the manufacturing and sales activities of the individual
segments and bank borrowings managed directly by the
segments with the exception of other corporate liabilities
which are unallocated to an individual reportable

segment.
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16. B/ E (&)

a)

SWEK AERAE(H)

3t RS TSR E 2 RO B2 WEE
REXRZEH BEGELEEL FER
BRFEIRHE  SREZEHH -

ERALEATER ZFTEFE A
AEMBRF S RBMEIDEFR | ([ AR
EBIT)) o RetELRAEMBRF S RHIE
wBH AEBZEFGRIFERE

| 23 ‘%ﬁMZEHWﬁ —#
A MR ERAREMARS B AE
3

BRESHREALBITZ D BERI
EEENEREBBEYE (R150 5HE
HE) MOPDEREEIESEHBRK
ERZHEMARFS - TE - #HEK
MEEBIA RS BN E ¢%ﬁ%z
HRBOBEELEZ DEBER -
%ﬁﬁmz%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁwm%%%
=HZEBIEEE -

16. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or

amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is
("Adjusted

EBIT"). To arrive at adjusted profit before interest and

“adjusted profit before interest and taxes”

taxes, the Group's profits are further adjusted for items
not specifically attributed to an individual reportable
segment, such as interest income and other unallocated

corporate expenses.

In addition to the receiving of segment information
concerning adjusted EBIT, management is provided with
segment information concerning revenue (including
inter-segment sales), interest income and expense from
cash balances and borrowings managed directly by the
segments, depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets used
by the segments in their operations. Inter-segment sales
are priced with reference to prices charged to external

parties for similar orders.
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6. DEW|E (&)

a) HEBE -EBEREEHE)

EW

REREETAEETRERAE

NEERRAGEIBERAZAREZ

16. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the Group’s Chief Executive Officer for

HBAOBEREIOT - the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the year is as follows:
BELEEE BALLEEEE &e
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Consolidated
Bt fitk It it
Rare earth Refractory Sub-total Rare earth
_g__ﬁ —7 zﬁ g__g :ﬁ; ﬁ;i §__$ —7 7# g__$ —? ?g g__ﬁ —7 7#
201 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 201 2010 201 2010
Ten TEr TEx  TEn  TRrn  TEr  TEn  TEn  TEn TERn
HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HKS'000
(&Hxi) (EHxi) (EHzi) (EH&i) (EFxi)
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
RESNER 2 UA Revenue from external customers 1765808 693702 447546 423,053 2213354 1116755 82434 208365 2295788 1,325,120
AHEkE Inter-seqment revenue - 15 - - - 15 - - - 15
2RI BhE Reportable segment revenue 1765808 693717 447,546 423,053 2213354 1116770 82,434 208365 2,295,788 1,325,135
2RAFER Reportable seqment profi
(B %eR) (adjusted EBIT) 697,014 94646 56274 64053 753,288 158,699 4432 31734 757,720 190,433
HEHA Interest income 3875 1012 309 2206 698 3218 - 2 6% 30
BEHA Finance costs (4,135) (707) (1,563) (186)  (5,698) (893) - - (569%) (893)
ENTHEL: Depreciation of property, plant
g and equipment (34862) (39.487)  (50,657) (48,767  (85519)  (88,254)  (1,528)  (2389) (87,047)  (90,643)
BERHTRMLY Amortisation of prepaid lease
ik payments on land under
operating leases (2325 (2231)  (3131)  (3,047)  (5456)  (5278) (350) (576)  (5,806) (5,854
BRAELEY Amortisation of intangible assets (12,295 (11,799) - - (12205 (11,799 (12,260) (19,114)  (24,555) (30,913
HEME BERFE Nt gain on disposal of property,
LhEEE plant and equipment 488 - 3 705 3 = -0 3
HEBERNTEN Gain on disposal of prepaid lease
e E payment on land under
operating leases - - 8389 - 838 - - - 83y -
EUEFREMERS  Impaiment loss on trade and
ZHEFE other recelvables (@478) (1,29 (84200 (8939 (12.898) (10,231) - (139)  (12,89) (10,970)
EREZRAMELT  Reversal of impaiment loss on
LHEEERE trade and other receivables 2 390 359 4606 5813 499% - - 5813 499%
2EABEE Reportable segment assets 2,926,600 1974237 1,959,029 1786928 4,885,629 3,761,165 - 425874 4,885,629 4,187,039
2RHPER Reportable seqment liabiltes 711488 603941 193716 190863 905,204 794,809 - 147435 905204 942,044
FEERSNY Additions to non-current
HE: seqment assets:
SR TE ~ Property, plant and equipment 19404 13590 7820 218 31 1578 554 670 27,785 16,39
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16. D E|E (&) 16. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
b) EHH/BEF BEEREBEZHE b) Reconciliations of reportable segment profit, assets
and liabilities
BELEER BRIESEER E
Continuing operations  Discontinued operation Consolidated
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“§--§ C-%-%% Z%--f -%-% “g--f C-T-%ZF
ThR Thn THR ThR Thr Thn
HKS$' 000 HK$" 000 HK$' 000 HK$" 000 HKS$' 000 HK$" 000
(EfRL) (ZHEL) (EfEL)
(restated) (restated) (restated)
g Revenue
2R P& Reportable segment revenue 2,213,354 1,116,770 82434 208365 2295788 1,325,135
s A B Elimination of inter-segment revenue - (15) - - = (15)
FREXE Consolidated turnover 2,213,354 1,116,755 82,434 208365 2,295,788 1,325,120
el Profit
ZHAHPEA Reportable segment profit 753,288 158,699 4,432 31,734 751,720 190,433
A BEER Elimination of inter-segment profit - - - - - -
RAREBHNZP Reportable segment profit derived
LERAHBEH from Group's external customers 753,288 158,699 4,432 31,734 757,720 190,433
Eftilia Other revenue 7,008 4,849 - 2 7,008 4,851
FOREMBANFE Unallocated other income, net 5,188 188 - 65 5,188 253
BER A Finance costs (5,698) (8,438) - - (5,698) (8,438)
EREHEREREZDE  Share of losses of jointly controlled entities — (12,244) (832) = = (12,244) (832)
HEMBARZHAME  Pretax gain on disposal of a subsidiary - = 20,823 = 20,823 =
AAECERT Unallocated corporate expenses (31,459) (8,269) - = (31,459) (8,269)
,r A EREER Consolidated profit before taxation 716,083 146,197 25,255 31,801 741,338 177,998
TR Income tax (176,285) (30,824) (1,108) (8,133) (177,393) (38,957)
Hi'%WE’AETZPﬁ &% Income tax on disposal of a subsidiary = = (8,486) = (8,486) =
FRRBRER Consolidated profit after taxation 539,798 115,373 15,661 23,668 555,459 139,041
EE Assets
ERHHEE Reportable segment assets 4,885,629 3,761,165 - 425874 4,885,629 4,187,039
A BEENIIE Elimination of inter-segment receivables ~ (609,058)  (726,960) - - (609,058)  (726,960)
4,276,571 3,034,205 - 425874 4,276,571 3,460,079
FAREERALEEEER Unallocated cash and cash equivalents 71,212 158,523 = = 71,212 158,523
APBLEEE Unallocated corporate assets 196,587 114,926 - = 196,587 114,926
EERELE Deferred tax assets 8,223 9,831 - 14,045 8,223 23,876
qREHE Tax recoverable 1,450 8,586 - - 1,450 8,586
GREELR Consolidated total assets 4,554,103 3,326,071 - 439919 4554103  3,765990
=1 Liabilities
2HHE %1 Reportable segment liabilities 905,204 794,809 - 147435 905204 942,44
HHAHBEENTIE Elimination of inter-segment payables (609,058)  (586,607) - (140353) (609,058  (726,960)
296,146 208,202 - 7,082 296,146 215,284
AELERE Unallocated corporate liabilities 4,730 5,018 - = 4,730 5,018
EEHBEak Deferred tax liabilities 31,505 35,481 - 59,479 31,505 94,960
ERHE Tax payable 56,721 7,584 - 2,209 56,721 9,793
FrAfkiE Consolidated total liabilities 389,102 256,285 - 68,770 389,102 325,055
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16. D EBRE (&)

(9]

i & & R

TR BEOAEERBHINEPZ
W REEE 2% - BER&E
REBHTENTHES - B EE -
EERAEREGEE 2 #ES ((FEFE
MBEE]) FTEEMNER - BFM
i B R IR R S E @ T 8 Hh B
DoRNEERBDEEMEHE  5Y
¥ BEREEARCEELHTEN
THHEMEREEERMENEE
D REFREEREEMSREAMSE
RS BIEEE D - BERZEH TR
ZERMEREEEMEHEE S

() #HEFZME

16. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

)

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers and (i) the Group’s property, plant
and equipment, prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases, intangible assets, goodwill and interest
in jointly controlled entities (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of customers is based
on the location at which the services were provided or
the goods delivered. The geographical location of the
specified non-current assets is based on the physical
location of the assets, in the case of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases, the location of the operations to which
they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets and
goodwill, and the location of the operations, in the case
of interest in jointly controlled entities.

(i)  Revenues from external customers

—E——F —ET-TF
2011 2010
FHEx FHET
HK$’'000 HK$' 000
(EFFa)
(restated)

BESEER Continuing operations
R (R Eh) The PRC (place of domicile) 1,449,758 856,182
=N Japan 229,100 142,025
BN Europe 355,428 80,026
ESE The United States of America 164,164 30,401
Hifth Others 14,904 8,121
763,596 260,573
2,213,354 1,116,755

DHRIEEEER Discontinued operation
PR (GEff i) The PRC (place of domicile) 82,434 208,365
2,295,788 1,325,120
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16. D EW/E (&)

9]

16. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
#h E &R (1) ¢) Geographical information (Continued)
(i) BEIETEBEE (i) Specified non-current assets
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
FERT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$" 000
(EFFxM)
(restated)
BFEREER Continuing operations
(5 2h) The PRC (place of domicile) 785,409 911,915
H A Japan - =
BM Europe = -
35 The United States of America = =
H Others 110,958 72,051
110,958 72,051
896,367 983,966
ERIEEEER Discontinued operation
R (GEf i Eh) The PRC (place of domicile) = 368,211
896,367 1,352,177
ERTEEFZEHR d) Information about major customers

KEBEPERSH REBEEZ
E——f+-_A=+—HLFE"
BE— 2RI BELPZHEHERED
#237,307,0008 L (Z T —EF:
172,860,000 7C) ' HBAKE & %
BB Z210% °

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes
only one customer in rare earth segment with whom
sales amounted to approximately HK$237,307,000 (2010:
HK$172,860,000) for the year ended 31 December 2011

that exceeded 10% of the Group's turnover.
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17. B8 17. GOODWILL
~EH The Group
FET
HK$' 000
A Cost
R-ZZE—ZTF—F—H At 1 January 2010 297,139
ERE=R Exchange differences 5,587
RZE—ZEF+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2010 and 1 January 2011
BT A—§ 302,726
HEM B A (FE33) Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) (70,734)
ERZE=R Exchange differences 7,368
R-ZBE——F+=-_A=+—8 At 31 December 2011 239,360
ZitRE Accumulated impairment
R-ZE-—FTF—-—H—H At 1 January 2010 211,159
EHER Exchange differences 2,596
R-ZE-ZF+_A=+—H At 31 December 2010 and 1 January 2011
) i 213,755
EHEZR Exchange differences 3,829
R-_E—F+=-_A=+—H At 31 December 2011 217,584
BREE Carrying amount
R_ZT——F+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2011 21,776
R-ZE-—ZF+_A=+—H At 31 December 2010 88,971



2 Bt 85 1R % Bt &

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

17. & (E)
HORSEN (BERE) 2RENR

HREANRTNE  BENSEEAKEZT
FIEHBIMMBR B (RMR B -

. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating unit containing

goodwill

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to

the Group's cash-generating units (CGUs) identified as follows:

rEE

The Group
—E——F —E-ZF
2011 2010
TER FAT
HK$' 000 HK$" 000

REHASEN Pl Cash-generating unit Segment
mrteBEM %t Rare earth metal products Rare earth 21,776 20,747
(Kt 7E(a)) (note(a))

LB fE (fsE(b) #E Rare earth salts (note(b)) Rare earth = 68,224
21,776 88,971

RZZEENFF AT NLBKRBERMTER
AL ERAR ([REaHLE])100%
AP EE £ WA AR M AR SR BB R0R
BLAHANEERABZATE  TERE
HERHERLIeBER BRI -

RZZF——F+-_A=+—H AEEZ2Z
BASEWEBE B A ERBEXLER
BURETEE R EER AR AR ([FARE )
b2l BRLeBERIRINRS B
ZRERFETR - B BER KR
ReBuz RO LRECAEERE
BT ZEHERAREEREMAEER
FHRZMEBRE (ERHLEBERZRK
BREEMMFHERREEFHAE) &
BZHReREBTN - BHAFHZRERE
TER T XAl 2 et b R EEE - B REY
ERLBLIEBER MBS B ML
X ARARPFHERE -

Note:

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of 100% equity interest
in Heping County Dongye Rare Earth Company Limited (“Dongye
Rare Earth”) on 29 December 2008 represented the excess of
the cost of acquisition of Dongye Rare Earth over the Group's
interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Dongye Rare Earth. Dongye Rare Earth is principally engaged in
manufacturing and sales of rare earth metal products within the
rare earth segment.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group performed an impairment
review for the CGU of rare earth metal products with reference
to the valuation carried out by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting
Limited (“Vigers”), independent qualified professional valuers
not connected with the Group. The recoverable amount of CGU
of rare earth metal products is determined based on value in
use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period, which is based on the average business and
operation life over the CGU of rare earth metal products. Cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated rates stated below. The growth rates do not exceed
the respective long-term average growth rates for the business in
which the CGU of rare earth metal products operates.
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17. & (E)
BORSEN (BEEE) 2RENR (&)

(#8)
EREEFEMBZEIZRKR

17.

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment test for cash-generating unit containing

goodwill (Continued)

Note:

(a)

(Continued)
Key assumptions used for value in use calculations:

rEE
The Group
— g5 —T—TF
2011 2010
FEA= Gross margin 28% 29%
ERX Growth rate 3%-11% 3%-10%
= Discount rate 20% 20%

EREREBERBRLETSE R ERE
EREENRRFEER - ZHFRERH
AIR - WRMARE D B2 FERR - EEE
TG BLieBERZRIGREEM 2T
WEREM A2 RR DR ERAEES
BAeBERteBER RRREBEMZ
AR T (B3R 48 L T MR [ R

BEEREBEFE HLEBEMZHI
ReBuzrlEeEaREREE B
b RBE-F——FR-F-FF+ -]
=+ —ALMBEFEZHEREER AL &
BreBER BEERRBESSE -

RZZBZNFE+ZA=+—HlERER LT
100% R #E P72 A 2 7 B 4E BLEE TR + 7
PRAB AR B RS BER LA BRI EER
BEZATE BERLTBNUFRERH
ERLTEE BHLOM-

RZZB-—ZE+-_A=+—H ZAEEZZ
BABH R 2 7 - HR L EREZ RIAS
B2 RBERAETR o BB RER
ResBzakmeRmnREEREENE
BT ZEHECRARBEREMATERER
FHMZ MEIRE (RRH L8R RER
SEMHNTHEBREEFHAE)FEL
ReRnERA - BEAFHHERETNRE
BT XA fhat L RHEH - BRRY FEiE
HER T EE Y RRRSEMUMEERXBZE
BEHFHERE -

Management determined the budgeted gross margin and
the average growth rate based on past performance and its
expectation for market development. This discount rate used
is pre-tax rate and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
segment. Management also believes that any reasonably change
in assumptions on which the recoverable amount of the CGU of
rare earth metal products is based would not cause the carrying
amount of the CGU of rare earth metal products to exceed
recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of rare earth metal products
is higher than the carrying amount based on value in use
calculations. Accordingly, no impairment loss on goodwill of rare
earth metal products is recognised in the consolidated income
statement for the two years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of 100% equity interest
in Xinghua Rare Earth on 31 December 2008 represented the
excess of the cost of acquisition of Xinghua Rare Earth over the
Group's interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of Xinghua Rare Earth. Xinghua Rare Earth is principally
engaged in manufacturing and sales of rare earth salts within the
rare earth segment.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group performed an impairment
review for the CGU of rare earth salts with reference to the
valuation carried out by Vigers. The recoverable amount of
CGU of rare earth salts is determined based on value in use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management covering a
five-year period, which is based on the average business and
operation life over the CGU of rare earth salts. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated
rates stated below. The growth rates do not exceed the
respective long-term average growth rates for the business in
which the CGU of rare earth salts operates.
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17. & (E)
BORSEN (BERE) 2RENR (8)

GEE

(b)

(%)
EREEFEMBZIZRR

17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating unit containing

goodwill (Continued)

Note:

(b)

(Continued)
Key assumptions used for value in use calculations:

FEE

The Group
—EF-%F
2010

= i
R
A%

Gross margin
Growth rate
Discount rate

ERERBBERALETHER 2 ERE
EEEENERFEBEE - ZIREXBH
X YRREBD B2 R - EEE
TARME ML R REUR S B2 AT E
REMRAZBRRBBREMSBES) - HA
BEYH L EA MRR B 2 REER
BE RO 5K -

BREERABENE BLEACRRESE
Lz REeBENEREE - Bt - RE
E_T-EFET-A=+—-RUEFEZEA
Y g R A0 B ph 6 L B AR 2 R B RE R E S
18 o AN EE1 2P R AL - T AR BRER
SENERFALE -

44%
3%-20%
21%

Management determined the budgeted gross margin and
the average growth rate based on past performance and its
expectation for market development. This discount rate used
is pre-tax rate and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
segment. Management also believes that any reasonably change
in assumptions on which the recoverable amount of CGU of rare
earth salts is based would not cause the carrying amount of the
CGU of rare earth salts to exceed recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of rare earth salts is higher
than the carrying amount based on value in use calculations.
Accordingly, no impairment loss on goodwill of rare earth salts
is recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year
ended 31 December 2010. As detailed in note 12, the CGU of
rare earth salts has been disposed during the year.
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18. % BERRE

18.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

a) A&KH a) The Group
4 BLERR
BRBT  BEREE k%8 RE HRIR B
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor  Construction-
ownuse  equipment  and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total
T T i Tin T Tin
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$" 000 HK$"000
(&) (EF&d)  (EFRM)  (B¥RR)
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
RADREE Cost or valuation
R-Z-%F8-H At 1 January 2010 256,262 865,810 7457 6,322 77,251 1,213,102
Bk (W) Surplus on revaluation (note i) 19,063 = = = = 19,063
AE Additions 406 15,032 99 604 257 16,398
HERTEEN Transfer from construction-in-
progress - 53,813 - - (53,813) -
RE Disposals - (2,302) - (179) = (2,481)
ZHTERS Elimination of accumulated
depreciation (38,104) - - - - (38,104)
EizR Exchange differences 8,922 31,276 29 27 1,756 42,430
RZE-ZE+-A=1—H  At31 December 2010 and
k=%-——-%-8-A 1 January 2011 246,549 963,629 7,805 6,974 25,451 1,250,408
AE Additions - 5,451 600 7,731 14,003 27,785
hERIREA Transfer from construction-in-
progress 71 5,291 - - (5,362) -
RE Disposals (16,097) (235,348) - (1162) - (252,607)
HEMBEAR (H333) Disposal of a subsidiary
(note 33) (18,010) (12,501) (112) (1,102) (13,038) (44,763)
ZHNERY Elimination of accumulated
depreciation (19,677) - - - - (19,677)
EiZR Exchange differences 11,607 42,060 382 497 1315 55,861
R-F--F+-A=1-H At 31 December 2011 204,443 768,582 8,675 12,938 22,369 1,017,007
g Comprising:
RZF——F+ZA=+—H  At31 December 2011
oS At cost - 768,582 8,675 12,938 22,369 812,564
ffhE At valuation 204,443 - - = = 204,443
204,443 768,582 8,675 12,938 22,369 1,017,007
RZE-FEFZA=F-HB  At31 December 2010
RIE At cost - 963,629 7,805 6,974 25,451 1,003,859
ffhfE At valuation 246,549 - - - - 246,549
246,549 963,629 7,805 6,974 25451 1,250,408
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18. W% - MEKRRE (&) 18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
a) AKEEHE) a) The Group (Continued)
Kt BLERE
BRgT:  BERRG R%E AE ERIE &
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor  Construction-
ownuse  equipment  and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total

T Tk T T ThL T
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(BH&E) (E&d)  (BHRD)  (EHRid)

(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
ZHRERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
R-2-%4-f-A At 1 January 2010 18,396 548,123 6,761 4,280 - 577,560
REEHE Charge for the year 18,741 70,806 279 827 = 90,653
REED Written back on disposals = (2,302) = (179) = (2,481)
BhEH Elimination on revaluation (38,104) = = = = (38,104)
EiZZ Exchange differences 97 20,259 29 160 = 21,615
RZE-FEF-A=1—H  At31 December 2010

k=%-——§-5-H and 1 January 2011 - 636,886 7,269 5,088 - 649,243
RERGR Charge for the year 2045 65,261 265 1,079 - 87,057
RERN Written back on disposals (646) (192,325) - (1,045) - (194,016)

HEMBAREE (F1:33)  Written back on disposal of
a subsidiary (note 33) (612) (3412) (87) (525) - (4,636)
ELugine Elimination on revaluation (19,677) - = = = (19,677)
EREE Exchange differences 483 28,389 349 147 = 29,468
RZE——FFZA=+—H  At31 December 2011 - 534,799 7,79 4,844 - 547,439

BEE Carrying amount

RIE——FFZA=+—H  At31 December 2011 204,443 233,783 879 8,004 22,369 469,568
RZE-FE+-A=1+—H  At31 December 2010 246,549 326,743 536 1,886 25,451 601,165

117

Annual Report

2011 4



118

Annual Report
2011 3

2 Bt 1 1R % Bt 5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

18. M% -~ BERFRE 5
A E (1)

a)

i)

RIEE BTN S ERES
MBORE 2L -

AREREERBETR-_F——
F+ZA=t—HZEFREDR
BERENZAETZHERE
ER - BRAMEDNEERAR
EZET REBRFMERTEER
RAMBRRZ B FE IR - H®
N BERDERIERRERE

HE -

BHE-T-ZTF+=-A=1+—8H
LFE FEERBFZERR
#:4719,063,0008 TE R EMb 2
T U 5 R FERR

R=—ZF——F+=-_A=+—8"
fiil % F 15 1E B B TR AR 2
T E RORED R - BIEREES
#477/149,391,0008 L (ZE—F
4 :187,927,000/8 7T ) °

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

a)

The Group (Continued)

i)

The buildings held for own use are situated on land

held under medium-term leases in the PRC.

The revaluation of the Group’s buildings held for
own use as at 31 December 2011 has been arrived
at on the basis of valuations carried out on that date
by Vigers. The valuation is based on a depreciable
replacement cost approach and is arrived at by
taking into consideration of the replacement cost of
the buildings and deductions to account for the age,
condition, economic or functional obsolescence and

environmental factors existing at that date.

December 2010,

revaluation surplus for buildings held for own

For the year ended 31

use of approximately HK$19,063,000 have been

recognised in other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2011, had these buildings held
for own use been carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, the carrying amount
would have been approximately HK$149,391,000
(2010: HK187,927,000).
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18. W% BERRME (@)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

b) ZA&AQTFE b) The Company
WMAEREREE
Office
equipment
and fixtures
FET
HK$' 000
2% Cost
WZE—-F£—-H—H At 1 January 2010 367
RE Additions -
RZE—FTF+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2010 and 1 January 2011 367
k=—Z——%—HF—H
NE Additions 3
W-—E——F+-HA=+—8H At 31 December 2011 370
ZIHE Accumulated depreciation
WZE-—FF£—-H—H At 1 January 2010 332
KEEER Charge for the year 10
R—ZE—ZTF+=-_A=+—H At 31 December 2010 and 1 January 2011 342
k=—Z——%—HF—H
REFER Charge for the year 10
RZE——F+=-HA=+—H At 31 December 2011 352
IREE Carrying amount
RZE——F+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2011 18
RZZE—ZEF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2010 25
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19. REANTHRNLHHES 19. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND UNDER
OPERATING LEASES
rEH
The Group

—EB——F —T—FF

2011 2010

FTHER FAT

HK$' 000 HK$" 000

(EF &)

(restated)

R—R—RZEEE Carrying amount at 1 January 266,050 262,862

BRE Disposals (33,681) =

HEWB QR (FzE33) Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) (27,675) -

NEFEEH Amortisation for the year (5,806) (5,854)

MEN ZR Exchange differences 11,871 9,042

R+ZA=+—B2Z2KEE Carrying amount at 31 December 210,759 266,050

RAEZHE T : Leasehold land in the PRC:

AR 4 Medium-term leases 210,759 266,050
MBmEBMMIEL ZHTWT @ Analysed for reporting purposes as:

MENEE Current asset 4,874 5,956

FERBEE Non-current asset 205,885 260,094

210,759 266,050

RNEFHHEZHA,142,0008 L (ZF—F The amortisation charges of approximately HK$1,142,000

% 1,378,000/ 7T ) 14,664,000/ T (=& (2010: HK1,378,000) and HK$4,664,000 (2010 (restated):

— T4 (FHKM) : 4,476,000 L) 2 Alat HK$4,476,000) for the year are included in cost of sales and

ANGEWRRRFPHERARERERA © administrative expenses respectively in the consolidated income

statement.
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20. B EE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

rEH The Group
BLBYNNS
L@y PHZEN FLEBERZ
BRRBE EXAE RWEXAR #E
Technical
Exclusive  know-how for
right to preliminary Technical
purchase  separation of know-how
rare earth rare earth  for rare earth
minerals minerals metal products Total
FEL FAL THET ThEx
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$ 000 HK$' 000
B Cost
RZZE-FF—-F—H At 1 January 2010 201,822 61,785 116,009 379,616
EHEE Exchange differences 7,021 2,149 4,036 13,206
RZZE-F&+-A=1—8 At 31 December 2010
k=ZE——%F—-HF—H and 1 January 2011 208,843 63,934 120,045 392,822
HEHB A A (fF33) Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) (216,528) (66,287) - (282,815)
EREE Exchange differences 7,685 2,353 5,952 15,990
RZE——%+ZA=+—-H At 31 December 2011 - - 125,997 125,997
RitE Accumulated amortisation
RZE—FTF—-F—A At 1 January 2010 12,614 6,178 11,601 30,393
KEEHH Amortisation for the year 12,830 6,284 11,799 30,913
ERER Exchange differences 661 325 609 1,595
R-ZZE-F&+-A=1+—8 At 31 December 2010
k=E——%F—-HF—H and 1 January 2011 26,105 12,787 24,009 62,901
AEEHH Amortisation for the year 8,229 4,031 12,295 24,555
o W8 A 1 (M 3E33) Written back on disposal of
a subsidiary (note 33) (35,397) (17,338) - (52,735)
ERLEE Exchange differences 1,063 520 1,495 3,078
RZZ——%+ZA=1+—-H At 31 December 2011 - - 37,799 37,799
REE Carrying amount
RZE——F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2011 - - 88,198 88,198
RZE-ZF+ZA=+—-H At 31 December 2010 182,738 51,147 96,036 329,921
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HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

20.

BILEE (&)
a) WIBUBRRBEE

R=ZZTZ+F+—A+HA BEHL
B —REE BN E T FH R LR
HEABEIEG IR I ERBRAR
zmtEyetER ((ZuEml) (—
REFEFMALZAR]) U ER LT
BYBREEE T HE (KB
#) o MEBEEGE  ZHEERER
—E-+FE+—A=tTHERZ20F
HEMAER LI BREERTED -
REZ20F 8 BER T Z A MZM
FER 2 TRV B R

HMIBEBNBRRERESNBE-F
ENE+Z A=+ —HIEFERNKE
IR L 2 XA HHEKERD -

BIBMBRREERAAERERS
B YNERE2ERLIBEHE6F
Myt P G ERAE AT I8

PP 2P A R AREE R
—E——F A+ HHERERLT
2EEER At FAEHE LA

RIER

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

a)

Exclusive right to purchase rare earth minerals

On 15 November 2007, Xinghua Rare Earth entered into
an Agreement for the acquisition of the exclusive right
to purchase rare earth minerals (“Purchase Agreement”)
from a rare earth minerals supplier (“the Supplier”),
a company established in the PRC with exclusive rare
earth mining rights granted by the local government for
exploiting rare earth minerals from a mine located to
Jianghua County of Hunan Province, the PRC. Pursuant
to the Purchase Agreement, the Supplier agreed to
exclusively sell rare earth minerals to Xinghua Rare Earth
throughout a period of 20 years expiring on 30 November
2027. During the 20-year period, Xinghua Rare Earth
is entitled to the exclusive right to purchase rare earth

minerals from the Supplier.

The exclusive right to purchase rare earth minerals was
acquired as part of the business combination of Xinghua

Rare Earth during the year ended 31 December 2008.

The exclusive right to purchase rare earth minerals has
finite useful life and is amortised on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful live of 16 years with reference

to the minerals reserves of the rare earth mine.

As detailed in note 12, this exclusive right has been
disposed during the year because the Group disposed its

entire interest in Xinghua Rare Earth on 12 August 2011.
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20.

BEEE (@)

b)

9]

BIBNAL DB RMERAR

ZBRMEXAMBEBHESTNITR
FRERMEERZHLEDN L5 B
RITER AEARBEE-_TTNEF
TA=T-HLEFERAKBEER
T EBE B2 AR

RMEXANBEEEREAFR &
BEHAREMGE AT ERFERI0FETT
B o

PP 2P FF AL AR AREER
—T——FNAT-BHERERL
ZEEER At FASHELER L
BN D BERM 2 R E R -

BreEBERZRIMEXAR
ZEMEXABELESBTER L
EmZBMERH YIEARBEE—Z
ENEF+A=+—HIFERNKE
MEBERIEH LM BR AR X
o ERAED -

RMBXMBEBEARERFH - A
BEGFIREA-ZTNFE—A—A
R R EE0FEITH -

RARAEERE NE—FEK_T—F
F+-A=+—"HB TEPRBREFEE
ZEREELERE - Bt EHELRER

=

NEE 7 #4557 2 #924,555,0008 ¢ (=&
—Z 4 : 30,913,000 T) Bt A& A W
RZBEEKAR o

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

b)

)

Technical know-how for preliminary separation of
rare earth minerals

The technical know-how relates to the technology on
the preliminary separation of rare earth minerals which
will reduce certain processing and raw materials usage
and was acquired as part of the business combination of
Xinghua Rare Earth during the year ended 31 December
2008.

The technical know-how has finite useful and is amortised
on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful live of 10

years.

As detailed in note 12, this technical know-how for
preliminary separation of rare earth minerals has been
disposed during the year because the Group disposed its

entire interest in Xinghua Rare Earth on 12 August 2011.

Technical know-how for rare earth metal products
The technical know-how relates to the technology on
manufacturing of rare earth products in metal form
and was acquired as part of the business combination
of Heping County Dongye Rare Earth Company Limited
during the year ended 31 December 2008.

The technical know-how has finite useful live and is
amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful

live of 10 years commencing on 1 January 2009.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that there

is no indication of impairment in the carrying amounts of
the intangible assets as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 and

accordingly no impairment is necessary.

The amortisation charge of approximately HK$24,555,000
(2010: HK$30,913,000) for the year is included in cost of sales

in the consolidated income statement.
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21. RIB AR ZRE

HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

NG|
The Company
=t —T-%F
2011 2010
TR FHET
HK$' 000 HK$'000
FETRG - BRAE Unlisted shares, at cost 151,707 151,707

RZZE——F+ZRA=+—H WEBARF

As at 31 December 2011, the details of subsidiaries are as

BT follows:
HRAL/ 28 KERH BEME BEfR ARARKEES/
il PEER ZHHRAH g5 BARRA  BHRRE AREERAEBEAL IERE
Effective percentage
Place and date Registered Issued of equity interests/
of incorporation/ (Class of and fully and fully voting rights held
Name of subsidiary operations shares held paid capital  paid capital by the Company Principal activities
E% [
Directly  Indirectly
% %
RARERAR AERAES 2Rk - WET 100 - REBR
—MANETZAZR
Lee Shing Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary - Us$20 100 = Investment holding
3 December 1998
RHMERES (LB ERAR hE BAER 20000050 - 100 - 85
(M 5H(a)) “ETEF-F-tMA
Wellfire (Shanghai) Company The PRC Contributed 15$200,000 - 100 - Trading
Limited (note (a)) 24 February 2000 capital
Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc. RERRES EER - VEY - 100 KEER
ZEREERACT-H
Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc. British Virgin Islands Ordinary - Us$2 - 100 Investment holding
31 May 2000
HERHARRLRRAR hE HABK  15,660,000%7 - - % HEREE
GE{) “MAZELATLR BrelthEs
Yixing Xinwei Leeshing The PRC Contributed ~ US$15,660,000 - - 95 Manufacturing and
Rare Earth Company 17 July 1993 capital sales of rare earth

Limited (note (b))

oxide products
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21. ARHIB AT ZKRE (&)

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

HRRL/ 28 KERR giftk BRTR ARARGESR/
[if: kA ZHERAH E5l BHERA  BHRRE  BREERABRASYL FEXH
Effective percentage
Place and date Registered Issued of equity interests/
of incorporation/ Class of and fully and fully voting rights held
Name of subsidiary operations shares held paid capital ~ paid capital by the Company Principal activities
E% [
Directly ~ Indirectly
% %
ERFHARHAHERAD hE BAER  17,000,000%7 - - 100 HEREE
(M) —AANEER=1H fAER
Yixing Xinwei Leeshing The PRC Contributed ~ US$17,000,000 - - 100 Manufacturing and
Refractory Materials 30 July 1999 capital sales of refractory
Co., Ltd. (note (a)) products
ERMAEITHERART hE BAER  8520,000%% - - 100 HEREE
(M) S REER
Wuxi Xinwei Fluorescent The PRC Contributed 158,520,000 - - 100 Manufacturing and
Materials Co., Ltd (note (a)) 20 December 2001 capital sales of fluorescent
products
HHERARAT Bk LRk - bk - 100 E%
“AANETAZ T8
Microtech Resources Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HKS2 - 100 Trading
23 October 1998
TERLESERAT Bk TRk - AT - 100 ERXH
“EETE-A-10A
China Rare Earth Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$2 - 100 Dormant
Trading Limited 24 March 2000
ESMASERERRAA i BAER 30,000,000 - - 100 REREE
(B3 (a)) ZTI2EMA-A ERBEER
Wuxi Xinwei High The PRC Contributed ~ HK$30,000,000 - - 100 Manufacturing and
Temperature Ceramics 1 April 2002 capital sales of high
Co., Ltd. (note (a)) temperature ceramics
products
BETHEERERAT E BAER ARE - - 100 BERHEE
(K& ZTECFMA-THA 25,000,007 BUER
Haicheng City Suhai The PRC Contributed ~ RMB25,000,000 - - 100 Manufacturing and 1 2 5
Magnesium Ore Co., 27 April 2002 capital sales of magnesium
Ltd. (note (c)) products Annual Report
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21. ARMIB AR ZKRE (&)

HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AL/ g8 KERG BRI BRTR ARREGES/
WEARZE ZHERAH E5l BHRRA  CHRRE BREERABRASH FEXH
Effective percentage
Place and date Registered Issued of equity interests/
of incorporation/ (Class of and fully and fully voting rights held
Name of subsidiary operations shares held paid capital paid capital by the Company Principal activities
B [
Directly  Indirectly
% %
ERFRLFEEIHERAR hE BAER  3000,000%7 - - 100 REREE
(M3H) ZE5FNRC TR i ABER
Yixing Wellfire The PRC Contributed US$3,000,000 = = 100 Manufacturing and
Nonmetal Materials 27 September 2006 capital sales of refractory
Co., Ltd. (note (a)) related products
BB EERERAT E BAER  3500,000%7 - - 100 BEREE
(M3H) ZZ5RFAAZTI\R FVEm
Hai Cheng Xinwei The PRC Contributed US$3,500,000 - - 100 Manufacturing and
Leeshing Magnesium 28 September 2006 capital sales of magnesium
Resources Co., Ltd. (note (a)) products
ATER AR LATHERAT hE LNV ARH - - % RERHE
(Kz£) “EZTRET-AtEA 20,000,007 HieBER
Heping County The PRC Contributed ~ RMB20,000,000 - - 95 Manufacturing and
Dongye Rare Earth 15 November 2005 capital sales of rare earth
Company Limited (note (c)) metal products
BRARERAT Bk Lk - 1T - 100 HREZR
“3-%5-fZt+=H
Silver Mile Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HKS$ 1 - 100 Investment holding
23 January 2010
EREAESERERAT Giled AR 200,000,000% T - - 100 87
(B (a)) B i I g
Yixing Changrong The PRC Contributed  HK$200,000,000 - - 100 Trading
Trading Development 26 November 2011 capital
Co., Ltd. (note (@)
SRARERAT Bk il - BT - 100 RAER
I S N
Golden Mile Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HKS$1 - 100 Investment holding
6 December 2011
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21.

22.

RHBATZRE (&)

GEE

) BEFEEAEMRIANEBEALE
b) REREAGEMRIADNEBRE

o BRERBAEMEAZABREMERA -

PP B 2 R A (R F 45 B S F RIS
BERFEERZEBES

REREZEHERzES

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Note:

a)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise.

b) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a sino-foreign equity
enterprise.

c)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability
enterprise.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at

the end of the year or within any time during the year.

22. INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

rEH

The Group
—E——-F —E-ZF
2011 2010
FER FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(EFh&kiat)
(restated)
JEEMR - EIEEEFE Unlisted shares, share of net assets 110,940 72,026

AEERARZEHER 2 EEFBEHIIM

Details of the Group's interest in jointly controlled entities are

T~ 8 as follows:
R/ rEEfE
f1.E2 EBERIA EENE  FRROEH EMEREE LA FEREE LA TEEH
Form of Place of Proportion of nominal Proportion
business incorporation/ (Class of value of registered of voting
Name of entity structure operation shares held capital held by the Group power held Principal activity
Z%--f “%2-TF 8--f "F-%f
2011 2010 2011 2010
BEE (hE) Roeare  EMAE il BAEA 099%  49.9% 50% 50%  REREERER
BRAA ()
QOSRAM (China) Incorporated The PRC Contributed 49.9% 49.9% 50% 50%  Manufacturing and sales of
Fluorescent Materials capital fluorescent products

Co. Ltd. (note (a)
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22. REREHER 2ER (&)

22. INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
(Continued)

iR/ REEHE
1.2 FRERKA EEME  FREROEH EREAEEZ LA RSB IH TERH
Form of Place of Proportion of nominal Proportion
business incorporation/ (Class of value of registered of voting
Name of entity structure operation shares held  capital held by the Group power held Principal activity
—%--f “T-%F 8- "%
2011 2010 2011 2010
EXBBTIZREE  HRAA il BAER 40% - 40% - REREERAER
BRAE (M)
Yixing AGC Ceramics  Incorporated The PRC Contributed 40% - 40% - Manufacturing and sales of
Co., Ltd. (note (b)) capital refractory products

Bif et

(@) RNZT—TFRA-F+RAFMEY BE=
Z-ZE+_A=+—HILFE HZME

N 4AFE14,500,000B TEE 2B AT -

(b) RZB——FXALHIMEL BE=Z
——F+ZA=+—HILFE  HZMER

#8%815,000,000F TEE 2B X I -

AEBERNAFEGE R 2R H B AR

Note:

(@) Incorporated on 20 May 2010, its total registered capital of
EURO14,500,000 has been fully paid during the year ended 31
December 2010.

(b) Incorporated on 7 June 2011, its total registered capital of

USD15,000,000 has been fully paid during the year ended 31
December 2011.

Details of the summarised financial information on the Group’s

EFEHINMAT equity interest in jointly controlled entities are as follows:

—E——F —E-TF

2011 2010

FExT FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$' 000

MENEE Current assets 61,663 48,867
FERBEE Non-current assets 139,940 23,981
mEAE Current liabilities (56,810) (822)
FERBEE Non-current liabilities (33,853) =
BEFE Net assets 110,940 72,026
WA Income 10,456 42
F Expenses (22,700) (874)
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23. MHEERES 23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE EQUITY SECURITIES

AEERAEADF
The Group and the Company
—E-2F ZETNF
2010 2009
TET FHET
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000

BRAFENEZEE L™ Listed equity securities at fair value

w5 in Hong Kong 6,720 14,240

REFREFERNEEMBEEREALZE A H
HERDSEFEREEBEE7,520,0008 T
(ZZE—Z 4 :15,760,000/87T) °

R-ZE——F+=-A=+—8 ATV EHE
HER 25 E5 B4 %823,280,0008 L (=& —
TETEL) EF ESRRAEMAZR
BIEBEA  METETBRRARBRKEE
WE - B BBYATEFEERENRE
U 28 3% BE AR (B /5 1823,280,000/8 L (= &

—TF THI) o

R-EBE-ZBEFR_FT——F+_A=+—
B ARABYUFNTEESERTERERZL
ERREFFZETRAIZEIESE -

The Group recognised gross loss for these available-for-sale
equity securities of HK$7,520,000 (2010: HK$15,760,000) in

other comprehensive income during the year.

As at 31 December 2011, the accumulated gross
loss recognised in the fair value reserve amounted to
HK$23,280,000 (2010: HKS$Nil) in which the directors
considered that such accumulated loss has become significant
and the decline in the market price might not be recovered
in the foreseeable future. Therefore, an impairment loss of
HK23,280,000 (2010: HK$Nil) has been recognised in the
consolidated income statement by transferring from the fair

value reserve.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2011, Mr. Huang Chunhua, an
independent non-executive director of the Company, was the
deputy chairman of the listed company for these listed equity

securities.
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24. 7K

a) HAMBRARZEEER

24.

INVENTORIES

a)

Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise:

rEH

The Group
—E——f& —T-TF
2011 2010
FHExT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(EF )
(restated)
JR#4 # Raw materials 245,668 306,243
8 m Work in progress 218,573 124,102
EERK fh Finished goods 832,015 175,668
1,296,256 606,013

b) BRANXIFESEZAMMOT ;

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense is as follows:

rER

The Group
—E——F T -TF
2011 2010
FHET FHET
HK$' 000 HK$" 000
(BFEM)
(restated)
BEEFEZREE Carrying amount of inventories sold 1,183,436 1,044,358
FE#MBR Write down of inventories 91,073 16,059
FEMEkER Reversal of write down of inventories (37,944) (23,371)
1,236,565 1,037,046

T A Attributable to:

SFEICE TS Continuing operations 1,159,922 863,718
AR B ETE Discontinued operation 76,643 173,328
1,236,565 1,037,046
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24,

25.

FE @B 24. INVENTORIES (Continued)

EEFEMBELTDERT A REANE
TERRNEFHRETERFEIHEER
ATEmZ BRI AIERFEEM -

BURERREMERR  BAARER 25
BE

The reversal of write down of inventories arose due to an

increase in the estimated net realisable value of certain

products as a result of change in market condition and sales of

certain products which had been written down to net realisable

value in prior years.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

AND DEPOSITS

rEE ¥ /NG
The Group The Company
B —T-THF —T-——F —IT-FF
2011 2010 2011 2010
FHx FHET FHET FHET
HK$’' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
(EFEM)
(restated)
G E S Trade debtors and bills receivables 405,898 371,874 = =
B REEE (MiEE(C)  Less: Impairment loss (note (c)) (35,544) (26,821) = =
EUWEE R MBI ZZYE + Trade debtors and bills
F 58 (KT E(b)) receivables, net (note (b)) 370,354 345,053 = =
Hfth UK Other receivables 46,644 20,811 = 29
B RERE (MfEE(c)  Less: Impairment loss (note (c)) (1,291) (3,061) = =
45,353 17,750 - 29
JENHRZEFERE Amounts due from jointly
FE (M 7E26) controlled entities (note 26) 21,318 7,169 = -
JiE Us A BT /BB 22 R FRIB Amount due from a former
subsidiary 166,380 - - -
Sk R R Loans and receivables 603,405 369,972 - 29
BRNFRERES Prepayments and deposits 101,961 89,751 774 850
705,366 459,723 774 879

131

Annual Report

2011 4



132

Annual Report
2011 4

2 Bt 1 1R % Bt 5
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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25. EWERR R EMERR AARER 25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

B& (&) AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
M3E Note:
a)  FTAEMBRFR R H At EOGR « TR B kiR a) Al of the trade and other receivables, prepayments and deposits
SR EWRATH B AR FIEEHTR—FR and amount due from a former subsidiary are expected to be
e e recovered within one year.
b) RERERREREEREZABEIZRER b)  The ageing analysis of the trade debtors and bills receivables
AW - presented based on the invoice date is as follows:
rEE
The Group
—E——fF —T-THF
2011 2010
TR FHT
HK$’'000 HK$' 000
BNEAZ6ME A LA Current to less than 6 months 332,690 314,178
61 AZ1FELR 6 months to less than 1 year 33,507 26,974
122F AR 1 to less than 2 years 15,924 12,602
2F L F Over 2 years 23,777 18,120
405,898 371,874
B ERERR R ERE R Less: Impairment loss on trade debtors and
HEEE bills receivables (35,544) (26,821)
370,354 345,053
REEGRTHESHEF3021808 2 FH1E The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 180 days to
=i its trade customers.
REBEERTMEE P KB BEE T R R Credit is offered to customers following an assessment of their
FEERY - AEBAMBREFPHITEER financial abilities and payment track record. Credit limits are
B EEASESRAEZHAETHITER set out for all customers and these can be exceeded only with
FERE -HARFETHAEAEEEERR the approval of senior officers of the Group. Business with
CEBRBRRCEEET EREEEER customers considered to have a credit risk is conducted on a cash
HY 2 P RR R % e M R AR 0 BRAE W) o basis. Management monitors overdue trade debtors and bills

receivables and follows up collections.
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HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

25. BRI R EAEWE - B FKER  25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS
Be @) AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
MisE : () Note: (Continued)
o EHERFRE M FURE ¢ Impairment of trade and other receivables
FE R S R Eo A PR B 2 # B T The movement of allowance on trade and other receivables are as
follows:
rEH
The Group
—2——F T -TF
2011 2010
FHAT FHT
HK$’' 000 HK$' 000
n—H—H At 1 January 29,882 23,005
RNEERKERREM Reversal of impairment loss on trade and other
JEWR FRL(E B 18 B o) receivables during the year (5,813) (4,996)
AEEDHERZERERER Impairment loss on trade and other receivables
R H Al R E 1B recognised during the year 12,898 10,970
HEHE AR Disposal of a subsidiary (1,745) =
EHER Exchange differences 1,613 903
R+ZRA=+—H At 31 December 36,835 29,882

P B ok T LA B M R 2 R (B S R R R E
BRIIBR - BRI B R AR Z Y@ 1R
FHM  EZBERT - BUEBRREREKE
AR E A R E R (R RE2(03)) -

JRE M i 50 e L A B MR B RS PR 8% [ £ S AT
AT ARUE 2 7% % FE R AR 0 % L A 8 R
ZEEEY - BEFERZSRRTIEL 2
EEBRETIARD -

N-ZE——F+-A=+—HB £K&£H
5 £ #4936,835,0008 T (=T — T F:
29,882,000/% 7T ) JiE U BR 3R K H A & U5 31 (@
FEEARELC/EL2HEE ZEHE
ARERKRANARBHEEEAREF
EE S Y A CEUNE 1R VNG A |
1H o Ft - e RARZE4912,898,000/ 70
(ZZ—Z4:10,970,000 T) ENFEAN#E
R AEBY ERZSEHEF BT (IK

O
oo °

Impairment loss in respect of trade and other receivables are
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is
satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the
impairment loss is written off against trade and other receivables
directly (see note 2(k)(i)).

Reversal of impairment loss on trade and other receivables
represents the recovery of debts due from these trade and other
receivables previously considered to be impaired. An allowance
for these receivable amounts that had been made in previous
years was written back accordingly.

As at 31 December 2011, trade and other receivables of the
Group amounting to approximately HK$36,835,000 (2010:
HK$29,882,000) were individually determined to be impaired
and full provision had been made. These individually impaired
receivables had been outstanding for over 1 year as at the
end of the reporting period or were due from companies with
financial difficulties. Accordingly, specific allowances for doubtful
debts of approximately HK$12,898,000 (2010: HK$10,970,000)
were recognised during the year. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

25. BRARARHEAEWR - BARER
i AC )
GERNC))
O MR R E M B M ()

AR ENMEREEZERYCRF AR
FEBHRBEKZRZAREEATE
=

- EBAABREAABRE
- BERFEREXRETHE

- EBARSEIOEERE S
BRE  AEEREBAROREAM
BREIEZERZER

- EBATRRBEREIETEMRE
RN

- BURERER BERDBERE
R EEFBREBEBREBEBAZ
R KRR REHBAFEZR
b ERBEERE

- AREEBAZARERLR
THED : &

- BEASEREERRSREMGER
HEERABZ BRI -

25.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
Note: (Continued)

)

Impairment of trade and other receivables (Continued)

The factors which the Group considered in determining whether
these trade and other receivables were individually impaired
include the following:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- receivables that have been outstanding for a certain period;

- the Group granting to the debtor, for economic or legal
reasons relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty, a
concession that the Group would not otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and

- observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the
debtor since their initial recognition, although the decrease
cannot yet be identified including:

- adverse changes in the payment status of debtors of
the Group; and

- economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
the trade and other receivables of the Group.
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HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

25. EWBR R HibEW SR - E{FFREX  25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS
B& (&) AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
MisE : () Note: (Continued)
d)  WEREZEKERR d)  Trade receivables that are not impaired
7 4% 8 51 2% £ RIAR A 6 3R R (B 2 B AR 3R The ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivables that are
REWZEZRESTWAT neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are
as follows:
rEE
The Group
—B——F —ZT-FF
2011 2010
FART FHT
HKS$’ 000 HK$' 000
REH A RBE Neither past due nor impaired 332,690 314,178
1 8 > RA61E A Less than 6 months past due 33,507 26,974
B AR B6ME BB D14 More than 6 months but less than 1 year past due 3,377 3,537
BERERIB 1 R DR More than 1 year but less than 2 years past due 780 364
37,664 30,875
370,354 345,053
R H B RBE 2 BIRFIET) 8 % i )8 Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
BEREHEZEPEAR - wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.
DA BERMEZ ERGIIBEZ ZHRNER Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
RERMAERBCBYEFER - BB number of independent customers that have a good track record
AR EEEMRE AN EEEETES with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes
KEF)  BRELEBNERAT2HKLE - that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
WHERE BERMELRERE - AEEW balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
ERZSERFEEMERR - quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
26. FEUR (FEFH) M AR - #£EH%4/E  26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES,

BRESRE
U (B KBRGR - HRAZEHEER
EZHEREER  2ERAKRERKE

JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND DIRECTORS
Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities
and directors are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.
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HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

27. CEABRTEARRZIRHIRBITEES 27. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED BANK

RIZ——F+-A=+—R0  2ERRT
BEREZBHRITERAT :

BALANCES

restricted bank balances are as follows:

As at 31 December 2011, the pledged bank deposits and

rEH

The Group
—E——F —E-ZF
2011 2010
FTHExT FHT
HK$' 000 HK$'000
B RITE R (P 3E () Pledged bank deposits (note (a)) 104,724 99,777
PR SR 17 45 & (BT 7E(b)) Restricted bank balances (note (b)) — 2,868
104,724 102,645
B BNERER 19 Less: Current portion (52,177) (2,868)
FERNERER 10 Non-current portion 52,547 99,777

Bt e - Note:

a) DEIFERITERA104,724,00087C (— T — a)  Pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$104,724,000 (2010:

T4 199,777,000 ) I8 AERE T AL
Bz RITERMBEHRFRITZER - ZERK
BRETEMENF3.25%%F3.85% (ZF—
T 1.25%)5t8

HK$99,777,000) are pledged to bank to secure bank borrowings
granted to the Group. The deposits carry fixed interest rates
ranging from 3.25% to 3.85% (2010: 1.25%) per annum.

by M-ZE—TFE+-A=+—8 ZRHIET b)  As at 31 December 2010, restricted bank balances represent

BAERTRAE THEFBEITERER
RE MR 2 772,868,000 T ° BT
BRHERITEBREREBEZRHTRE T
R o SRHIRITHESBRIETISFER0.36 %

B o
B

o A&EH
ERE

\\\\\\

interest at market rates of 0.36%.

deposits required and restricted by banks in respect of the issue
of letters of credit to certain suppliers at HK$2,868,000. The
restricted bank balances had been released upon the completion
of the respective transactions. The restricted bank balances carry

EEEBRE ERZEREEEQNF ¢ The management of the Group considers that the carrying
° amounts of deposits approximate their fair values.
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28. BeRBEELEEER

29.

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

rEE ¥ YN
The Group The Company
—g--% —2-TF C-®--% C"T-%F
2011 2010 2011 2010
FEx TET FHT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(Effkia)
(restated)
RITFERK Deposits with banks - 113,282 - 113,282
BIRFEZES Cash at bank and on hand 1,530,123 1,079,492 16,860 25,335
RekBReSMEER Cash and cash equivalents 1,530,123 1,192,774 16,860 138,617

RekBHeSEREREASEARE2EE
RIBBRITT S LN T0.11%E0.38%: B
ZEHMBAA=@MAXAT ZEHIETER -
EERA HekBeSEHECREER
HERBBPHEEAZAFETEERE

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with a maturity of three months
or less at prevailing market interest rates ranging from 0.11%
to 0.38%. In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amount

of cash and cash equivalents has no material difference from

#o their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
EAEDR EREAREMEMNR 29. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER
PAYABLES
rEH ¥ YN
The Group The Company
—g——-f§ —Z-ZTF ZB--§ —ZT-ZF
2011 2010 2011 2010
THER FAT FTER FHET
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
(BFEM)
(restated)
JEFBR X Trade payables 94,964 80,723 = =
HERAS REM Accrued expenses and other
e 5718 payables 62,806 23,052 4,471 4,747
WENE  BE & Payables for acquisition of
R EAROE property, plant and equipment = 3,528 = =
RN ARG E Financial liabilities measured at
ZUBaRE amortised cost 157,770 107,303 4,471 4,747
TE R IE Receipt in advance 6,999 6,366 - =
H &< R IE Other tax payables 36,908 6,974 - =
201,677 120,643 4,471 4,747
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HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

29. EREFR BREAREMEMNF  29. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER

(&) PAYABLES (Continued)
EREFIREZEAHES CRRIMET The ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on the

invoice date is as follows:

rEH
The Group
—E——% —T-TF
2011 2010
FHExT FHET
HK$' 000 HK$'000
(BEFEM)
(restated)
BPERZ=6fE A AR Current to less than 6 months 81,152 70,868
6 AE1FIAA 6 months to less than 1 year 8,455 7,691
122F A 1 to less than 2 years 4,161 868
2 F Over 2 years 1,196 1,296
94,964 80,723
30. BITER 30. BANK BORROWINGS
R-E——F+=-_A=+—8 "  FEHTE As at 31 December 2011, all bank loans are secured and are
FHAEEBLREBAERNT repayable as follows:
rEE
The Group
—E——F T -TF
2011 2010
FExT FHET
HK$'000 HK$" 000
1FRNSIREK Within 1 year or on demand 98,680 99,389
IRITEREE Total bank loans 98,680 99,389
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30. RITER (& 30.
Fif & -
a) m E——%+-A=+-B A%EFEF
TERGUARBEHE -
b R-F-BFT-A=+—8 BETEX

#95,348,0007% 7T A £ T EHE SN
BRITEFHAUAREE -

AEEM

0 FERTEZTHVAEZEER
NF51%E6.41% (—ZT—
5.10%) &2 °

CBRITERR
TE:328%F

d ROTERADITUNEEBRTERY
104,724,000 T (= —Z 4 : 99,777,000
BT REBERNTE T (ZE—TF:
5,980,000/ 7T ) {E R o

e) EERR BROBERZEREERRERER
HEBEEHZATELEEREZR -

BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note:

a)

Q)

As at 31 December 2011, all of the Group’s bank borrowings are
denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2010, all of the Group’s bank borrowings
are denominated in RMB, except for bank borrowings of
approximately HK$5,348,000 which are denominated in United
States dollars.

All bank borrowings are variable-rate borrowings which carry
prevailing interest rates ranging from 5.1% to 6.41% (2010:
3.28% to 5.10%) per annum.

The bank borrowings were secured by the pledged bank deposits
of approximately HK$104,724,000 (2010: HK$99,777,000) and
trade receivables of approximately HK$Nil (2010: HK$5,980,000).

In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amounts of bank
borrowings are not significantly different from their fair values at
the end of the reporting period.
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31 REEUBRRERZAE 31. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

a) REEMBRIRER ZANAMEH a) Current income tax recognised in the consolidated

HERNZZHNT : statement of financial position and the movement during

the year are as follows:

TEH
The Group
= —TFF
2011 2010
FER FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
HE R ERTER PRC EIT
R—A—H At 1 January 1,207 2,298
RNEE A (HT3E8()) Provision for the year (note 8(a)) 191,982 49,000
REBX N2 EEMREH EIT paid for the year (138,927) (50,152)
EHLER Exchange differences 1,370 61
HEH B A R (KfaE33) Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) (361) -
R+=-—A=+—-H At 31 December 55,271 1,207
RERE TR RE Income tax recoverable recognised in the
#3382 Al [ FT 15 RY consolidated statement of financial position (1,450) (8,586)
INGRENE T W Income tax payable recognised in the
R ENEH consolidated statement of financial position 56,721 9,793
ERRIEFE Net tax payable 55,271 1,207
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HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

31. REZEEMBRRRZFEBH (&) 31.

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

b) EREAZELHREERAESR b)
REGREEEI RBEZRILFE
ARZEERBEE,/ (AFE)2EE

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

The major components of the deferred tax assets/

(liabilities) provided for at the end of the reporting period

ARG IT - and for the year then ended are as follows:
rEE The Group
e
K NEBE  ANTER
RREF Rz  t#Egr  EFEEZ
ZEf AVERE AVERE AVERE L B
Fair value
Fair value  adjustment on
Revaluation adjustment  prepaid lease Fair value
of buildings ~ on property,  payments on adjustment
held for plant and land under on intangible Deferred
own use equipment operating leases assets  expenditure Total
TR TR TR TR TR T
HKS$' 000 HKS$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HKS$' 000
(EXEL) (Efrxit)
(restated) (restated)
ATHREEEZEERE.  Deferred tax arising from:
RZE-ZF-f-H At 1 January 2010 (9,520) (1219 14,829 (87,139) 6,810 (76,239)
2 ARETIR Charged to other comprehensive
income (4,055) - - - - (4,055)
WERFA/ (1%) Credited/(charged) to income
(HriE8() statement (note 8(z) 785 97 (319) 7,705 1,775 10,043
Rii%E8 52 Credited to equity for effect on
HAER change in tax rate 1537 - - - - 1,537
EizZ Exchange differences (213) (41) 510 (2,897) Ul (2,370)
RZE-ZFF-F=1—H At31December 2010 and
k=5—%-A-H 1 January 2011 (11,466) (1,163) 15,020 (82,331) 8,856 (71,084)
HERB AR (F333) Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) 338 658 (13,010 57,520 (981) 44,525
BaEFaA/ (%) Credited/(charged) to income
(Ff3k8(a)) statement (note 8(a)) 2520 75 (218) 6,115 (2,389) 6,103
EizR Exchange differences (502) 47) 578 (3.222) 367 (2,826)
RZF-—F+ZF=+-H At31 December 2011 (9,110) (47 2,370 (21,918) 5853 (23.282)

141

Annual Report

2011 4



142

Annual Report
2011 4

2 Bt 1 1R % Bt 5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31.

REREMBRR R 2 B (50

b)

9]

CRAZEEHELEEREE ()

ATt %8s B Mim s 2 EEH
SR

31.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

b)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
(Continued)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances

for financial reporting purposes:

rEH
The Group
= —T%F
2011 2010
THER FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
(EF &)
(restated)
MR E BRI & Deferred tax assets recognised in the
BRZEERIBEE consolidated statement of financial position 8,223 23,876
WiRE B BMRR R Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
BRZEEREAR consolidated statement of financial position (31,505) (94,960)
(23,282) (71,084)

MABRRZELEREEE
BEBEHF2NFE 2 E5TBR - A5E
WEFR-_E——F+-_A=+—H
ZRET BB EEL1,141,0008 T (=
T T4 1 1,475,000 7T) ERELR
HEE BAREBARBAEERK
E BT A A] 8278 AR R B SR B ) AT K
HBBER - REBERBKO - 25
PMBEEATRAFHRER -

)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
2(r), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of approximately
HK$1,141,000 (2010: HK$1,475,000) as at 31 December
2011 as it is not probable that future taxable profits
against the tax losses can be utilised under the relevant
tax jurisdiction and entity. These tax losses are available

for a period of five years under the current tax legislation.
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HE=

31. R&EE

d)

BMBMRR R ZFAER (&)

RERELHEBAME
BRER-_ZTZN\F-—A—HRBEHRZ
R EEHIE - WENPBIK K
BEFEBZEFERELEIRFEXT
B EBERBRANLFERER
BRI SR E AR - AlE AR
EREHEHRA (WREFE 2K E) &
10%BEHMBMMER - R=_FZ
NE_A-+=-8 HBEIRERH
15 48 B O B (2008)15% + R ItE - R
ZETHF+ZRA=T—HABNE
1R R B FIE 2 IR B 2 Ik 7 3
REMTEMAEE -

T%
“H

—F+=ZA=+—H B8N
RAEZZZNFZ2RDEHEFIZ
2 £1,486,115,0008 7 (= F
:475,031,00047T) - ARAR
AlREIE I EMB AR 2R EEER - A
BT RAT BN A BRI -
MEARE D RZZRE R 2 B
IBEREETIE A (5148,612,00075 7T
(ZZ—Z 4 : 47,503,000/ 7T) °

1% B
B
el

il
it

&%

ﬁ

Z——&H+-B=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2011

31. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised
Under the EIT Law of the PRC with effect from 1 January
2008 onwards,

establishment or place of business in the PRC or which

non-resident enterprises without an

have an establishment or place of business but the
relevant income is not effectively connected with the
establishment or a place of business in the PRC, will be
subject to withholding income tax at the rate of 10%
on various types of passive income such as dividends
derived from sources in the PRC. On 22 February 2008,
the Ministry of Finance and State Administration of
Tax approved Caishui (2008) No.

dividend distributions out of retained profits of foreign

1, pursuant to which

investment enterprises prior to 31 December 2007 will be

exempted from withholding income tax.

At 31
relating to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries
since 2008 amounted to HK$1,486,115,000
(2010: HK$475,031,000).
HK$148,612,000 (2010: HK$47,503,000) have not been

December 2011, temporary differences

Deferred tax liabilities of

recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable on
the distribution of these retained profits as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it
has been determined that it is probable that profits will

not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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32. RAREE

32. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

a) ARESAEDZEEBHRENR a)
FRZERENGAREEPIRA -
BERAARRRERZERBORENE
FREMzEHHE  #FIMT -

The reconciliation between the opening and closing

balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated

equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes

in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s

individual components of equity between the beginning

and the end of the year are set out below:

Re&E NYERE 2itEE aE
Share Fair value Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
ThAL TAL TAL TAL
HK$" 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
RZZ-Z4-F-H At 1 January 2010 1,475,422 - (31,847) 1,443,575
2ENE Comprehensive income
rEEEE Loss for the year - - (19,016) (19,016)
E2ENE Other comprehensive income
IHHERRES L Fair value loss on available-for-sale
NTEEE equity securities - (15,760) - (15,760)
2ENEAE Total comprehensive income - (15,760) (19,016) (34,776)
EBRAEERTIRA Issue of new shares by share placement 462,000 - - 462,000
REERET 2R Issue of new shares under share
R (M34) option scheme (note 34) 800 - = 800
BOHRA 2R ARA Transaction cost attributable to
issue of new shares (18,872) - - (18,872)
RZZ-FE+-F=1+—H At31 December 2010 and
kZE-——%-f-H 1 January 2011 1,919,350 (15,760) (50,863) 1,852,727
2EHE Comprehensive income
TrEEEE Loss for the year - = (36,357) (36,357)
Ht2mkaE Other comprehensive income
MEHERRES 2 Fair value loss on available-for-sale
N EEE (HFH23) equity securities (note 23) = (7,520) - (7,520)
AfEERRERZ Impairment loss on available-for-sale
REEE (F323) equity securities (note 23) - 23,280 = 23,280
2HNELE Total comprehensive income = 15,760 (36,357) (20,597)
RERRETEE Issue of new shares under share
k(R (F3E34) option scheme (note 34) 700 - - 700
WZE——%+-F=1—H At 31 December 2011 1,920,050 - (87,220) 1,832,830
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32. RARGEE (B

b)

32.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

EERSBITRA b) Authorised and issued share capital
AEEREAR
The Group and the Company
8- =224
2011 2010
Re#A 8 BEE fix
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
Th TEn Th TATL
'000 HK$' 000 '000 HK$' 000
EE-BRERI0ET Authorised - Ordinary shares of
ZERRK HK$0.10 each
R=A—BRTZA=F—H At1January and 31 December 2,000,000 200,000 2,000,000 200,000
BETRAR-SREE Issued and fully paid - Ordinary shares
0.10%8 w2 Bk of HK$0.10 each
iz = At 1 January 1,671,943 167,194 1,551,143 155,114
ERRDEERTHRD Issue of new shares by share placement - - 120,000 12,000
REBERETEIZTTBRA  Issue of new shares under share
(F&E34) option scheme (note 34) 700 70 800 80
RTZA=t-H At 31 December 1,672,643 167,264 1,671,943 167,194

W=E—-FF+A+=A £AAR
PR MR BT A TR B R B
77800,000/% & AR 7 °

RZZE-—ZFF+ATHA ARAR
YY Holdingsfi — & B & K IEET 7 5 —
MBS KRS - A () RE3.95
BT ZBRBELEYY Holdingsfrit g 2
XA 7]120,000,000/% L@z 5 ([BL &
=] RQIEFR3.958 T 2 B
BYY HoldingssR# 782 71120,000,000
BEARG ((REFE]) - BES
BRRBSEEHERZZE—ZF1+A
“TtEATK - REFBEZAERE
SFEB 4 5455,128,0007 7T °

On 12 October 2010, the Company allotted and issued
800,000 ordinary shares by way of share options

exercised under share option scheme.

On 14 October 2010, the Company and YY Holdings
entered into another placing and subscription
agreement with a placing agent for: (1) the placement
of 120,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company owned
by YY Holdings at a price of HK$3.95 per share (“the
Placing”); and (2) the subscription of 120,000,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company by YY Holdings at a
price of HK$3.95 per share (the “Subscription”). The
Placing and Subscription were completed on 27 October
2010. The net proceeds from the Subscription amount is
approximately HK$455,128,000.
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32. BRARREE(E)

b)

)

ZERERITRA(E)
RZZ——F X A+T=0 AR7RE
B BT R EREMRER1.10%8
JoBE 3% K B 17700,000/% L @A D -

ERBRBAANERESTREIRZK
BERARBGEHRLEZABER T2
SRR B ERRE AR R ZF &
BEEOZHHESHES -

REZHEERBEN

) R E
BRERSHERRE(—ANNF
BRIA) - B EERIEDIEKT
ARBIRER - EREBERZZED K
Bz HER - ARAIHKAE R
REBXEBBETEREIHE
o

i) B E
ERGEEASERESEEA
MEEREZHABEEETEREELZ
M o

i) EFEFE
BFEtRERE/RFERET
ZEEHESHE (MBRRERIE) &
FEEME 2 Z8 BFEME
BE TR AR M FH2(h) P
ERAREERBTZEABET
NEE - BFERFEERTAS
K e

32. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

b)

)

Authorised and issued share capital (Continued)

On 13 June 2011, the Company allotted and issued

700,000 ordinary shares by way of share options

exercised under share option scheme at HK$1.10 per

share.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive

dividends as declared from time to time and entitled

to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.

All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the

Company'’s residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves

i)

ii)

fii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (1998 Revision) of the
Cayman lIslands, the share premium account is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of

business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the capitalised
aggregate appropriations to the statutory
reserves made by the Group as a result of Group

reorganisation.

Buildings revaluation reserve

The buildings revaluation reserve comprises the
difference between the revalued amount, net of
deferred tax, and the carrying amount of buildings
held for own use. The buildings revaluation reserve
has been set up and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies adopted for buildings held
for own use as set out in note 2(h). The buildings

revaluation reserve is not distributable.
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32. REAR@EE)
BEZMHEREN(E)

9]

v)

v)

vi)

V2 TE I 1
BREBBMEELEERES IR
BEARR 2T BRI G R
RAINPBEKILZMBRRIZA
AEEMEL  TEHEEZE
EEE -

EERBESTARBRBEFE
ZEB(MA) WA ERAEHE
R WEREITZERRE ZETER
BEEATBINEBITMER
225% °

AREETRAEZHEARZE
REBREMETHESRRSR
HestRAIRRAEE ZEF 2
10% - EZE R EERERTM
BRZ50%A1E o fEH 2 ER A
RAEB AR IR S Z AT#ETT o

(B (71
ERFHDEERERIMEEE
BHBREMEEZTAEER
Z 58 o R TR R M RE2(W)FT
BZBHBRTUARE -

NFPERE

NP ERBERERARAFEE
AfSAR I EREERZA
FEZAFEHFE  LREM
QB SRR TIARE ©

32. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(9]

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

iv)

v)

Vi)

Statutory reserves

Transfers from retained earnings to statutory
reserve fund were made in accordance with the
relevant PRC rules and regulations and the articles
of association of the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC and were approved by the

respective boards of directors.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to make good
previous years' losses, if any, and may be converted
into paid-up capital provided that the balance of the
statutory reserve fund after such conversion is not

less than 25% of the entity’s registered capital.

The Company’s certain subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to transfer a minimum of 10% of their net
profits, as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations to the statutory
reserves until the reserve balances reaches 50% of
the registered capital. The transfer must be made

before distribution of dividends to owners.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the

accounting policy set out in note 2(u).

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in fair value of available-for-sale equity
securities held at the end of the reporting period
and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting

policies in note 2(g).
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32. BRARREE(E)

d)

fEEZ T HIRER

RNZE——&E&+=—A=+—01 7t
APERTEBEAZADRIEBEBELD
#1,832,830,0008 L (ZZ—ZF :
1,868,487,000% 7T) + EFBEARR
7] B% 12 3% {2 491,920,050,0005 7T (=
T —F4:1,919,350,000/8 L) & R&t
E5184987,220,0008 L (ZE —ZFF ¢
50,863,000/ 7T) ' EERERET KK
BB ARARMBERENEERA
EEBTIANEE - FREEIIK -

EXxEH
AEBEREAZIRZABRINRER
SEFBELE 2N URBRRGERE
BEEEMREREANES  WHER
BIEZERRBURLEEKA -

AEEeEBLEMENRERELE
ERE NERTURRESRRDHE
BREAMRRAERZ ZEBETKE
ZERGYEE YRELERTE
BDHEARBIELAE - BEFHB
BEARE AEEAEZERBRK
RXMZBESE - BITH - REE
ATFBRRIAHEBENRE -

HEREG B AEENEEAR
LEREEEE AR - R RUKREE
ZRITEFRRE KBS SEEER
UARRBIHEBE ABIEREZTE -
EER T ——FR-FE-FTF+=
A=+—HBUEFEE - HE-F——
F+-PB=+t-BLFEEHPR A&
B REEE T —TFHER -

ARRREEMMEREBRETIH
BECERRE -

32. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

d)

e)

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount of
the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to owners was approximately HK$1,832,830,000
(2010: HK$1,868,487,000). It includes the Company’s
share premium of approximately HK$1,920,050,000
(2010: HK$1,919,350,000) and accumulated losses of
approximately HK$87,220,000 (2010: HK$50,863,000)
and is available for distribution provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed, the
Company will be able to pay off its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefit for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher stakeholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
in light of changes in economic conditions. In order to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares, return capital to shareholders or sell
assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as the Group’s bank borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents over its total equity attributable
to owners of the Company. There is no net debts for the
Group as at 31 December 2011 and 2010. During the
year ended 31 December 2011, the Group's strategy was
unchanged from 2010.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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33. HEMEB AT
RZZE——FN\ANB KAEEHE
%

HEFHRMNKHLHR A FE®

BRI VREEZHRE UReK
257,000,000t AR HE T EREER -
ke - ZEEER=_T——FNA+=AH
ER-NEERMHZEEEEFERI W

Gl
hva
B

33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 8 August 2011, a subsidiary of the Group, Yixing Xinwei
Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited, entered into an equity
transfer agreement with two independent third parties to

dispose of its entire interest in Xinghua Rare Earth at a

consideration of RMB257,000,000 for cash. The disposal was

completed on 12 August 2011 and the net assets disposed of

T at the date of disposal were as follows:
FHET
HK$" 000
mp & E (H720) Intangible assets (note 20) 230,080
Y% - BB R (BYsE18(@)) Property, plant and equipment (note 18(a)) 40,127
BN TN L ES Prepaid lease payments for land under
(FF7E19) operating leases (note 19) 27,675
FE Inventories 8,191
R RIBERIZES Prepayment and deposits 51,684
JE LT BR R e L A W SR Trade and other receivables 100,668
RekBFeEEER Cash and cash equivalents 22
458,447
FEAFBR R Trade payables (5,378)
TEREAREMEMNK Accruals and other payables (165,530)
R IE B & (M 5E31(b)) Deferred tax liabilities (note 31(b)) (44,525)
FETBLIR (MFEE31(a)) Tax payable (note 31(a)) (361)
242,653
2 (fFaE17) Goodwill (note 17) 70,734
HEEEFE Net assets disposed of 313,387
PE Release of translation reserve (21,063)
HEMB AR 2B Az (FaE12) Pre-tax gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 12) 20,823
RME Consideration 313,147
A5 REZA Satisfied by:
e Cash 313,147
EEMBAAZHERAFE : Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary:
& 2 P18 RIA Proceeds on disposal 313,147
HEZReRRESEEIEE Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (22)
313,125 1 49
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34. BRESTE 34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
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R-ZBZMNFRAMBRTZRRAFAES
b ARBBRRILERER—NANFTA
TR RRz B8 ([E518)) RE®
gL 8 (T#at3l)) -

RIEFTE EETRBERBEHEAEEERH
AR SEBERZASEZBES (BIEAX
RAIREWBRAIZES) - AARE - #
R BP - ERERN - BRERAIERHENK
EBHBEFAIGRRGEH BB TES
BRERBAQARRG - AEK2HAE K
BREL 2 EREZFREBANRE - BRE
RESERHDENRMEECREETS
AFEAZ AR AT ERETE T EEHE
FBRER L AR+ F 28R - e ER
a8l F AR R - RIRIEEREIE - I
ERLE—PREERE  BERAEEMA
| BB ZESUDERT MR R
Rz BRREZER R RTEL TN
I - REE=TE——R=ZFT—TF+ =R
=+—HILEMEFE - AARWER T ER

e

1 o

AEEBRAAARESET ETAPRE
NEBARBBROKETE  BERZHEAR
AIAEEEAARNRRRMDHFHRTE - A
RARNBRNEE=ZER 2 &=E ° 50%8E
BERA-—ZTENF— A=+ HAETET
- BHERERTERBEARNRERR
Al —REBIG  WARMDEBHRLEE -

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 4
June 2004, the shareholders of the Company approved the
termination of the Company’s share option scheme adopted
on 14 October 1999 (the “Old Scheme"”) and the adoption of a

new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”).

Under the New Scheme, the directors may, at their discretion,
invite full-time employees of the Group, including directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries, any of its shareholders,
suppliers, customers, consultants, advisers and joint venture
partners or business alliance who have contributed or will
contribute to the Group to take up options to subscribe for
shares in the Company subject to the terms and conditions
stipulated therein. A nominal consideration will be paid by
the eligible participants for each lot of share options granted.
An option may be exercised at any time during a period to be
determined and identified by the directors to each grantee at
the time of making the offer, but in any event, shall not exceed
the period of ten years from the date of grant of the particular
option, subject to the early termination of the New Scheme.
Upon the termination of the Old Scheme, no further share
options were granted thereunder, but in all other respects, the
provisions of the Old Scheme remained in force and all share
options granted prior to such termination continued to be
valid and exercisable in accordance therewith. No option has
been granted by the Company during the two years ended 31
December 2011 and 2010.

The exercise price is to be determined by the directors of the
Company, and should not be less than the highest of the
closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of offer,
the average closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares. 50% of the options
shall not be exercised prior to 20 January 2004. Each option
gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in

the Company and is settled gross in shares.
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34. BRETE () 34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
BE_Z——F1+-A=T—HILFEER Movements of share options for the year ended 31 December
E2EBNT 2011 are as follows:

REBRETFRAZRHHE
Number of shares issuable under options

RZ%--F RZB--F

-A-8 tZR=1-8

REAH fikH  RE HATE ERRH ERfiR ERRU WA R

Outstanding Granted Exercised Forfeited Outstanding at

Exercise  at 1 January during the during the during the 31 December

Date of grant Exercisable period price 2011 year year year 2011
& “TE= I > i
—-AZ1+=H ER-ZE-AZ15H

Employee 23 January 2003 27 January 2003-26 January 2013 1.10 700,000 - (700,000) - -

BE-_ T TSF+_RA=+—HIEEE Movements of share options for the year ended 31 December

PREEE BN T ¢ 2010 are as follows:

REBRET TR RO%A

Number of shares issuable under options

R-2-2F R-2-2F
-8 t=A=1-H
RLAH s RE HATTR FRRL R ERRR HALTE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Forfeited ~ Qutstanding at
Exercise at 1 January during the during the during the 31 December
Date of grant Exercisable period price 2010 year year year 2010
& 2= I > i
-B=1=H ER-ZE-AZ15H
Employee 23 January 2003 27 January 2003-26 January 2013 110 1,500,000 - (800,000) - 700,000
RZE——F+-ZA=1+—8 BEE:Z As at 31 December 2011, the number of shares in respect of
s AR ITE 2 BB ARAE S 2 AN R 1D which options had been granted and remained outstanding
HEAZR(ZZE—Z4F : 700,0000%) * 15 under the Old Scheme was nil (2010: 700,000), representing
RZBARRBEETRNHOZER (ZE—F approximately nil% (2010: 0.04%) of the shares of the
F:004%) - REFE RAEMRERERL Company in issue at that date. The total number of shares
RRABIREA  AIREZ BT AT A in respect of which options may be granted under the Old
BRANBEETRNZ10% ° Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval 151
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35. BEALERS 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a) HBEEALTZRE a) Transactions with related parties
EEZRA TIAFAREEZERXR The directors consider that the followings are the
BEATRS significant related party transactions of the Group during
the year:
—2——F =TT
2011 2010
TERT TERT
HK$’' 000 HK$" 000
(B¥ &)
(restated)
BEALHR BASEzEE XHUE
Name of related party Relationship with Nature of transaction
the Group
e AREMTESR AEEXNEEER 636 250
Jiang Quanlong Executive director Payment of rental expenses
of the Company by the Group
BRAIEA (P B) S e i R AEBARZHER ASEEEENRS 32,716 11,255
BRAR
([EXRIBARE])
OSRAM (China) Fluorescent Jointly controlled Sales of finished goods
Materials Co., Ltd. entity of the Group by the Group
("OFM")
REBHERE R 1,402 -

Sales of plant and

equipment by the Group
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35. BMEALRG (&)

HEEALTZRS (B)

35.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Transactions with related parties (Continued)

—E——F —E-%F
2011 2010
TERT TET
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
(B#&)
(restated)
BEALER XEHE
Name of related party Relationship with Nature of transaction
the Group
HEMBETFIERE AEBEAREHER ASEHEEAS 10,781 -
BERAR (HEMBETF])
Yixing AGC Ceramics Jointly controlled Sales of finished goods
Co., Ltd. ("AGCC") entity of the Group by the Group
AEEHELEROT 10,150 -
Bt
Sales of prepaid lease
payment on land under
operating leases
by the Group
BHZTRRBMEERAF  WTEEERE AEEXNEL B 64 61
(3 a2 BREE@ER
Wuxi Pan-Asia Environmental  Jiang Quanlong, Payment of rental expenses
Protection Technologies an executive director, by the Group
Limited (" Wuxi Pan-Asia”) has beneficial interest
BRI B B A 2 A 23 6
Receipt of rental income
by OFM
HABMTEELS 12,844 -
MATREMG RS
Purchase of prepaid lease
payments on land under
operating leases by AGCC
HEMHEFBERE 7,342 -
BRET

Purchase of buildings held
for own use by AGCC
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35. BEALIRS (8)

a)

b)

(9]

HBRBEALZRS ()

EERR LRSI —REHB
BARERARXGHRGILARERE
RERGZ R Y LB BB
HITEFHER -

HIEZEBASZRS
TEEBRABZME (BEK R H
BIXNTARREE 2 BEME
IOABEEZXNTETRSFMAL
ZEB)MT

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

a)

b)

Transactions with related parties (Continued)

The directors are of the opinion that the above
transactions were entered into under the normal
course of business and on normal commercial terms
or in accordance with the agreements governing such
transactions, and this has been confirmed by independent

non-executive directors.

Transactions with key management personnel

Emoluments for key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed
in note 9 and certain of the highest paid employees as

disclosed in note 10 are as follows:

rEH

The Group
. —T-FF
2011 2010
THER FET
HK$’'000 HK$'000
EXHEHe  ZBEREYREA  Basic salaries, allowance and benefits-in-kind 3,802 3,774
RIKIE R T Post-employment benefits 58 56
3,860 3,830

BRRE A+ 4t c) Balances with related parties

WN_E——FR_FE-—FTF+_H
—t+—BHBEATZEB I FBE
R HIE26 ©

Details of the balances with related parties as at 31
December 2011 and 2010 are set out in note 26.
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36. RIE 36.

a) RERAEAER AEERKEEY
BHREABBEDE  BERREBZK
BLEEZARBEECHENEARK
EMT

COMMITMENTS

a) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
authorised capital commitments in respect of acquisition
and construction of property, plant and equipment
contracted but not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements as follows:

~EE

The Group
—E——F —ET-TF
2011 2010
TR FET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(BHFFM)
(restated)

mE - BEREE Acquisition and construction of property,

Z U R R plant and equipment 8,531 6,212

b RHEFRHREER AEERETA
Bzt REFEEHEER B &M
AN REBREFEAZZTHA

b) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
operating lease commitments for future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in

W respect of land and buildings which fall due as follows:
rEE
The Group

—F——F s
2011 2010
TER TET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(BH&)
(restated)
1R Within one year 2,326 1,605
F2EFESF (BEEREME)  In the second to fifth year inclusive 2,532 2,485
4,858 4,090

REMENFTEARBEAREE THA
ELBEMERN2HE - HORM
EHBBERETE R —E=RF - #
BRHESRIAEE -

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its office and factory premises.
Leases and rentals are negotiated and fixed for periods of
two to five years. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals.
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36. A&IE (&) 36.

b) (&)
AT E TN 35 E 2
BATERERESZDZAXAS
3K 492,456,000 T (ZE —F & -
315,000%7T) - BIEAR M T :

COMMITMENTS (Continued)
b)  (Continued)

The above commitments included future lease payments
to Jiang Quanlong and Wuxi Pan-Asia, related parties as
disclosed in note 35, of approximately HK$2,456,000
(2010: HK$315,000) which fall due as follows:

rEH

The Group
= i =t
2011 2010
TR FAT
HK$’'000 HK$'000
1R Within one year 954 232
F2EFSF (BEBREME)  In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,502 83
2,456 315

RERAMEER  AEBHLFRE
T B8 6K B B o B 0 MY R34 B 2 A
BATESZGAILANRBENA
BiHz T @ EMERBRMAIN
ZEERESHRALINBEWMT

c) At the end of reporting period, OFM, a jointly controlled
entity of the Group, had contracted with Wuxi Pan-
Asia, a related party as disclosed in note 35, for
future minimum lease payment receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of land which fall

due as follows:

—E——F —E—F4F

2011 2010

FTER FAT

HK$' 000 HK$" 000

1A Within one year 23 22
F2EFSF (BIEBHEMT)  In the second to fifth year inclusive 108 88
HiBRF More than five years 993 946
1,124 1,056
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36.

37.

AiE (B

o (#&)
FE U AR & TR & AT SRIE BRI BA R B B
Rt gRElRzEE - B
R NDBBERET  RH49F -
BMEAESRIAES -

MERBEREBERBE

FEECFESRIABER e RASS
BR - SERRTENR  RBHIRTES
AL EREES BRERRREMER
K BRI E A BN A RIRITERR
TRIAZHBREREME -ZFERMT
AZRBEEAREERREBBIETES
ZEERR - RBELRR  FXER &
BRER R ERRER o

a) fFERR

) FERREXZHFELIRTE
HNEFEBARETBEBERZRA
B AEBEMRAORRAER
EEBRFZZXHGHFETEER
WG EHERR(WER) - K
RERZBTENEEERNK
BRZRER -

36.

37.

COMMITMENTS (Continued)

c¢) (Continued)
Operating lease payment receivables represent rental
receivables by OFM for the right to use a piece of land.
Leases and rentals are negotiated and fixed for 49 years.

None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include cash and cash
equivalents, pledged bank deposits, restricted bank balances,
available-for-sale equity securities, trade and other receivables,
trade and other payables and bank borrowings. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include credit
risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and equity

price risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

a) Credit risk
)] Credit risk refers to the risk a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting
in financial loss to the Group. The Group has
adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral,
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk

of financial loss from defaults.
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37. EEREREEREE (&)

a) fFEEARE)

i)

75 3% 201 FE AR R R EL At FE
RZEK EEBECR M —BEE
ERE UTHEBEERBETT
REER AEETFHHER
BUEFERP 2 WL ARG
BT EENN ZETGHEEE
FRAXMIBREZELRE
Bz WEREFPRTE
EHREPREMBEBEREZ
R -AEEUERESHEE
EREMERRD - EHE—REF
BHHEFI180H NEIE -

AEBEARZZEERBEE
REAEPZERGHATE -
BERMRETEIBER 2R E
EreHEERBREMTE B
REREK RERABLEER -
AEEAXREBAZATFP KA
AREFEMERBE2ETESF
EERBRDAAI0% (ZE—F
F21%)K36% (ZE—ZF:
46%) °

BRAASER B EUR R A
BUFZEERRZE—FEN
BN M5 -

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
a) Credit risk (Continued)

ii)

In respect of trade and other receivables, in order to
minimise risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial position and condition
are performed on each and every major customer
periodically. These evaluations focus on the
customers’ past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customers as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customers operate. The Group does not require
collateral in respect of its financial assets. Debts are

usually due within 180 days from the date of billing.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the
end of the reporting period, the Group has a certain
concentration of credit risk as 10% (2010: 21%)
and 36% (2010: 46%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group's largest customer and the

five largest customers respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade

and other receivables are set out in note 25.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

a)

b)

iii)

Cash is deposited with financial institutions with
high credit ratings that are located where the
Group companies are operated and the Group has
exposure limit to any single financial institution.
Given their high credit ratings, management does
not expect any of these financial institutions will fail

to meet their obligations.

For amounts due from jointly controlled entities
and amount due from a former subsidiary, the
Group would closely monitor the financial positions
including the net assets backing of the jointly
controlled entities and the former subsidiary.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amounts of the individual debts to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for the
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors

consider that the Group’s credit risk is mitigated.

Other than concentration of credit risk on trade
and other receivables as well as cash and cash
equivalents, pledged bank deposits, amounts due
from jointly controlled entities and amount due
from a former subsidiary, the Group does not have

any other significant concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are

responsible for their own cash management, including

the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the

raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject

to board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly

monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and

its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that

it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate

committed lines of funding from major financial

institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short

and longer term. The Group relies on bank borrowings as

a source of liquidity.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables set out the remaining contractual

maturities at the end of the reporting period of the

Group's and the Company’s financial liabilities based

on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including

interest payments computed using contractual rates

or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the

reporting period) and the earliest date the Group and the

Company can be required to pay:

A%
The Group
—g—-#
2011
—ERH —FHUE MEAL  AHRFR
REREE MERRA EFENUR RERELE REE
More than  More than Total
Within 1yearbut 2yearsbut contractual
1 year or less than less than undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
TART TER TER TERT TER
HK$' 000 HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FEfT 8RR Trade payables 94,964 - = 94,964 94,964
BREAR Accruals and other
ES AN payables 62,806 - - 62,806 62,806
ERNEERE Amounts due to directors 519 - - 519 519
RITER Bank borrowings 100,222 - = 100,222 98,680
258,511 - - 258,511 256,969

160

Annual Report
2011 3




2 Bt 85 1R % Bt &

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

37. WKEAREEBREREE @)

by RBEELEMRE(E)

. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
AEHE
The Group
—Z-ZF

2010

—ER5 —FNE MENE  BHRAR
HERER TS LA IFNA Rens8gd REE

More than More than Total

Within 1 year but 2 years but contractual
1 year or less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
THT TR TR TR TR
HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$' 000 HK$" 000 HK$'000

(EFHEi) (BFxl) (EFEd)

(restated) (restated) (restated)

FE 18R 3K Trade payables 80,723 = = 80,723 80,723
BRERAK Accruals and other

H i FER 3R payables 23,052 = = 23,052 23,052

BRNESHE Amounts due to directors 270 = = 270 270

RITER Bank borrowings 101,393 - - 101,393 99,389

205,438 - - 205,438 203,434
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37. BAREBEEEREE (&) 37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
b) FREBELER(E) b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
N
The Company
“E--F
2011
—£R% —FHE MENLE ABAOKRFE
RERER MEUR BENA HERELE RHEE
More than More than Total

Within 1yearbut 2yearsbut contractual

1 year or less than less than undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
TR TR TR TR TR

HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000

BREB K Accruals and other
Hth R payables 4,471 - - 4,471 4,471
BREEHE Amounts due to directors 260 = - 260 260

4,731 = = 4,731 4,731
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37. BEREEEERBEK (&) 37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

by RBEELEMRE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
NG|
The Company
—Z-ZF
2010
—FRH —FNE MENE  BHORFR
REXEE GENN IFNA Rens8gd REE
More than More than Total

Within 1 year but 2 years but contractual
1 year or less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
THT THET THRT THET THRT
HK$" 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$" 000 HK$'000

BRREAK Accruals and other
Hib N R payables 4,747 - - 4,747 4,747
JE BB A Rl 708 Amounts due to subsidiaries 264 = = 264 264
ENEEHE Amounts due to directors 270 = = 270 270
5,281 - - 5,281 5,281
METAETERBSEE (BB FE None of bank borrowings contain a repayment on demand
SEE [T ARM 2SN —EEAHBS clause in relation to HK Interpretation 5, Presentation of
BREREBKANTHEZNSE A Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term

Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause.
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37. EEREREEREE (&) 37.

o RMEEE
REBERANRBARZEBNZEF
RAEHNRERREFMEEER - /17
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
c¢) Interest rate risk

The Group and the Company are exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to cash and cash equivalents,
deposit with banks, pledged bank deposits, restricted
bank balances and bank borrowings at floating interest

rate.

i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile

of the Group’s and the Company’s bank borrowings

RHBE - at the end of reporting period:
K&EE
The Group
—2--F —T-%%
2011 2010
BRA= B A%
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
% TER % TR
% HK$' 000 % HK$'000
(E¥&iat)
(restated)
BERFIER Pledged bank deposits 3.25-3.85 104,724 1.25 99,777
B HRTES Restricted bank balances - - 3.71 2,868
RITEH Deposit with banks - - 2.60 113,282
Be kAL ZEEE Cash and cash equivalents 0.01-10.05 1,530,123 0.13-0.36 1,079,492
RITER Bank borrowings 5.10 - 6.41 (98,680)  3.28-5.10 (99,389)
FERBE Total net deposits

164

Annual Report
2011 4

1,536,167 1,196,030



2 Bt 85 1R % Bt &
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZ-Z——F+=-A=1+—ALHEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

37. BAREBEEEREE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

o R=EmEEGE)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

) FIXAL (B) i) Interest rate profile (Continued)
NG|
The Company
—B—-F g S 2
2011 2010

BRF= BRI

Effective Effective

interest rate interest rate
% TER % TR
% HK$' 000 % HK$' 000
RITEN Deposits with banks - - 2.60 113,282
ReRkReEEER Cash and cash equivalents 0.01 16,860 0.20 25,335
FEREE Total net deposits 16,860 138,617

i) HERES
BEREENETANAZERE
BEMRITER  ZRERTE
BRNE BIRTT R SR EHE I A R &
B - R RAEEE AR

MRS BT LSRN -

R_B——F+-A=+—-8"
ERMBEEMEHRFIZHNER
T ffET AR EEEE Ak TS0
18 25 B 5 32 0 5OR 2 AR & B R
F [ § 494,201,000 70 (= F
— T FEHFM - 3,298,000%
JT) o FEERE AKX THRERE
BamEMITHITELE -

ii)

Sensitivity analysis

All of the pledged bank deposits, restricted bank
balances and fixed bank deposits of the Group
which are fixed rate instruments are insensitive to
any change in interest rates. A change in interest
rates at the end of the reporting period would not

affect profit or loss.

At 31 December 2011, it is estimated that a general
increase or decrease of 50 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
increase or decrease the Group's profit for the year
by approximately HK$4,201,000 (2010 restated:
HK$3,298,000). Other components of consolidated
equity would not change in response to the general

increase or decrease in interest rates.
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37. EEREREEREE (&)

o F=EmEGE)

i)

HRE ST (1)

ER SRR E D AT THAR B IR B IR R
BERMAEZHNERRRME
E o BT RRN PHRAE
BHZABESRTANEBES
B HAREEMARS - SOEER L
ARTRAABEEIEZERAR
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

(@)

d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
based on the exposure to interests rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. The 50 basis points increase
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible changes in interest rates. The

analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the entity
to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk

are primarily United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

d) Currency risk (Continued)

i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s and the
Company’s exposure to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the

entity to which they relate.

AEE
The Group
FiREzEBER AT ERTIE)

Exposure to currency risk (expressed in HKS'000)

= “3-%%
2011 2010
(BFFL)
(restated)

EYH BT e BT
United Hong United Hong
States Kong States Kong
Dollars Dollars Dollars Dollars
EUEFREMBERE  Trade and other receivables 42,551 - 42,53 =
ReRASFERE Cash and cash equivalents 34,664 18,483 65,098 200,102
ENERREMENT  Trade and other payables (1,172) = (1,186) =
RITER Bank borrowings = = (5,348) =
RXEEERER Overall exposure to currency risk 76,043 18,483 101,096 200,102
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37. EEREREEREE (&) 37.

d EWEk(E)
) HEEZEEERE ()

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
d) Currency risk (Continued)

)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)
N
The Company
iR zEBER
(A F#ET5E)
Exposure to currency risk
(expressed in HK$’ 000)

—E——F —T-FF
2011 2010
Exn

United States Dollars

TR U B AR I e FE R
RehReFEAR

BIREB R EMMERI  Accruals and other payables

AR ERERER

ARG B IR B U L ONE B B IRER
SNEEEIRBR - AR BRE &
EHBRR YR EERTERE
B HEAERRAR -

W) HERESN
TRINRANE B2 BB &5 &
R i M) R e AR S B R R A
HREAEMBEBEANEXRR 25N
EXNZAMREHR AER
MENELZ 28 WREELM
[l i B B 15 TN o

Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Overall exposure to currency risk

i)

= 67
4,116 28,055
(1,172) (1,172)
2,944 26,950

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect its of foreign
currency debts. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging

significant currency exposure should the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group's profit after tax and retained
profits that would arise if foreign exchange rates
to which the Group has significant exposure at the
end of the reporting period had changed at that
date, assuming all other risk variables remained
constant in response to reasonably possible changes
in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting

period.
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d EW¥EkE(E)
i) HEESY (E)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
d) Currency risk (Continued)

i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

N3]
The Group
BRBEZBEFR
S = REBEAZ
#m/ (AD) #n,/ ()
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/(decrease)
in foreign in profit after taxation
exchange rates and retained profits
—E——-F —Z-ZF
2011 2010
TET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’ 000
(EF&)
(restated)
X United States Dollars 5% 3,354 4,670
(5%) (3,354) (4,670)
BT Hong Kong Dollars 5% 693 7,504
(5%) (693) (7,504)
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37. EEREREEREE (&) 37.

d EWEk(E)
i) HEEDY (B)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
NN
The Company

BRREERR
S E = RitBEZ
2,/ (i) (R4) /&
Increase/
(decrease) (Decrease)/Increase
in foreign in loss after taxation
exchange rates and accumulated losses
—E—-F —T-ZTF
2011 2010
THERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$' 000
eV United States Dollars 5% (147) (1,348)
(5%) 147 1,348

ERATZOMBERARE AR
BEETRERENGEERFEY
RERPREERAZEXBRER
ABTLIAH 251 2 B9 BR BLR R F
K tan 2 BB R B4

LI SR T TH RAR SN I K
ZEPHERAREHABAEER
RRAREEABAZEmIT
AMEE - EATK_-"T—F
FZAARELEHETT o

Results of the analysis is presented in the above
table represent an aggregate of the instantaneous
effects on each of the Group entities’ profit after
tax and equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting

period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is performed on the

same basis for 2010.
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i) RITEN
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

e)

f)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through the
Group's certain available-for-sale investments that are
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period
with reference to the quoted market prices. The Group
manages its exposure by closely monitoring the price
movements and the changes in market conditions that

may affect the value of these investments.

At 31 December 2011, it is estimated that an increase or
decrease of 10% in equity price, with all other variables
held constant, would have increased or decreased
the Group’s profit for the year and total equity by
approximately HK$672,000 (2010: HK$1,424,000).

Fair value

The carrying amounts of significant financial assets and
liabilities approximate their respective fair values as at 31
December 2011 and 2010.

i) Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other

receivables, trade and other payables

The carrying values approximate their fair values

because of the short maturity of these items.

i) Bank borrowings
The carrying amount of bank borrowings
approximates their fair value based on the
borrowing rates currently available for bank

borrowings with similar terms and maturities.
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HZ-Z——F+=-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2011

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
f)  Fair value (Continued)

fii)

Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value
of financial instruments measured at fair value at
the end of the reporting period across the three
levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS
7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair
value of each financial instrument categorised in
its entirety based on the lowest level of input that
is significant to that fair value measurement. The

levels are defined as follows:

- Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured
using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

markets for identical financial instruments;

—  Level 2: fair values measured using quoted
prices in active markets for similar financial
instruments, or using valuation techniques
in which all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly based on observable market data;

and

- Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured
using valuation techniques in which any
significant input is not based on observable

market data.
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) 2QAFEE)
i) BRFEIFR 2T A (E)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICES (Continued)
f)  Fair values (Continued)

iii)  Financial instruments carried at fair value

(Continued)

KEBRAEDT
The Group and the Company
—2-—-F —E-FF
2011 2010
FER FET
HK$’'000 HK$'000

& 5l Level BE Asset
E1H Level 1 AHHE Available-for-sale 6,720 14,240
EmE S equity securities

F2Mm Level 2 = = - =
3 Level 3 = = - -
6,720 14,240

RERABEER  F2HNE3
R BEFNEMTA -

9) EHEk
AEBZRBHBEEZREHER
TEERAMLYMER HEBRTERR
SAMEmRZ WERRT BB
MEBIESREEBTERL QR
BB - BEE P BEBATREIEM - %
THERERACMERZHERD RE
BLK - ERAKEERXER LT
X AEBZRBEBAESRIPER
FEHLTELBRESAZE

There were no financial instruments in Level 2 and

Level 3 at the end of the reporting period.

g) Business risk
Substantial portion of the Group's revenue is generated
mainly from the sales of rare earth salts and oxide
products. The revenue from the sales of rare earth
salts and oxide products is dependent on the Chinese
government restriction on mining of rare earth mines and
granting of export quotas of rare earth products. The
supply and price of rare earth salts and oxide products
decreases and increases respectively with increasing in
the Chinese government restriction. Given the Group's
substantial reliance on rare earth industry, the Group’s
revenue could be highly sensitive to changes in the

Chinese government policy on the rare earth industry.
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37. HEABEEBRERBE (&)

h)

fEHATE
TXBRBREH S RIAATE
EBERMR -

Bz iE 5
RFEDRERHRBMEER 25
WEETE  BYERRHEAEEMA
R

REER

FA - TEBRATHBEARMERH X
ETTARENRRES - HREF
AHBRENDEITRGIBERE-
AEEHRERE-—BETERS R
BEEIMERREE - BRERRKE
ROBEZERTHRNEE 2 EE K
MR R &

38. RAEE
BB ER
R-TE——F+-—A=+—8 A&EE—H
FEHIEBUAEE B ARMR—RITH
HIERELEST%R271,370,0008 7T (=

=
=

TF TR ZEERE - AEERZ

ERzEREE  DZAREHEEDIRER
Wi EHEE » 549,340,0008 L (T —F
F TEx) BARVBEREEZATE
WAEREEERARZERALEERE
Mgers  RUEERZMEERAE-

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
h) Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods and
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial

instruments.

Equity securities
Fair value is based on quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period without any deduction for

transactions costs.

i) Environmental risk
During the year, the Chinese government has conducted
large scale environmental production inspections on all
rare earth enterprises in the country. Enterprises which
failed to meet the relevant standards would be forced to
suspend operations. The Group has constantly promoted
environmental protection and has complied with these
environmental protection standards. Future stringent
restrictions on the environmental production standards

could affect the Group's operations and profits.

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Financial guarantee issued

As at 31 December 2011, a jointly controlled entity of the
Group was covered by a guarantee issued by a subsidiary of
the Group to a bank in respect of bank facilities granted to
the jointly controlled entity to the extent of HK$271,370,000
(2010: HK$Nil). The maximum liability of the Group under the
guarantee is the amount of the facilities drawn down by the
jointly controlled entity, being HK$49,340,000 (2010: HK$Nil).
No recognition of the financial guarantee liabilities was made
because the fair value of it was insignificant and that the
directors did not consider it probable that a claim will be made

against the Group under the guarantee.
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39.

40.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
Other than those disclosed in note 2(b), the comparative

figures of the consolidated income statement have been
restated as if the operation discontinued during the year had
been discontinued at the beginning of the comparative period
(note 12). The comparative figures of the operating segment
information have been restated to separate the rare earth

segment with the discontinued operation (note 16).

In addition, the comparative figures for the reversal
of impairment loss on trade and other receivables of
HK$4,996,000 had been reclassified from other revenue to
administrative expenses in order to conform to the current

year’s presentation of the financial statements.

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD
After the end of the reporting period the directors proposed a

final dividend. Further details are disclosed in note 14.
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BE+-A=1+—-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
—B—-—-F Z—ZT-TF —FTTHF ZTEN\F —ZTZTLF
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
(BFrxad) (E#FE)
(restated) (restated)
SE Turnover 2,213,354 1,116,755 1,112,401 1,364,890 1,385,345
$H & R AR Cost of sales (1,159,922) (863,718) (910,991)  (1,015,603) (931,232)
EF Gross profit 1,053,432 253,037 201,410 349,287 454,113
BB AR A Profit/(loss) before
(&) taxation 716,083 146,197 109,414 (118,551) 396,134
Frig it Income tax (176,285) (30,824) (50,927) (53,856) (97,054)
SIEREET Profit/(loss) from
wAL (E8) continuing operations 539,798 115,373 58,487 (172,407) 299,080
DR PR E TS Profit from discontinued
bl operation 15,661 23,668 26,196 = =
NEZHM Profit/(loss)
(&) for the year 555,459 139,041 84,683 (172,407) 299,080
g - Attributable to:
VIN/NEIE =N Owners of the Company 523,476 133,359 84,593 (170,972) 295,045
FEE RS Non-controlling interests 31,983 5,682 90 (1,435) 4,035
555,459 139,041 84,683 (172,407) 299,080
R+=—B=+-—8H
As at 31 December
—E——F Z—ZT-%F ZZTThEFE ZTTNF ETZTLHF
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
FEx FHBT FHET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
(EFFxa)
(restated)
MEEE Current assets 3,590,246 2,275,920 1,866,841 1,713,801 1,536,144
ERBE E Non-current assets 963,857 1,490,070 1,372,740 1,500,535 1,262,120
BEERE Total assets 4,554,103 3,765,990 3,239,581 3,214,336 2,798,264
REEE Current liabilities 357,597 230,095 257,959 479,470 248,340
FERBEE Non-current liabilities 31,505 94,960 233,503 261,337 =
BEBE Total liabilities 389,102 325,055 491,462 740,807 248,340
BEFE Net assets 4,165,001 3,440,935 2,748,119 2,473,529 2,549,924
f& A Share capital 167,264 167,194 155,114 142,114 142,114
i Reserves 3,927,652 3,237,179 2,563,706 2,302,253 2,379,578
FN/NSIE7 PN Equity attributable to
JE {7 2 owners of the Company 4,094,916 3,404,373 2,718,820 2,444,367 2,521,692
FEIE R i = Non-controlling interests 70,085 36,562 29,299 29,162 28,232
B E Total equity 4,165,001 3,440,935 2,748,119 2,473,529 2,549,924
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